
 

 

 

The Cente

problems 

quality sc

(machine 

If preferre

Interlibra

 

Rights an

Materials 

research u

images an

purposes 

 

Center fo

Identifier:

Range: Sc

Download

er for Researc

with the qua

an, but it will

searchable te

ed, you may r

ry Loan Office

d usage 

digitized by t

use of studen

nd texts may 

without the e

r Research Li

:  

cans  

ded on:  

ch Libraries sc

ality of the or

 be legible. In

ext) when the

request a loan

e. 

the Center fo

nts, scholars, 

not to be rep

expressed, w

braries 

cans to provid

iginal docume

n some cases 

e quality of th

n by contactin

or Research Li

and other res

produced, disp

ritten permis

de digital deli

ent or microf

pages may b

he scan and t

ng Center for

braries are in

searchers of t

played, distrib

ssion of the co

 

ivery of its ho

film reproduc

e damaged o

he language o

r Research Lib

ntended for th

the CRL mem

buted, broad

opyright own

oldings. In som

ction may res

or missing. File

or format of t

braries throug

he personal e

ber commun

cast, or down

ner. 

me cases 

ult in a lower

es include OC

the text allow

gh your 

educational a

ity. Copyright

nloaded for o

r 

CR 

ws.  

nd 

ted 

other 

001 - 084

2022-05-24 15:30:39

54b6af5c-a11a-4f67-845c-1f47905288b5



FURTHER PAPERS

SLAVES IN THE WEST INDIES;

(Demerara and Berbice :)

VIZ.
oo

Further Return to an Address of The Honourable the House of Commons,

dated the 13th of April 1824 ;—/for

COPIES OF THE RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Of the Fiscals of Demerara and Berbice, in their capacity of Guardians and

Protectors of the Slaves; with their Decisions in all Cases of Complaint of

Masters and Slaves, respectively, against each other; and the Punishments.

inflicted, or Redress given, in consequence of such Complaints ;—from the

ist January 1814 to this Time:

AS FAR AS THE SAME RELATE TO

BERBICE.

(For Records of the Proceedings of the Fiscal ofDemerara, see Paper N° 66

of the present Session, page 17.) .

RC

Ordered, by The House of Commons, to be Printed,

23 June 1825.

 

476.  



LETTER from His Excellency Henry Beard, Governor of Berbice, to The Right
Honourable Earl Bathurst, x.c. &c. &c. Kc. inclosing one from Mr. Bennett, the

Fiscal of Berbice, to His Excellency the Governor, with his Proceedings on Com-

plaints:

(1.)}—Investigation Complaint of Nme Negro Men belonging to Mrs. Ibon Sanders,

residing in Upper Berbice ;—ist February 1819 - - - - =- BS

(2.)—Berbice, March 18th, 1819: Fiscal v. J. B. Goring, for selling Rum - p.16

(3.)—Fiscal’s Office, Berbice, Friday July 4th, 1820: Complaint of the Negro Woman

Julia, belonging to William Carabin Mourant - — - - = = pgl

(4.\—Fiseal’s Office, Berbice, March 4th, 1822: Investigation of a Complaint preferred

by Five Negroes,—Carol, Christian, Pompey, Alfred, Collin,—the property of

Mrs. Barustide - -. - - ~ - - - - - p§l

(5.)—Berbice, July 10th, 1823: Complaint of the Negro Lambert, belonging to

Pl. Sandvoort. - - - - - - ~ - - . pbs

(5.}~Examination of a Complaint preferred by the Negroes Quashy, Sharp, Dick,
Thomas and Spencer, against Dr. Munro, their Owner - - = p&y
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FURTHER PAPERS

RELATING TO

SLAVES IN THE WEST INDIES.

(BERBICE.)

TO THE RIGHT HONOURABLE EARL BATHURST, K.G.

&e. &e. &e.

. Berbice, igth February 1825.
MY LORD, . .

[* obedience to your Lordship’s instructions of the 14th June last, I now have

the honour of forwarding to your Lordship, Copies of the Record of the
proceedings of the Fiscal of this Colony, in his capacityof guardian and protector
of Slaves, in cases of complaints of Masters and Slaves respectively against each
other. ,

Your Lordship will perceive, on reference to the inclosed letter of the Fiscal,
Mr. Bennett, that he has not been able to furnish so full and complete an account
of his proceedings as the resolution of the House of Commons of April last
Yequires, in consequence of his not having kept any minute or record of his
proceedings previous to the year 1819. .

I have strictly enjoined him to be more accurate and careful for the future ;
and should hope, that whenever a record of his proceedings may be again called
for, they will be more precise and satisfactory.

T have the honour, &c.

(signed) HENRY BEARD.



4 V.—FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

TO HIS EXCELLENCY H. BEARD, ESQ. GOVERNOR,

&e. &e. &e.

Berbice, igth February 1825.
SIR,

IN compliance with your Excellency’s command, I have the honour of

forwarding Copies of Complaints of Slaves, made to my office, from the
year 1819 to the end of 1823. It is with regret I am to state that I have not
been able to comply with your Excellency’s direction, by forwarding copies of
such complaints since the year 1814. The discretionary power vested in the
Fiscal of the Colony to decide summarily on the complaints of Slaves, had been

exercised by my predecessors in office without keeping minutes of stich ex-
aminations, and I continued that system until the arrival of your Excellency in
this colony, as president, in the year 1819 ; and, on your recommendation, I kept
a book of minutes, but without recording my decisions on the same, unless in
such cases as appeared necessary to be investigated before Commissaries, or the

full Court of Criminal Justice; the decisions in which cases are deposited in the

Colonial Secretary’s office. This book of minutes I considered merely as matter
of self-satisfaction, without contemplating the probability of its ever being called
for; and to this only the circumstance of my omitting to insert the result of my

decisions is to.be attributed. Since the application of your Excellency for copies

of complaints of Slaves, I have been more particular in receiving the same; and

I have added the decisions made by me on such complaints.

I have the honour to be, Sir,

Your Excellency’s most obedient and humble Servant.

(signed) M. BENNETT,

. . Fiscal.



SLAVES IN THE WEST INDEES.

—(1.)—

INVESTIGATION OF SUNDRY COMPLAINTS OF NEGROES.

 

Berbice, ist February 1819.

INVESTIGATION Complaint of Nine Negro Men, belonging to Mrs. Ibon Sanders,

residing in Upper Berbice; investigated this day before his Honor the President, and

the honourable Member W. Halder.

Examination of the Negro La Rose :—Says, That the cause of his complaint is, that the
ang of negroes belonging to his mistress are, 1st, not fed sufficiently; that they are not

allowed more than six cakes of cassavie weekly, which is inadequate to their support. On

being asked how he came in the yood state he appears in, says, that they are generally

supplied by the Indians. 2d, That they have no clothing: on inquiry says, that the gang

received a jacket and a hat a year ago: it is after new year. For the last nine weeks had
no allowance of fish; fish is given them only occasionally. They return from the Bush
every Saturday evening; on the Sunday they get six cakes cassavie and nothing else, and
return on the Sunday evening. No complaint of flogging.

Nepro Klaas :—That they have no more than six cakes of cassavie weekly; that they are
supplied by the Indians with food, but that the Indians are not tired of supplying them;
that they return from the Bush on the Saturday evening; on the Sunday morning they are
to reap cassavie till eleven o’clock, then go to procure firewood and carry plantain
stools from an old field to a new one, with which occupationthe day is nearly spent, and
till three o’clock; that from the time of her husband’s death they have had clothing but once of
Mrs, Helder. States that Sandersdied in 1814. He produces abolt and two rings or shackles,
with which the negro women are confined with often, the ancles and wrists crossways,
by which means they are bent double. He was twice confined that way himself, by order
of his mistress, for tying up shingles badly: he was so confined from evening till morning.
They had fish only on Christmas days, and not since; tobacco and rum are given on
holidays, and not otherwise. He and three others, when Mr. Sterk was there, went to
complain of hunger; and she ordered them to be tied down to the and flogged
with two drivers; it was on a Sunday; supposes he had sixty.

Negro Comaad :—States that he gets only six cakes cassavie, and having a wife belonging
to his mistress, he has to give her the half of his allowange, say three cakes; the women
never get any allowance, only occasionally a small piece of fish ; if they steal or secrete any-
of the roots of cassavie, when preparing it, and detected, they get flogged, as was lately
the case withhis wife; that from being constantly wrought in the Bush, and beaten by the
heavy rains, they have represented their uncomfortable case and situation to their mistress,
requiring rum, and other refreshments of good food, but always had for answer she had
nothing to give, and if they had any complaint to carry it to the fiscal; says it is a long
time since they had clothing, twice since the death of their master; mistress came to town
a little after Christmas, and had the gang called up and informed she could get no clothing
for them; that they are made to reap cassavie, carry plantain stools, and fetch firewood on
Sunday morning, which occupies the greatest part of the day, as it nearly dusk by the time
they have sharpened their tools. Has been confined in shackles before and since his
master’s death, but that it is the common mode of punishment for the women.

Negro Kees :—That he gets only six-cakes of cassavie, out of which he gives three to his
adopted mother; that he and Tom got flogged for complaining that they had not sufficient .
food, his two hands tied one side of his neck and flogged with a bush rope, which
happening to break, was flogged with the rope now produced, but making toomuch motion
was tied down and flogged with the rope. The women have no allowance, and when they
complain or murmur they are immediately fastened in the shackles. It is about two years
since they had clothing. They are made to reap cassavie and get firewood every Sunday
till late, the sun hanging before their work is finished.

Negro Lubin :—That the negro men are allowed only six cakes of cassavie, they get no
sh, no rum, she does occasionally purchase fish, but it is not given to the negroes, but ~

given for the purchase of plantains; get no clothing, upwards of two years since they had
fe the children and women get no allowance ; if any of the negroes complain ofhunger

elr hands aretied to their necks, and flogged with bush rope; the women are frequently
confined in the iron shackles. No Sundays are allowed to the negroes, they are made to
the, passavie, and procure firewood every Sunday until the greatest part of the day is spent;
: cf ave repeatedly complained to their mistress for want of food, clothing and other
Omiorts, and were in the hope that their grievances would be redressed by her, and
476. therefore
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6 V.—FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

therefore carried their complaints no further, but finding themselves disappointed they haq
at length come to town.

Negro Tom:—Complains that he is not sufficiently fed, nor clothed, and flogged as the
others state, when any complaint is made to his mistress on the above subjects ; that he
gets only six cakes of cassavie a week, and his last clothing the year before; the women
and children have no allowance, the former are constantly confined in the shackles for not
performing a sufficiency of work, which they are unable to do from not being fed; Sunda
is not given them, they are to reap cassavie every Sunday morning, and also. to fetc
firewood, which occupies them great part of the day.

|

Negro Sam :—Complains that they have only six cakes of cassavie for week’s allowance
and when they complain to their mistress of this scanty allowance they are flogged; that
they get no clothing like other negroes ; the women and children receive no allowance ; that
the men share their scanty allowance with the women and children, and look to the Indians
for support; that the women are generally confined in the shackles, and the men made to
work the greatest part of Sunday in digging cassavie, and carrying plantain stools and
firewood ; 1817 last had clothes.

Negro William :—That they get only six cakes of cassavie aweek; that his wife and
children get no allowance whatever, that he is therefore obliged to give the gréatest part of
his allowance to them; if they complain to their mistress of this scanty allowance, they are
flogged either with bush-rope or a rope’s end, the women punished by confinementin the
shackles. They do not get clothing like other negroes; the latest time they were supplied
was in 1817: they got three ells of salemporis, a jacket and hat. No Sunday allowed;
they are to reap cassavie Sunday morning, carry plantain stools and fetch fuel till late in
the day. On being asked why he did not come to complain before, replied that they had
always hoped their situations would have been made more comfortable, particularly as their
oung master was expected out; but now that he is come, and finding themselves more

neglected by his mistress than before, they could no longer bear it.

Negro Adam:—That he is a driver, and had been deputed by the gang to represent to
their mistress that they were not sufficiently fed and clothed; that his mistress, instead of
affording redress, she had directed him to be confined in the stocks.. Tom and Kees then
stepped forward to expostulate, and they were both flogged with the bush-rope: Tom the
most punished. He (the driver) was soon released from the stocks and sent to the Bush.
The men are made'to reap cassavie, carry plantain stools and fuel every Sunday, until alate
hour. After this employment they have just time to sharpen their tools before dusk. The
women and children get no allowance; Christmas the last time they had rum or fish, He
gets a dram weekly on making a report of work done in the Bush. The women are
frequently confined in the shackles ; the last one confined was Acessie the cook, about four
or five weeks ago. A considerable time since they got clothing; in 1817 they got a jacket,
a hat, and three ells of salemporis.

Examination of Mrs. Sanders :—States that they get six cakes of cassavie, made from a

basket full of the cassavie roots; that the cakes are very thick, and the allowance now is

the same as they had fourteen years ago; that every negro gets half a bottle of rum weekly; —

at times only once a fortnight, when the rum is nearly expended ; they geta salt fish, or an

allowance-of salt weekly; they have had no fish since new year, in consequence of her

absence from home, and no one she could trust her keys with. Food is dressed every day
for the children; no allowance is given to the four field women, in consequence of their
allowing it to be eaten by the hogs; this withdrawing of the allowance was previous. to

Mr. Sanders’s death. That the negroes are clothed yearly; one year ajacket, a hat, and three

ells of salemporis; the women have osnaburgs and a hat, but no jacket or blanket. The
negroes are obliged to bring home a basket of cassavie every Sunday morning, andfirewood
every Sunday evening, that they only have to go to the field to fetch it home; the cassavies
brought home to be prepared for next week’s allowance; the task can be done in halfan

hour: the bringing the fuel is done on a Sunday evening, because the negroes prefer it.

INTERROGATORIES presented to the Honourable Commissaries of the Court,of

Criminal Justice, in a suit of Inquiry instituted in a Complaint preferred by Nine
Negroes, the Property of Mrs. Sanders, against their said Mistress; the said Interto-

gatories to be put unto Christian Philip Mackreel, overseer of Mrs. Sanders.

1. Co Art. 1.
ChristianPhilip Mackreel, forty-two years Your name, age, religion, placeof nativity

of age, Protestant, Berbice, wood-cutter.. |and_ occupation?

a.° 2. /

Yes. _Are you not employed by Mrs, Sanders to
superintend her gang of wood-cutters i
Upper Berbice? .

Cassavie,
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Cassavie, a basket full each man; the

women no allowance; a pot is boiled at

gleven o'clock every day, consisting of

parley, rice, or plantains: they are more-
over always in the house with their mistress.

. 4s

‘The allowance given to the negroes is the

same as was issued previous to Mr. Sanders’s

death; the negroes were always satisfied to

appearance, and I can declare I never heard
them complain of any short allowance till

Mrs. Sanders’s late return from town.

5.

On their complaint being made to
Mrs. Sanders, she said, I cannot give you

more this week, as no more is prepared, but
next week you shall have a cake more ; the

negroes were satisfied; but Kees beingim-
pertinent, he received thirty-nine stripes
with a carracarra bush-rope; he was laid
down, and received them. The negro Tom
was punished the same day, the driver Adam
having complained to his: mistress that he
had absented himself from his work for three
days, his hands were tied round hisneck, and
he got ten with a carracarra ; but making too
much motion, his mistress directed him to be
laid down, and he received. thirty-nine with
the carracarra ; more than thirty-nine is never
inflicted ; I countthem myself always._

6.
Yes; early in the morning they go to

fetch their allowance from the field: the
driver Adam and four women reap it on
the Sunday morning; they generally finish
this at ten; sometimes, if they exert them-

_ Selves, at nine o’clock ; they then work.their
own provision fields; at five o’clock they
return from their fields, each with a bundle
of firewood.

I came.from Surinam with Mr, Sanders.
about two and twenty years ago, and have
always remained in his service. The men get
every year clothing, one year a jacket, a hat,
and three ells of salemporis, the. women
four ells of osnaburgs, with a hat; next year
a blanket, a hat, and three ells ofsalemporis ;
the house women checks ; this year’s allow-
ance is not yet issued, but was brought up
with Mrs. Sanders. Oo

8.
Mr. Sanders was in the habit of con-

fining them in shackles when the men did
hot sow their task, but since his death the
shackles have been thrown aside and. are
quit rotted,

. . 9.

I am Teady to declare on oath, that
neversaw her so confined, nor heard of it;

the shackles were thrown in the river and
found there by one of the négroes, and
rought out, and it has ever remained in the

hospital; the negro women are often con-
fined in the stock
‘and on: teturningfrom the Bush, I generallylearn What punishment by confinement has
taken place,

475.

s, but never in the shackles;

3.

What food and what quantity is given to
the men, women and. children, belonging to
Mrs, Sanders, weekly, to your certain
knowledge?

Is the quantity of cassavie, issued to the
man gang, sufficient for their week’s allow-
ance, or have you ever known them to com-
plain of insufficiencyof food?

On such complaint being made to Mis.
Sanders, have their grievances been re-

_ dressed? or have two or more of these
slaves not been punished for such representa-
tion? and if so, describe the manner, mode,
and extent of punishment?

6.
Do you not return with the negroes

every Saturday (men gang) from the Bush?
what work is required of the negroes on
Sundays ? when do theycommence, andwhen
complete the same? m

7
How long have you been in the em-

ployment of Mrs.Sanders, and what clothing
have been given to the men, women, and
children, during such period.-

&
Is not Mrs. Sanders in the habit of

causing her slaves, and the women in parti-
cular, to be confined in the:shackles?

9.
Was the woman Acessie not confined

four or five weeks ago in said shackles, if so,
do you know what fault she’ had committed
to deserve this punishment?

T have

‘Berbiee:

Decisions on
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10.
1 have never seen or heard of any negro

being so confined since Mr. Sanders’s death.

11.
T have never heard of any.

12.
In Mr. Sanders’s lifetime I have seen

them confined, their ancles and wrists cross-
ways; but in Mrs. Sanders’s time I have
never witnessed it.

10.
Have you, or have you not, seen other

negroes, the property of Mrs. Sanders, con-
fined in said shackles?

11.

Relate the several instances that you know,
if any, of the negroes belonging to Mrs,
Sanders having been confined in shackles,

12.

Describe to the court the manner in which
negroes are confined in the shackles be.
longing to Mrs. Sanders, and now exhibited
to you.

(signed) M. S. Bennett,
Fiscal R. 0.

Berbice, 2d February 1819.
13.

Did not the driver, Adam, lately represent
to Mrs Sanders that the negroes complained
they had not sufficient food; and was he
not confined in the stocks; and on what
pretence; how long confined ?

13.
Yes, when the complaint was made of not

having sufficient food, it was represented by
Adam the driver. He was not confined that
Sunday, it was the Sunday before; ten ne-
groes brought home 100 bundles of shingles
in a week; he was confined for about half
an hour, no longer, but it was the Sunday
previous to the complaint being made.

14.
The driver getsabottle of rum every week;

each negro man half a bottle of rum, as long
as there is any on the estate, it is seldom out;
the driver too gets a fish; each of the men half
a fish, if it be large, or a whole one, if small;
T lay out the allowance myself; Mrs. San-
ders purchases four bunches of plantains
weekly, for which she gives a fish; the wo-
men get half a fish once a fortnight or three
weeks.

14.
What allowance of fim and fish is issued

to the men, women and children. Is the
fish not generally given by Mrs. Sanders to
strange negroes for plantains?

15. 15.
Are you ready to make oath to your re

plies?
Yes:

The foregoing answers were repeated to the respondent, who declared perfectly to un-
derstand the same, to persist thereby ;. and was willing, and did make solemn oath, that
the answers so given by him were the truthand nothing but the truth.

(signed) Henry Beard, President,
W. HeC. P. Mackreel. der.(signed)

 

. 8th February 1819.
REPORT made to his Honor the President respecting the Negro Hope, saying to

belong to Mr. Niewerkirk, on a complaint of A. Schlapfer.

Examination ofNegro Hope, belonging to J. G. Cloot de Niewerkirk :—Says, Thathewas
sent with a letter to town by his master, that he went to sleep at the colony house, knowing
his master when in town to put up there; that next morning, passing through the house,
he saw. two pieces of calico, a pair of ear-rings, and a red handkerchief in one ofthe rooms,
and no person being present he took them; that he left the house and was met on the
road by a boy, who seeing the red handkerchief in his hand claimed it as his property; and
on opening it, the said boy perceived the calico and ear-rings, which he, Hope, had'tied up
in the handkerchief, and took him to Mr. Schlapfer, who took him to the barracks. On
being asked what induced him to take these articles, he replied, that seeing them, and n0

one present, he had taken them with the view of giving them to his mother on the estate.

A. Schlapfer examined, and indentified the articles as the property of Henrietta Enderman,
his housekeeper; that he was informed by the boy, his master ordered him to wait at the
colony house till he came on Monday moming.° I saw the ear-rings on Saturday night;
boy went away very early on Sunday morning. Quamina, belonging to Dr. Leslie,‘brought
the boy Hope about nine o’clock this morning, and asked whathe had in his lap to make it

look so big, he said he was ruptured, Quamina pulled the lap open, and the handkerchie

and two pieces of calico dropped out. Henrietta seeing some stolen articles on Hopewent
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and examined, and found a pair of ear-rings missing, and on examining Hope’s trowsers Berbice :
ocket the ear-rings were found in it; the boy Hope ran away, I pursued, and takinghold

of him, he bit my hand ; I called out to Mr. White for assistance, and having secured him —_Decisions on
I carried him to the barracks. Complaints of

Slaves.
8th February, ‘-——_____

Complaint of the Negro London, the property of W. Kewley, against Napier, a pioneer,
lately belonging to the garrison.

 

London says, a considerable time ago he took Napier to the fort in his small boat, and at

Napier’s request brought back to town again, from which time whenever he is met by
Napier, he, Napier, asks him when he is going to pay him; that this demand was made again

yesterday, wher London said to him, “ Napier, what do I owe you, I took you at your
request to the fort and back again in my master’s boat; I never purchased a bit’s worth of
tobacco or cassava, or any thing else from you, why do you continually make me ashamed
by asking me for payment :” that Napier then seized him, tore his jacket, and cut him in
two places with a knife; that his face being covered with blood, and beiug greatly alarmed,
he ran away to the fiscal’s office, and not finding him at home, he went to the barracks; the
under sheriff sent me to Dr. Beresford’s, where the wounds were dressed; I went with
a dienaar to the doctor. .

Napier examined :—Says, that London came up to him on the road on Saturday very drunk,
and seizing hold of his jacket, wished to fight me; I refused, saying, you have owed me
money a long time and had better pay me; London took hold of my trowsers, which he
tore off, and took some money I had in my pocket, and two keys; we wrestled, and he fell
among some pieces of wood and cut himself. He cried out “ You have cut me with
a knife ;” I said, where is the knife? Joe, belonging to Mr. Lindner, was present.

Joe examined :—Says Napier and himself had brought sand from the Point; that on
going out of the boat I saw London and another negro passing in a boat with grass;
Napier called to London and asked him for a bit, } did not hear any answer; having
taken up my oar, I went into our yard and said nothing of any dispute between them;
London came some time afterwards in my master’s yard to complain to Mr. Lindner
respecting Napier, master called me and inquired the cause of this fighting, I replied,
I knew nothing of it.

gth February.
Negro Tommy, belonging to William Fraser, complainant :—Says, he is a cooper by trade,

and employed as such by his master on plantation Goldstone Hall; that on Friday morning
last he went in the boiling-house for nails, and there saw another cooper, by name George,
heading up sugars; complainant went to one of the casksand took a lump of sugar for the
purpose of sweetening three gallons of hot water; did not hide the same, but proceeded with
it in his hand from the boiling-house; was met by his master, Mr. Fraser, who inquired
where he got.the sugar, complainant informed him of his having taken it, and for what
purpose, his master immediately ordered him to be laid down, tied to stakes, put two
drivers over him, and one hundred lashes inflicted upon him; on inquiring how complainant
knew that one hundred lashes had been put upon him, he said, that persons standing by
had counted them was required to state the names of such persons, says, that Barbary,
Shaw andBilly counted them, the overseer, lately come on the estate, was present; after
receiving this punishment Mr. Fraser went to complainant’s house and searched it, found in
his tool chest a quantity of old nails, among which were also a very few new ones;
Mr. Fraser went to the trouble of weighing them, there were fourteen pounds; accounts for
having these nails in his possession, by stating that having been employed by Mr. B. Jeffery
to cooper some casks, he according to his custom had kept all the old nails; that on his
quitting Mr. Jeffery he had omitted to give these nails over; to this quantity, so procured,
he was also in the custom of putting up any old nails which passed through his hand
at Goldstone Hall; he had no particular view in kee ing these nails; some few were
occasionally used by him to repair his house, some in his work, when occasion required ;

_ and trusts from the quantity found in his tool chest, which was frequently opened to the
of ofother persons, that 1t cannot be construed they were selected and reserved for sale.
Sona ns of not being sufficiently fed, nor clothed;has but one bunch of plantains a week.
aoe. e hasbelonged to Mr. Fraser about five years, during which period he has had

Exhibic only twice; does not belong to plantation Goldstone Hall, but to Mr. Fraser.
he ha7Shis posteriors, few lashes appear, not more in appearance to sanction a supposition
sented 4 €en punished beyond the limit of lashes prescribed by law. On this being repre-
over hi ©complainant, he said he had been favoured by the drivers, who threw the whips
hedhie names ofthe drivers, Tommy and Acawa. Says that after being flogged, Mr. Fraser

§ buttocks washed with brine, and ordered to be locked up every night in the stocks;was confinedFridaynight, Saturday night, and all Sunday.

Examinat: a Presidency, 1cth February.
negro nation of Samuel Willcox, overseer on plantation Goldstone Hall :—States, that the

ils = I wen was flogged on Friday for stealing sugar: Tommy came to me and asked for
eliverin oh with him to the store for the nails (the store is not in the boiling-house); a*ter
another e ‘he nails, and returning with him, 1 was met on my way to the boiling-house by
I learnt fren who also asked for nails; I had.therefore to return to the store. Tommy,

476, om Gift, (a boy in the still-house), that Tommy had gone in the boiling-house.
4 2  
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Gift gave notice of Tommy the cooper being in the boiling-house to Tommy the driver,
Mr. Fraser met Tommy the cooper, and brought him to me with the sugar, asking me if

I knew any thing of it. Isaid no; but supposed he must have got it out of the boiling.
house during my absence. The sugar, I suppose, was about the quantity of half a pound,
more or less. - Mr. Fraser then ordered the drivers, Tommy and Acawa, to flog the

cooper Tommy: he was tied down to stakes and flogged; to the best of my knowledge
forty-one lashes were given; I counted them, there were neither more nor less than forty.
one: he appeared much cut. Ihave seen negroes flogged before, but never with so much

severity. He was released, and went about his work directly. Mr. Fraser then went, ag
I was informed, and searched Tommy’s house to seeif he could find any thing else: I learnt
this from the driver who went with Mr. Fraser. The above-mentioned drivers returned

with a box to the boiling-house door from Tommy the cooper’s house. Isaw a napkin,

having about a pound or two of sugar, and some nails, old and new ones; about fifteen

pounds weight of nails; I believe the old ones were the largest proportion. The coopers
come daily for nails, and take as many as is deemed necessary for the work they have to
erform. I never knew him to be guilty of stealing nails. I have heard from the drivers,
Tommy the cooper was not to be trusted. Mr.Fraser, in. consequence of finding these

nails, directed him to be confined in the stocks at night till next Christmas. He was put in
the stocks at night since the flogging. I believe he gets his weekly allowance as the other
negroes,and they are allwell fed. During myresidence on the estate he has conducted himself
with propriety; the negroes do not speak so well of him: they are never allowed to take
sugar out of the boiling-house ; they get molasses almost every Sunday. I do not know
whether he was confined in the stocks on Sunday last or not; I believe I have not seen
him on the estate since last Monday forenoon. [ did not count the previous cracks of
the whip; but the forty-one lashes, which I can correctly speak to, 1 counted as those
which cut him on the bottom.

Examination of W. Fraser, proprietor of plantation Goldstone Hall :—I was amongst the
carpenters on Friday, at the Stoke Holes, aback. of the boiling-house; I saw Tommy
assing with something in his apron: I asked him, “ What have you got there, Tommy?”
ie replied, “ nails.” I said, “ So many nails for you alone :” he replied, it was for himself

and another. I requested to see them. After some delay or hesitation on his part, I took

hold of the apron and Jooked into it, and found sugar and nails mixed together; I asked
him where he got the sugar, and he said, in the boiling-house; the nails he had got for

his work from the store, and not out of the boiling-house. I asked him who gave him the
sugar? He said he had taken it. I observed, “ Do you not know that you are not per-
mitted to go into the boiling-house to take sugar? you also know, if I found you at such

work I would punish you; had you come and asked me for the sugar I would have given it
you: you also know I never forgive lying or stealing, and therefore I must punish you.”

The overseers and drivers were about the door, I ordered the drivers to flog him; they tied
him to the stakes and flogged him, and in consequence of the fault he had committed
I gave him such a punishment that I, as owner of that slave, considered myself in duty
bound to do, always bearing in mind the laws of the colony with respect, and I gave him
thirty-nine lashes.

February 10th, 1819.

Complaint of the negro Bethune, belonging to plantation Tain:—Says, that he pur-

chased some Guinea-bird eggs, which he set to hatch in house; that Mr, Rich, the

manager, broke the doors of the negro-house open in search of Guinea-bird eggs, which

he said had been stolen from him; that on finding the eggs belonging to complamant, he,
the manager, claimed them; that he represented to the manager that the eggs found in

his house were old and nearly hatched, and that these missed by the manager were fresh

lain ones. He broke one.of my eggs, and it had a chicken in it. The manager told his,
the complainant’s children, that he. would take the hen and eggs, and as soon as the chick-

enswere reared, the manager. would return -the hen and keepthe chickens forhimself,

I heard this myself. At night, when.I came from the field with grass, the manager 10

quired if I had sat Guinea-bird eggs; I replied, yes. He asked me where I had. got them;
I said from Big.Corts. The manager said they were his eggs, and ordered the drivet

Lubin to take complainant to the stocks; this was Friday night-passed, Saturday I went
to. work, and. was lockedup again in the stocks at night; I remained in them all Sunday

Monday morning, went to work; Tuesday morning, when I came in for breakfast, the

manager ordered me to be flogged; I was held down by four negro men, Peter, John,

Ross.and Pitt, and flogged by Lubin the driver. I receivedfifty lashes; I counted them

myself; counts ten five times, and saidthat was the number of lashes inflicted upon him.

ir. Stacey, a carpenter working on. ourestate, was present. My countrymanCharles

countedthe number of lashes also. Exhibits his posteriors, which appear to have evident

marks of recent punishment.

February 10th, 1819.
Complaint of the negro Scipio, belonging to. plantation Friends :—Says, that he com-

pleined last Saturday, to the manager that he was sick, manager sent him to plant com

Sunday morning complainant went to the.manager’s door again, and complained of a swell-

ing in his knees; the manager drove him from the door, saying if he retumed e

would have him tied down.and flogged. Monday I was sent to plantplantains aba ’

hut.not-being able to work, from pain in my knee joints, I complained to the ai se
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Rose, who said he could not help it, I must go to the manager, but was-fearful of doing
inconsequence of the threat made yesterday. 1 therefore was backward in. my work,

which being perceived by the overseer Rose, at 11 o’clock he ordered the driver to give
we eight jashes, which he did, with further orders, if I did not keep up with the other
negroes, to flog me again. The driver LaRose a little time afterwards gave me two stripes

with a carracarra. I desired him to examine my knees, and he would see I could not
work; he replied, I cannot help it, it is the orders of the manager and overseer. About
2 o'clock that day I made my escape, and got as far as plantation Belle Vue, where
I slept, and came to town yesterday forenoon to.complain,

12th February.
Examination of William Forsyth, manager of plantation Friends :—States, that the negro

Scipio came to complain on Thursday of pain in his knees; I gave him a doseof salts, and
on Friday he returned to work. On Saturday he told mehe had run a nail in his foot;
I examined, but could perceive no traces of a nailhaving run into it. On Sunday morning
he complained again, and fearful I might have been mistaken, I directed the overseer to
make him wash his foot, and examine it carefully. He did 80, and stated he could not
perceive any thing ; I desired him to put a poultice of cassavie, lest the negro’s statement
may be correct; this was done. Although I expected Scipio would go to his work the
next morning, 1 did not give the driver any orders respecting him, nor did I direct him,
Scipio, to go to work. On Monday morning, however, he went to the field; the overseer
did not return to the buildings till evening, the gang having been employed aback. He
inquired of me if Scipio had come home; I replied he had not. He, the overseer, then
informed me; that finding Scipio had not dug the plantain holes sufficiently deep, as he
had been repeatedly ordered to do, he directed the driver to give him six’ lashes, which
were inflicted in his presence and that on the negroes turning out at 1 o’clock, Scipio was
absent. States, that the punishment alluded to was not inflicted-in consequence of Scipio’s
not having performed a sufficiency of work, but because it was improperly done, and says
that the driver La Rose, on being questioned on the subject, positively denies having
flogged him with the carracarra of his own accord; denies the assertion of having sent
Scipio on Saturday to plantcorn, that article having never been planted on the estate
since his having the management of the same.

After this examination, the negro Scipio was directed to attend, and having explained
to him that, no truths tending, slaves were in all cases. of grievances permitted to prefer
their complaints, and that every attention should be paid thereunto, and the same redressed
when so entitled, yet that the duty of the president, as well as the fiscal, was to punish
false accusations of slaves against their owners and managers; and he, the complainant,
having confessed that his complaint was made to the manager of having run a nail in his
foot on Saturday, and again on Sunday, and admitted the means of relief resorted to by
the said manager, he was directed to be flogged in the presence of the fiscal-on plantation
Friends, as an example to the gang of that estate.

_ Examination of James Rich, manager of plantation Tain :—States, that he lost some
time ago a nest of Guinea-bird eggs, consisting of sixteen. On Friday last I missed
another nest of twenty and odd; I then searched some of the negro houses, and found
sixteen in the house of one of the estate negroes, but not the complainant’s, I inquired
if the hen and eggs belonged to him; he replied, the hen is mine, but the eggs belong to
Bethune. In the evening I inquired where he got the eggs; he replied, I purchased then
from Chance, belonging to Mr. Cort; I directed him to be confined at night. On the
Saturday Iwent to Mr. Corts’s, and having requested to see the negro Chance, I inquired
if he had sold any Guinea-bird eggs to a negro belonging to Tain, named Bethune; he
denied having sold the eggs, or having any knowledge of Bethune; he was cautioned by
Mr. Corts to speak the truth, and he again repeated his assertion. I did not punish the
negro on Sunday, nor could I do so on Monday, being obliged this day to attend militia .
duty. He was confined all Sunday in the stocks. On Tuesday, when they turned in at
Ut o'clock, I directed him to be laid down, and thirty lashes to be given him; 1 did not
inform him the reason of flogging him, as he was aware of the cause; I had told him,
Bethune, on the Friday evening that I would ascertain from Chance if he had sold the
veo to Bethune, and if I found that he told me a falsehood, punish him; I told the negro
ae in whose house I had found the hen and eggs, that they should remain there, butat I would take the chickens when they were reared. I have brought Chance with mie.

a Examination of Benjamin Stracy :—Being required to state any knowledge liehad of
lated. named Bethune, belonging to plantation Tain, being flogged on Tuesday last, he

and M thatthe negro was called from the negro house at breakfast on Tuesday morning,
him: t Rich, the manager, directed four negroes to hold him down, and the driver toflog
my k he, the negro Bethune, received twenty-seven or twenty-eight lashes to the best of
ren owledge; did not count them; thinks they did not exceed thirty in number; no

“on assigned to the negro why punished on Tuesday morning.
neg ittee admitted :—Denies all knowledge of Bethune ; he, Bethune, says, this is not the
mane ‘ance to whom he alludes ; Chance declares his master has no other negro of that

Attended 6 February 15th.
instant ed on plantation Friends this morning, and agreeable to resolve on the 12th

476. caused the negro, Scipio, to be punished in the presence of as matiy of thegang,
e
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of that estate as could be conveniently collected, after explaining to Scipio, and othe
by-standers, the cause of inflicting punishment.

February 17th, 1819,
Re-examination of the negro Joe, the property of Mrs. Lindner, respecting the assault

committed on London by the pioneer Napier :—States, that when last examined he had jn
some degree suppressed his evidence, fearful of consequences for having witnessed ay
assault. Relates, that on the day of the affray, he, the witness, had returned withNapier
from the Point with a small punt load of sand, Napier being in the employ of witness's
owner ; very shortly after they landed, Mr. Kewley’s punt passed with the negroes London
and Louis with grass; Napier called aut to London and said, “ Come and pay me my bit;”
Napier made use of an uncivil and unkind remark; I considered the two negroes in the
rass punt had pursued their way; I took up my oar and went into the yard, leaving

Napier employed in taking the sand out of the punt with a shovel; I shortly afterwards
heard a noise on the road, and went out; the fight was over; London was coming from
the water-side, and Napier’s clothes were torn off, having on only the one half of his shirt,
the other half lying on the ground; London went towards the fiscal’s; Napier remained,
and informed me that London had been fighting with him, and had torn his clothes ; I did
not examine his trowsers ; Napier informed me that London, in the scuffle, had fallen on
the pieces of bullet-tree (of which there are a good many pieces, belonging to Mr. Bone,
lying at our water-side); he had nothing in his hands; [ solemnly do declare that I did
not see Napier have or make use of a knife the whole of that day, and am confident that
if he had one I must have seen it, as we were together the whole day, and we cooked our
dinner and eat it together; I did not see Louis after I returned from the yard, nor even
Mr. Kewley’s grass punt at or near our water-side, as I never saw it again, although I was
the whole of that afternoon employed with Napier taking the sand out of the punt, and
carrying it up in our yard.

Examination of the negro Louis, belonging to W. Kewley, regarding assault Napier and
London :—Says, that on Saturday afternoon as he, witness, was returning with London
with grass, and passed Mrs. Lindner’s water-side, Napier, a black soldier, called out to
London, and said, he had better pay him his bit; London replied, I do not owe youa bit;
Napier said, never mind I will find you to-morrow. Witness and London proceeded on;
Napier busy, removing the sand; after goinga little way, London said, I will go and see
what he will do by finding me to-morrow; I replied, you had better not; to-morrow, if
any time we meet him, you may inquire; London said no, and jumped out of the punt in
the water, and went on shore. J got the punt alongside Mr, Otto’s schooner, where I had
to get something to take for massa; on coming on board I saw Napier and London fight;
Napier threw London down twice ; I saw him fall; Ido not know how he got hurt, but
there are a quantity of rock-stones lying where London fell; I got. one of Mr. Otto’s
people to go in the punt with me ; I saw no more of London that evening, nor did I see
any thing of him till he was released from the barracks. London and myself carry bread
to the fort; we leave our punt at the fort, and go to cut grass. I went that day into Mr.
Abensett’s old cotton piece for grass; on my return I found that London was in the punt;
he was drunk; where he got the rum 1 know not.
A true copy from the President's office,

James Bone,
Berbice, February 25th, 1819. Prest Sect’.

Berbice, 25th February.
Thomas Janzen v. L, C. Brandes :—Complainant states, that on Tuesday evening past,

the 23d instant, I was taking a walk with John Munno and Lodewyk Coleman; from
Mr. De Vry’s yard, we proceeded towards the colony negro houses; on the road I saw
Brandes beating my sister Sarah with a drawn sword; Sarah had been Brandes’s wife, but
is not at present; 1 went up to Brandes, and said, “ Brandes, do not lick my sister in that
improper manner with asword;” my sister had hold of the sword; she let the sword go on
my interference, and immediately Brandes turned towards me, and gave me a chop with the
same weapon on my thumb; I endeavoured to retreat backwards, but unfortunately fell;
Brandes then pushed at me with the sword, and struck me on the forehead; he also kicked
me whilst lying on the ground, and struck me several times with the blade of the sword, —
saying he had been waiting for me a long time; I endeavoured to get up as soon as I could,
and effected my escape by running; he pursued, but could not overtake me; I came to the
fiscal, by learning he was at the President’s; I went thither, and from thence to the
doctor’s (Jeffery,) to have my wounds dressed.

Deposition of John Munno :—I supped at Janzen’s with Lodewyk Coleman on Tuesday
evening; we took awalk afterwards, intending to go to the colony negro houses; when
we came near to the house occupied by Brandes, aback of De Schiviers’s, we found him
beating Sarah, Janzen’s sister, on the read with a drawn sword; Janzen went up toBrandes,
and putting his hand on the sword, said, Mr. Brandes, do not beat my sister in this
manner with a sword ;” I do not recollect hearing Brandes say any thing, but I saw him
strike Janzen with the sword; I saw him fall, andI saw Brandes strike him more than onc?
or twice with the sword; I did not reckon how often; Janzen got up and ran away; I go
home before gup-fire.

Deposition of Lodewyk Coleman ;—I supped at Janzen’s on Tuesday evening; John
_Munno was with us; after supper we took a walk, intending to go as far as the oe

ne
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negto houses, where Janzen’s sister Sarah lives ; coming near to Brandes’s house, we found

him fighting or beating Sarah, Janzen’s sister; Janzen went up to Brandes, and raising his

hand towards the sword, said, “ Mr. Brandes, do not beat my sister with the sword ;” Tsaw

Janzen fall, and Brandes gave him some wounds with the sword, and kicked him whilst on

the ground ; I heard Brandes say that Janzen was the man he had been waiting for along

time; Janzen rose, and ran away.

Declaration of William Jeffery, medical practitioner :—Says, that he examined the wounds

of Thomas Janzen on Tuesday evening, 23d instant ; found he had received a slight wound

on the thumb of the left hand, and a scratch on the forehead, with some weapon, the edge

not being very sharp; states further, that the wounds appeared slight, and likely to be

healed up in a few days.

Brandes, on confession before the Court, convicted ;—imprisoned for one month.

11th March 1819.

Alexander, Alcibiades, Utrecht, Noordwyk and Zealand, negroes, belonging to plantation

Friends :—State, that they have been lately removed from plantation Den Arend, in Upper

Berbice, to the Friends; that they are sent into the field before gun-fire ; that their work is

examined at eleven o’clock; the manager is never satisfied with the quantity of work per-

formed, they are therefore obliged to work during their breakfast time, say from eleven o’clock

till one; that a certain task is given, six feet of a canal, six shovels deep the whole width ;

that if a sufficient part of this task is not completed, they are each flogged with a carracarra,

say each twenty-five. On being questioned to account why they are flogged at eleven

o'clock, when a sufficient part of their task is not performed, when they have a certain por-

tion allotted for the whole of the day, and for which, if not completed, they ought to be

punished, they state, that an over-proportion is required because their task should

be increased; state, that the women went to complain to Mr. Ross, the attorney, that no

time was allowed them to get their meals; Mr. Ross sent them back, but the driver of the

women-gang was sent for by him (Mr. Ross,) and confined in the stocks at Denitichem.

Noordwyk explains, that if the task given in the morning is finished before dark, they

begin to commence a new one ; for this reason they are pushed in the morning, and are

flogged at eleven o’clock. Inquired which of complainants had been flogged at eleven

o’clock for not having sufficiently advanced in their work ; Noordwyk says he never was;

Alexander shows one stroke; on inquiring, it appears it was because he was not early

enough in the field; Utrecht not flogged, Alcibiades not flogged, at eleven o’clock, but made

to work during breakfast time; Zealand not flogged, but made to dig at trench at night

till gun-fire. The negroes appear inahigh state of health, and also in excellent condition.
Alexander and Zealand bear evident marks of most severe punishment received on planta-

tion Den Arend; the former stating that he had received his flogging from Mr. Mittle-
holzer, the latter from Vander Schroef, consequently some years ago.

Plantation Gelderland :—Nettelje, Julia, Lea, and Mietje, each with an infant in arms,
complain that no time is allowed them to nurse their children; that during the crop an
equal quantity of coffee is expected and required of them as from other women having no
children, or of the men; that a similar task is given them in weeding grass with the rest
of the gang, which they are not able to perform, in consequence of carrying their children
on their backs; in the event of failing, they are beaten in his presence with the handle of
the whip by the driver Esperance. Nettelje and also Mietje were flogged the day before
yesterday by the carpenter La Fleur; they, with others, were weeding the dam; they had

made a fire to drive away the sand-flies; they were seen by Mr. Toel, the manager, suck-
ling their infants, he inquired if they had no work to do; they replied they had just taken
their children up, whowere crying; they were laid down and flogged, their coats were
stained with blood. Mr. Toel’ took the fire up, and threw it in the trench. Julia was
locked up in the stocks because she did not keep with the rest of the gang, and
threatened to be flogged next morning; she is a young girl, with. her first child. Lea
complains that she is not allowed to suckle her child during her work; shewas threatened
to be flogged next day by Mr. Toel, at same time with Julia.

Jane, belonging to Mr. Bourmester, says her master gave her to his housekeeper Grace,
whois constantly abusing and ill-treating her; she is often in.the habit of kicking her, and
beating her with any thing that comes to hand, sometimes witha fire-stick, sometimes with

a piece of wood. Monday morning she was sent by Grace to look for wood; when she
retumed she took a piece of crab-wood she had brought, and beat her with it, and kicked
her. Her master wasnotat home; she got breakfast for her mistress and a gentleman,

Mr. Harvey. After breakfast, sent me for wood; I had just recovered froma fit of sick-
ness, having had a blister on my belly, which was not yet healed;Ifelt faint, and was

under the necessity of sitting down to recover myself. When I came home with the wood

it was about 11 o’clock; as soon as I returned she began to beat and kick me, saying she
hated to. see me; a boy belonging to Mr. De George, named Alexander, saw whien she

eat me, and a girl named Sophia, belonging to Sue Austerhem.

h Complaint of the woman Minkie, belonging to Thomas C. Jones :—Says, Mr. Jones took
er out of'the barracks on Tuesday; after I got home he sent me to Mr. Henery; he would

not buy me. He sent me to another gentleman, I do not know his name, but he lives in

om they both said my master asked too much money for me, and sent me back. I begged

. or
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for a pass to look for an owner; he said no, he would put me down and cut my a—e, and
would give me more than te law gives. J was then laid down and tied to three stakes,
and Chance flogged me with a cart-whip; I got a severe flogging; I saw Mr. Layfield at
his door with another gentleman, and Mr. Kerschner, the baker, saw it from his window,
Mr. Jones bought me from Mr. Logie of Demerara. {f have marks of severe punishment

“——~-—— visible on me, old and recent floggings, all inflicted by Jones.

Wrought on Sun-
days; short pro-
visioned.

Manager, a colour-
ed man.

Berbice, 12th March 1819,
Complaint of York, John, Lucas, George, and Azor, belonging to J. P. Broer :—State,

that they have been put to weed grass on Monday, each a bed; that they not being able
to complete the task, they were flogged with the carracarras that evening, by order of
C. Brumont, manager; La Rose, the driver, flogged them all. The work of Monday was
left unfinished, and a new bed given on Tuesday; this was not completed, and they were
again flogged with carracarras by La Rose. The work of Tuesday was left unfinished, and
a new bed given on Wednesday; and that not being completed, they were again flogged
in the evening with the same instrument and driver. That on Thursday morning their
master came and inquired if their work had been finished; and being informedby the
manager it was not, they were called up, and flogged with a tar-rope, which Mr. Broer
had brought over with him; they were flogged by the negro Hope. At 11 o’clock they
went and complained to Mr. Melville. That the unfinished work of the week they are
obliged tofinish on Sundays; they each get a bunch of plantains, with salt or fish.

Complaint of Laurence belonging to plantation Providence :—Complains, that the mana-
ger flogs and keeps him in the stocks on account of not making fire sufficient; that he
was locked up in the stocks.

The manager examined, and states that the negro, after repeated admonition for not
making fire, was flogged with about a dozen lashes, and locked up in the stocks for three
nights; requests the negro may be examined; no appearance of any flogging visible; the
complaint dismissed; the negro reprimanded to attend to his duty, and the manager pro-
hibited from flogging or striking a negro with a horsewhip : manager’s name M‘Dumott.

Complaint of Casar, belonging to plantation Vrow Johanna:—States, that he is over-
wrought; that a double row is given to him, and if any remains undone, he is obliged to
finish it at eleven o’clock ; one bunch of plantains is given, and occasionallyalittle fish;
not wrought on Sunday.

13th March.
Re-examination of the negro woman belonging to Thomas C. Jones, named Minkie :—Was

confined in the barracks on the 14th November last past by her proprietor, Thomas C. Jones,
on account of running away. I was sent to sell bread, and not having sold it, I ran away,
fearful of punishment from Peggy, who does noi like me. Peggy is housekeeper to
Mr. Jones. I was absent only four or five hours; my master took me out of the barracks
last Tuesday afternoon; he said he would send me to Mr. Henery’s store to sell me; Iwas
sent there with Chance, with orders to him, if Mr. Henery did not buy me, to bring me
back. I was not bought; Chance was directed to take me to another gentlemen, whose
name I do not know; the clerk said the gentleman was not there; I was taken home.
I told my master I did not want to stop with them, but remain in the barracks till he sold
me. He says, “ you want to stop in the barracks do you; I will give you the barracks on
your arse.” I was laid down and tied to two stakes, and he observed he would flog, and
then sell me. 1 was severely flogged with the cartwhip; Chance flogged me : exhibits her
posteriors, which are covered with a plaister, by order of the doctor, and apparently lace-
rated to that degree, that the court judged it expedient to direct her not to uncover it;
says, Mr. Kerschner, the baker, was at his window when she was flogged.

Examination of William F. Rudder, assistant to Messrs. John and James Beresford,
practitioners of physic:—Says, that he attended the woman Minkie, yesterday, by order
of Dr. James Beresford; that he perceived her posteriors to have been much lacerated;
I applied a plaister to the parts as had been the day before prescribed by Dr. John Beresford,
in consequence of the parts being inflamed; she appears to have been much flogged
formerly; fresh scars are very apparent, and evidently inflicted by the whip.

Anthony Kerschner says, that he knows nothing of the woman being flogged, but that
he heard the sound of the whip, and inquired of a white cooper who resides with
Mr. Layfield, why he (Mr. Layfield) had been flogging one of his negroes? to which the
cooper replied, it was not Mr. Layfield, but Mr. Jones

Examination of Thomas C. Jones :—States, that he owned the woman Minkie for two
years, during which period she has been absent one half of the time; I took her out of
the barracks on Tuesday afternoon, and sent her to three persons who had applied to pur-
chase her; they refused to do so. On her return she was so very extremely insolent,
thatIwas under the necessity of flogging her. After telling her she should be flogged for
her insolence, I was compelled by necessity to break her mouth previous to my having her
lain down. I had thirty-nine lashes laid on her, and they were well inflicted. When | sent
for her I had no intention of flogging her; but after sending her to three different person®
for sale, and not succeeding therein, [ told her that she had often deserved a flogging ;
this she replied, “ you cannot flog me, I have been in the barracks so long; and if you
do flog me, it shall cost you plenty of money.” I then directed her to be flogged,and
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that they should be well laid on, which was done. I gave her thirty-nine; it is the first

time she ever was flogged by me.

To His Honor H. Beard, Esq. President of the Honourable Courts of Justice of the
Colony Berbice.

Sir;
[had the honour verbally to report to you on the 19th instant that five negroes, the

roperty of Mr. J. P. Broer, had been sent to me by the honourable A. Melville, a member

of the honourable court of criminal justice, to whom they had preferred their complaints;

ist. That the task-work allotted to them, was more than they could perform; 2d. That the

manager, Mr. Brumont, was in the habit of causing them to be punished with carracarras,

and the proprietor, Mr. Broer, on one occasion with a tar-rope; 3d. That they were made

to work on Sundays; and 4th. That they were not sufficiently furnished with provisions, or

weekly allowance. In consequence of these complaints, I deemed it necessary to direct

the return of said slaves, and intimated my intention to Mr. Broer of attendance on the
estate, for the purpose of investigating the grievances complained of. I accordingly,
yesterday, proceeded to the residence of Mr.Melville, and requested the. favour of his
joining me on this investigation, to afford me his advice, and to ascertain whether the
quantity of work required by Mr. Broer of his negroes was more than customary or not,
and he having kindly acceded to my request, we repaired to the estate or place of land
cultivated by Mr. Broer. ; ; ;

The gang was called up, and the complainants directed to point out the work required to
be performed by them, the said Mr. Broer, and his manager, Mr. Brumont, being present;
this being done, it appeared evidently to us that the quantity of work, viz. the weeding of
grass, and the stale of the land where this work was to be performed, were considerably
more than ought to be required. |
The second complaint, that the negroes were flogged with carracarras, by order of the

manager Mr. Brumont, was ascertained from all the negroes present ; and Mr. Brumont, after
some endeavour to deny this charge, confessed that they had been flogged with the said
carracarras on the evenings of Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday; the negroes also, one
and all, declared that some had been flogged with a tar-rope, by order of Mr. Broer, on the
Thursday morning, in consequence of not finishing their work on Monday, Tuesday and
Wednesday, which was also admitted by the said manager, and ultimately by Mr. Broer.
The third charge, of being made to work on Sunday, was denied by Mr. Broer; the

manager, being cautioned to state whether this charge was grounded on fact or not, said
“« that they had planted corn, and got hog and cow meat on a Sunday, until eleven
o’clock.”
The fourth charge, of not being sufficiently fed, was denied by the manager;he admitted

that the negroes received but one bunch of plantains a week, but stated they were at liberty
during the week to cut another bunch for themselves, and referred himself to the driver,
Ta Rose, to prove this assertion, who greatly contradicted the same; the manager could
not state that he had ever given any specific order to the driver to allow this privilege of
cutting an additional bunch during the week, or point out any negro who was, or had been
allowed to do so. .

I therefore directed Mr. Broer to diminish the task of. work imposed on his negroes,
directed that each negro should be provided with two bunches of plantains a week, and
two pounds salt fish (it having appeared that they had received only a very scant
occasional allowance); that the negroes should not be employed on Sunday, or no work
whatever, save such as is directed by ordinance of the honourable court; and I informed
him of my intention of prosecuting him for the several penalties he had incurred, on account
of the charges preferred and proved against him; and lastly, I directed the negroes, that if
the redress now ordered was not attended to, they should wait on the burgher officer of
the district (to whom I should notify the orders given to Mr. Broer), and represent the same
to him,

J have the honour to be, &c. Ke. Ke.

(signed) M. S. Bennett.

’ oe Berbice, 15th March 1819.
To his Honor H. Beard, President of the Courts of Justice of the Colony Berbice.
Sir,

I beg leave to state, for your Honor’s information, that I attended on plantation Friends
to investigate a complaint, preferred by five men, of being over-wrought by order of the
Manager, being punished at 11 o’clock in consequence of not having performed a suffi-
Clent task allotted them for the day, and for being sent to the field of a morning before
gunfire. I proceeded to the field where the whole of the men gang were employed, and
jrected the complainants to point out to me the work they complained of being unable
2 perform. They came out of a canal which they were then digging, and informed me

at the task allotted them was six feet of a fourteen feet canal, five shovels deep; the
cal” being present, stated that this account was correct. The complainants were

ed upon to point out the cause and time of being punished; and after a minute inquiry,
tharected that they had only been threatened by the driver that he would flog them if

cit work was not more advanced at 11 o’clock, but that none of them had been punished.
One of them stated and exhibited the marks of a whip, and informed me that he had
476. received.
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received it in consequence of being the last of the gang going to the field one morning.
I directed to be informed whether they were made to go to the fieldearlier than the negroes
on the neighbouring estates; and although the complainants asserted it was the case, it
was denied by the gang and the drivers, who said their bell rang of a morning with Mr,
Katz’s. I was fully satisfied, from my own personal knowledge of the work performed by
negroes when working with the shovel, that the task required by the gang of the Friends
was by no means oppressive, and in many instances less than is generally required of slaves,
particularly as they were not to make up any dam; and the complainants failing to prove
the charge of ever having been flogged at 11 o’clock, in consequence of their work not
being in an advanced state, or of being sent to the field at an earlier hour than the slaves
of the neighbouring estates, I pointed out, that however anxious I was of acquitting myself
of the duty of affording redress to slaves, on any grievance laid before me, so also my duty
imposed on me the disagreeable task of punishing slaves absconding from their work, and
preferring charges against their owners or managers which they could not substantiate,
or charges which did not really exist; I proceeded to the unpleasant duty, and inflicted
such punishment as I considered the nature of their offence merited.

I have the honour to be, &c. &c. Ke.
(signed) M. S. Bennett.

 

— (2.) _~—

Berbice, March 18th, 1819.
Fiscal v. J. B. Goring, for selling Rum.

Examination of negro Gerrit, the property of Mr. Huinsma :—Says, that on Tuesdayhe
was sent by his mistress to look for plantain skins for a cow; that on passing the house of
Edward Rawlins, he told me if I would take a flask and a guilder, with a scrap of paper, to
Mr. Wills’s, and bring it back with rum, he would pay me. I took the empty flask, and
delivered it, with the money and scrap of paper, into Mr. Wills’s hand; he filled the flask
with rum and gave it back to me. 1 was proceeding with the rum and scrap of paper to
Edward Rawlins’s when I was met by a dienaar, who took me, with the flask of rum and
scrap of paper, to the barracks.

Evidence of Christian Alfone, of the dienaars of justice :—Says, that last Tuesday after-
noon, about four o’clock, being at the back dam and near to Mr. Wray’s chapel,I saw
a boy with a flask: on coming near to him and perceiving my intention of stopping him,
he endeavoured to escape; I however seized him, and on examining the contents of the .
flask, I found it was rum; I therefore took him to the barracks. The witness identifies
the boy Gerrit now present, who also states that the dienaar now before us was the one
who tock him to the barracks.

Evidence of Edward Rawlins, free man of colour :—States, that he saw the boy Gerrit
on Tuesday last, and told himif he would go to Mr. Wills and bring him a flask of rum he
would pay him on his return. I gave him a flask, a scrap of paper and a guilder; this was
to pay for a bottle of porter I had in the morning. I had three days before purchased and
paid five gallons of rum, but the jug I had would contain only four anda half gallons, and
told Mr. Wills I would send for the balance.

Henry Wiils states, that a boy called upon him a few days ago with a pass (which he
lays over) for half a gallon of rum; remainder of five gallons sold for cash to Edward
Rawlins some days ago. A guilder was also sent in silver money, in payment of a bottle
of porter that was had that morning. I delivered the rum to the boy.

The boy Gerrit again called in, and desired to state what he had received from Edward
Rawlins to deliver to Henry Wills :—States, that he got the empty flask, one two-bit paper,
and two one-bit papers, also a small scrap of paper which was taken away from him by
the dienaar. The pass delivered into court by Wills (to show that the half gallon was the
balance due on five gallons) was shown to Gerrit, and he positively denies having received
that paper; that he got the money as described, the scrap and flask taken by the dienaar,
and nothing else.

Edward Rawlins admitted in court, and being confronted with Gerrit, whopositively
denied having received the paper laid over by H. Wills, and being exhorted by his Honor
the President in tender of oath, ‘whether the paper laid over by H. Wills had been sent by
him, Edward Rawlins, with the boy Gerrit to H. Wills, or if it had been given after the
boy Gerrit had been taken up, he declared it was given after Gerrit’s commatment, but 0B
the same day.

_ | April 8th, 1819.
Examination of the negroes Avanturer, Sam, Wilhelmina Avanturer, Betye, and the

children Ordinance and Anna, belonging to Robert Elwes, complainants.

Negro Avanturer :—States, that his owner ill-treats his children, and principally thatthe
housekeeper Fanny is also very severe against them. That Mr, Elwes nevergivesany

allowan
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allowance to these children ; and that when the mother brings now and. tnen something for

them, Mr. Elwes’s housekeeper throws it away. That he, the complainant, gets onlyone

punch of plantains a week and a small piece of saltfish, and no more ; that he is obliged
to work, as well as all the other negroes, on Sundays till four o’clock, Pp. m.; that since

his master bought him he never had a Sunday for himself; and that they are generally

treated very indifferently. Adds further, that even on holidays they are obliged to attend
more or less to their work.

Necro Sam:—States, that he only gets one bunch of plantains and a small piece of.
salt fish a week; that he is obliged to work every Sunday till four o’clock, P. M.; that even

the last holidays he was obliged to be out on his master’s services; also, that in case of

sickness very little attention is paid.

Wilhelmina :—States, that she is the mother of the girls Betye, Anna, and the boy
Ordinance, all present; and that her daughter Philipintze stopped home; that all the
above-mentioned children are in service of the house; that their master, and principally
his housekeeper, the negro woman Fanny (a slave), treats her children very badly; that
in case one of them is sick, and she the complainant brings it something to eat, the same
is thrown away under great abuse by said Fanny; that the children never get any allow-
ance of food nor any clothing, (they being all naked, with the exception of alittle piece
of cloth fur decency’s sake, the one girl being between eleven and twelve, and the other
between eight and nine years of age ;) that their master, as well as the said Fanny, is con-
tinually in the habit ef licking them with bush-rope, of which the children exhibit the
marks; that Fanny lately cut her child Betye with a knife onher finger, occasioned by her
flying in a passion on account of not cleaning the knives as quickly as she ordered. The
complainant states also, that she is obliged to work every Sunday till four o’clock, after
which she (as well as all the negroes) is obliged to cut grass for the horse, and procure
firewood for their master’s kitchen; that she gets only one bunch of plantains and a
small piece of fish a week as her allowance ; that she got only since her master bought her,
three anda halfells checks, and three andahalf ells osnaburgs, and nothing for her children;
that a few days ago the girl Betye was ordered by her master to take the dung away near
the bridge, for which purpose she took something to remove it with, but was peremptorily
ordered to remove the dirt with her own hands. Finally, the complainant adds, that in
case of sickness of herself as well as her children, their master cares very little about
them. After repeating the above to the mother as well as the girls, they stated the same
to be the truth, and that they could add more to it; principally that the boy Ordinance
lingers very much, occasioned by the continual ill-treatment of their master and his house-
keeper Fanny; also that their master says he does not like them at all.

Avanturer, alias Quamina :—The complainant, a boy of eight or ten years of age, says
that he is also one of the house boys; that. Fanny sends him early in the morning to milk
the goats; that in case he does not go quick enough, she comes out and licks him, as well
as his master, pulling him often in a.cruel manner by the nose, and pinching his ears most
inhumanly; that he gets no regular allowance of provisions, but lives only upon what
he is able to get; that his master uses him to mind the horse, clean his shoes, burn the
coffee, and more of the like business; that his master never gives him any clothes, and
that when sick, after taking salts or other purge, he is obliged to perform his same task.
_ \. B.—The other complainants being present at the statement respecting ill-treatment
‘m sickness, say that generally they are forced to work after taking physic.

Finally, the complainant proves by many old marks on his back and posteriors that his
statement is not at all incorrect, and that he has often been severely dealt with,

- April 14th, 1819.
_ Negro August, belonging to plantation Niewen Hope, states, that having been confined
in the colony gaol by order of the fiscal, for carrying plank on a Sunday, although prohi-
bited by the fiscal from so doing,
on a Sunday, the and being released on the Monday morning, he returned
to.plantation Niewen Hope after taking in the plank; that his master, having heard of
this occurrence, had him taken up the day he came home, and confined in the stocks day
and night from that time till last Sunday morning. The negro complains of stiffness in
all his joints. °

Sir, | Berbice, 17th April 1819.
Thave the honour to reportforyour information, that I attended on plantation Lelden-

Tust for the purpose of investigating the complaint of the negroes Avanturer, Sam, Wilhel-
ne Avanturer, Betye, and_two children belonging to Mr. Elwes, the present proprietor
th said property, and found the complaint of their working on Sundays corroborated by all

N€ hegroes on the said estate. The negroes appeared healthy and well cased, but theyWere very much dissatisfied with the conduct of the negro woman Fanny, a slave of the
pperty, but a favourite house-servant of the proprietor’s. The negroes also complained
' dine’ flogged with carracarras, and produced a bundle of them, which were kept in
ea ness for service, when required.

'e Inanager and proprietor, Mr. Elwes, admitted that they were occasionally employed
a undays until 11 o’clock, but solely to work their own ground. I therefore prohibited
om insisting on their doing any work on Sundays, (save such as stated in the court’s

479. ordinance),
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ordinance), unless it was land given them as their own, the produce of which to be con.
sidered as their exclusive right, and by no means to assist towards the maintenance of the
slaves. I also prohibited the further use of the carracarra in presence of the gang, and
directed that if these orders were not punctually obeyed, they should cause the same to
be represented to the next burgher -officer, whom I should request to attend to they
representation,

I have the honour to be, Sir,
His Honor H. Beard, Esq. Your Honor’s obedient and humble servant.

President.

Su,. 18th April 1819,
I have the honour to report that I repaired to plantation Schepmoed, an estate situated

on the east bank of the river, in consequence of representations made me by Lieutenant
Jifkins, of the gd company 4th battalion, that the negroes of that property having been
called up by the manager to receive their rations of beef and salt-fish on Easter Sunday,
had refused to take the same; and that he had been required to attend in his official capa.
city to inquire into the cause of their refusal.
That on the performance of this duty he had received gross insult, and witnessed much

spirit of insubordination amongst the people. He therefore requested my attendance to
inquire into the endeavours made by him to give them relief in the cause of grievance they
asserted to experience.
On my arrival on the estate, I required the attendance of Lieutenant Jifkins, andhaving

caused the gang to be called up, the said Lieutenant made the following report :—
“ That the gang of negroes having refused to take their rations, he had been called on;

“ that he examined the rations laid out, and found for each grown negro 3} lbs. of fish,
“a piece of pork, a hand of tobacco, and two pipes, (the fish he had weighed). That on
“ inquiry why they objected to the rations, which appeared rather abundant, he was
“ informed by the negroes that this was to last for a fortnight. This statement being cor-

roborated by the manager, he the lieutenant stated -his opinion that it was insufficient,
“diminished the allowance of fish 3 lb., and directed that the negroes for the future
“ should be allowanced weekly, instead of every fourteen days by order of the attorney, Mi.

Swaving; and therefore requested the lieutenant would represent this alteration to said

x
nx
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-“ attorney; that he, the said lieutenant, speaking to two of the negroes who had been
“ spokesmen on this occasion to go with him to Mr. Swaving, in order that the case may
“ be decided at once.

Berbice, 8th May 1819.
Complaint of the sambo girl Betsey, belonging to Mr. J. F. Obermuller, inhabitant of

this town :—Says, that she was washing a frock’her mother had sent her a few Sundays
ugo; her mistress seeing her so occupied, took the said frock from her. Complainant
stated it was hard; she never gave her any clothes, and now that she was washing her
frock she should take it away; her mistress went and complained to her husband that
complainant had been insolent; her master flew in a passion, and kicked her on her belly
so that she could scarcely draw her breath ; the next morning, or morning after, her mistress
saw her with a jacket, and tore it off her, saying she did not wish her to wear a jacket, or
appear dressed ; she, the complainant, again stated the hardship she experienced in having
her clothes torn off her, as she, her mistress, never gave her any; Mistress again com-
plained to master that complainant was impudent; master had her flogged with a rope;
her brother Jacob flogged her; she gave her mistress no cause of complaint; shenever will
allow them to have any thing decent. She says, that for the least trifle she and her sister
are locked up in the stocks, sometimes for three weeks, and fed with only two plantains
a day; her mistress had her sister locked up for a fortnight, saying that she had made the
bed improperly, thereby causing the child to fall; her sister denied it ; she was locked up
in the stocks,

Saturday 15th May.
Examination of Emanuel Le Gendre, private in the 4th battalion of the Goth Regiment,

stationed in Fort St. Andrew :—States, that he and one Chater (also a private) went this
morning from the Fort St. Andrew to town for the purpose of selling Puttons, to lay m
some stock for their use on board, as they intend daily their departure from this colony,
both being provided with passes from their officer; that on coming in town, they went
in the backpart of the same, and passed by a house; were called in by a coloured mat,
being desirous of buying buttons ; that after looking at them, he said he should like them,
but that he had no money to pay, offering two glasses of brandy for the payment, which
they took and drank; upon which Chater, feeling in his pocket, found a bit, and also gave
that for a glass of brandy: further, that said coloured man asked Chater whether he could
play, and being answered in the affirmative, he (Chater) and the coloured man began to
play with cards, the former losing in the beginning a few dollars, but regained this after-
wards ; upon which the coloured man offered firstly to play for two bottles of brandy, and
afterwards for a pair of which Chater gained, both, but returned the same .
to him; upon which the coloured person took out a silver watch, offering Chater, if he |
would put two joes against the same, then he would play also for it, which Chater accept- "
ing, he also gained the same, (the coloured person stating this watch to be his property) ;
on the point of Chaterand Le Gendre leaving him, he began to quarrel, sayinghe di

understan
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understand the play, and wanted the watchback; which Chater refusing to return, the

coloured man called for his master, who coming out, abused them very much; upon which

Le Gendre told him not to abuse or to push a soldier; after which the coloured man’s

master went to Lieutenant Brady, who, upon their passing there, called them in, and

demanding the watch in question, took the same into his custody: states further, that

Boussin was present when the coloured person’s master abused and pushed Chater.

. igth May.

Heard a complaint of the negro Greenock, belonging to plantation Cotton-Tree —

States, that he was not well fed; that the plantains given them were remaining in their

houses, and quite yellow; that the manager was constantly in the field. The appearance

of the negro indicating. that he must have been well fed, and the further complaint appear-
ing that the manager performed his duty towards his employer and frivolous, he was

directed to receive fifty lashes ; which were inflicted in my presence in the market-place

same day.

Berbice, 22d May 1819.
Complaint of the negroes Brutus, Goodluck and Ambrose, belonging to plantation Cotton-

Tree, West Coast :—That they are not allowed time for breakfast; that they sleep in the

field, work in said place till gun-fire, and then have to cut grass, and go to the field before

cock-crow; that they are confined in the stocks, and not allowed to go out even for the

common calls of nature; that they went to their master, Mr. Katz, to complain, and he

flogged them; the plantains given them for allowance rot in their houses, not having time
to eatthem. Inquired what work they do at eight o’clock at night; reply, Cut canes.

Mr. W. W. Kernon, the manager of the estate Cotton-Tree, being in attendance, denies

the chargespreferred :~Declares that the negroes are allowed from eleven o’clock till one

every day to get their breakfast; that they are turned out between five and six o’clock, just

at day-break, and turn in at dusk in the evening; after which they cut or bring the grass
which they, according to the gerieral customs of negroes, have cut at noon. That Cotton-

Tree estate is in sugar; that whenever they cut canes the tops are brought home instead

of grass: denies the charge of cutting canes till eight, as very improbable; first, from the

dread of the negroes cutting themselves ; secondly, from the fear of cuttinga field of canes
improperly. Says, that Goodluck and Ambrose having run away about three weeks ago,
on being taken up they were confined in the stocks at night; and positive they never were
confined in the day, as that would be a loss of labour, and no punishment to an idle negro.
Brutus was placed watchman over them, and the three have been absent from the estate
since Tuesday evening, to the best of my recollection. Refers himself to the overseers
of the estate for proof of the above assertions, and to Mr. Katz, the proprietor, who
frequently visits the estate, and would not sanction any oppression of his slaves.

The negroes being admitted, and inquired when they absented themselves from the
estate, Brutus says they Jeft the estate on the evening, and went to N° 2; took a small
punt and came over at night. Goodluck prevaricates, saying that they took the small punt
from N°e, but the tide turning against them at breakfast-time, they got to the mouth of
Carye, and remained there all day. They intended to go to the master; but being afraid,
did not go: they slept in the punt all night, and came to the fiscal next morning; say
yesterday, Friday morning.
Thecharge preferred by the negroes being contradicted by the manager, and the negroes
prevaricating as to the time of quitting the estate, I directed the attendance of one of the
overseers of Cotton-Tree; and he having attended about two o’clock on Saturday the
22d, he, to my inquiry, gave the following information, declaring himself ready to affirm
the same by solemn oath :—Thomas Kelley, overseer on Cotton-Tree, declares, That the
Negroes are turned out between five and six o’clock, ora quarter past five; that the bell is
regularly rung at eleven o’clock to turn in, and at one to turn out; that he has known
some of the negroes work at breakfast-time, but by order of the driver; that the manager
has in his presence reprimanded the driver for so doing, and on one occasion punished him;
that he never knew the negroes work after dusk ; that two of complainants were ordered
to be locked up every night for three weeks, for running away twice; that neither of them
ever was locked up during the day, to his knowledge, for this above crime; could not have
been confined without his knowledge, he being field-overseer. That he read the list of
negroes to throw grass on Tuesday evening past; that Brutus on that occasion not bringing
grass, he inquired the cause of such neglect, and was informed he was employed con-
fining Goodluck and Ambrosius in the stocks; that some time after, but on that very evening,
the driver came and reported Brutus, Goodluck and Ambrosius had absconded, which he
(the overseer) communicated to the manager,
Found complaint of the negroes unfounded; for which, and for. absenting themselves

fromTuesday evenin to Friday morming, directed each seventy-five lashes; inflicted
onday morning, oath, .

we
May 24th.

t Ihave maturely investigated the complaint preferred by three of your negroes attached

° plantation Cotton-Tree against their manager, Mr. Kernan; and having found their

complaint without foundation, I have deemed it my duty to order the said three slaves to

¢ exemplarily punished at the public market-place, which was done this morning in my
ee I have endeavoured, and I hope succeeded in impressing on their minds, that as

‘ much
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much as it is my duty to attend to any complaint ofnegroes, and to cause redréss in all casey
of oppression, so also it is my duty to inflict punishment on all slaves who prefer false and
ungrounded complaints against their employers ; and I have moreover pointed out the dat
incumbent on a slave, in the event of a supposed grievance, to represent the same to the
proprietor, their master, previous to the immediate application to my office,

I feel pleasure in stating, that I have every reason to believe that the punishment inflicted
on them has been deserving. In returning them to plantation Cotton-Tree, I flatter myself
it will be unnecessary for me to state that the manager is to receive them again in favour,
resting satisfied that the punishment inflicted by me has been and is proportionate to the
offence committed.

1 have the honour to be, Sir, your most obedient and humble servant,
(signed) M.S. Bennett,

Honourable W. Katz, Esq. . Fiscal of the Colony,

May 2th,
Examination of the negro Utrecht, belonging to Plantation Friends :—The deyonent

says, that some time ago he had a very violent diarrhoea, which made it almost impossible
to him to do his field work; that in consequence he applied to the manager of the Friends
for physic, but he sent him back to work again; that his sickness increasing, he went de
novo to the manager, who treated him as before, upon which he applied to Mr. Ross, the
attorney, for redress, who, instead of administering to him the necessary physic to cure
his distemper, gave him.a flogging, and sent him back to the Friends, the manager whereof
frightened him so much, that he, although almost unable by sickness and the consequence
of the flogging, went nevertheless to the field ; when coming home at breakfast time, he was
called for to take physic, upon which, he being confident that he should be lodged in the
stocks, went to complain to proper authority, for the purpose of seeking mitigation of his
unhappy fate.

States further, that the manager acts in the mean time as physician also.

May 27th.
Examination of the negroes Nelson, Milton, Simon, Ned, Cupid, Trim and Jack, belonging

to plantation Rose Hail.

Negro Nelson:—The deponent, speaking for all the complainants, states as follows:
That they all were engaged by the manager to gin cottonfor himself on their Sundays, for
which he promised eachf.3 a day; when, after working three Sundays, and receiving no
payment, they declined to continue with this work. On demanding the payment, the
manager called the driver to give them a d——d good payment.
That they got this year for their allowance each, a small blue salemporis cap, and one

jacket, blanket and hat; and that N° 1, an estate belonging to the same proprietor, had
checks and osnaburgs added to their allowance; he, the deponent, stating that all this
had been on the estate for their use too, but that the manager disposeil of tle same for
his private use and benefit.

That they are obliged to bring every evening after their work.an uncommonly large
sized bundle of grass (the measure whereof the deponent.deposits herewith), and that when
the measure is not full they are obliged to search for more grass in the dark.

That in telling his master the hardness of the service, he flew into such a passion that
he broke one of his (complainant’s).teeth. That in coming in the negro houses at night
after their work, and inquiring after their things, the manager, when hearing this, takes
them up directly and lodges them in the stocks; adding further, that in case they are not
satisfied with him, they may go and complain wherethey please.

Complaint negro Utrecht of plantation Friends.— W. Ross, attorney, having been heard
on this complaint, states :—That the negro, Utrecht, did inform the manager that he was
sick, but on examining him it was found that he was shamming; the manager directed him
to go to the field. The next day he complained again to the manager ; but, without walt-
ing his orders whether he was to go to the hospital on Demtichem (there being no hospital
on the Friends), he, Utrecht, came of his own accord. I inquired whether he had a pass
from the manager, it being a rule not to admit any patient from the Friends without an
order from the doctor, or a pass from the manager; Utrecht replied he had not, but
was sick. I called the hospital mate, a well-informed and confidential man of colour, and
desired that complainant should be examined. The mate, after feeling his pulse and
examining his tongue, &c. stated that nothing was the matter with the negro, and. then
went to the hospital and brought the hospital book, from which it appeared that the neg?
Utrecht had been discharged by order of Dr. Beresford two, or at farthest, three days pre
vious to his coming to plantation Demtichem. Finding this a mere pretence, and likely
to occasion others to endeavour also to impose on myself and the manager, I directed
thedriver to give the negro Utrecht twenty-five lashes, which were inflicted in my presence.
{ directed him back to the Friends, but have never seen or heard of him since. This was
the 4th or 5th of May.

9; Captain J. G. Cloot de Nieuverkirk, Burgher Militia.
ir,

I beg leave to enclose you copy of a complaint preferred by seven negroes,attached
to plantation Rose Hall, against their manager. Mr. John Cameron, part proprietor of me

property,
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roperty, informs me that he has received a letter from the manager, Mr. Sutherland,
eating that one or two of the complainants had received a few lashes, which he suspects
to be the occasion of their quitting the property; and the driver of the estate, who is at
resent in town, denies any knowledge of the cause of their coming to complain.
As it isprobable the complaint is unfounded, and that thedetention of thenegroes, and

requiring the attendance of the manager, may be attended with inconvenience to the
estate, I have to solicit you to attend on Rose Hall, and investigate the complaint; and
if the grievance does exist to afford redress, or if unfounded, direct such punishment as

the case may appear to require. .

tte TEP I have the honour to be, Sir,
Berbice, 2yth May 1819. Your obedient and humble servant.

Plantation Recumzigt, Berbice, 2d June 1819.

Investigation of a Complaint preferred by A. J. Glasius, Esq. Proprietor of the above
Estate, against part of the Gang for insubordinate Conduct on Whitsunday past,

Berbice :
 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
\ _——/

on the occasion of Clothing and Rations being delivered the Gang on the abeve day.-
This investigation held in presence of the honourable William Helder, member of
“the court of Criminal Justice.

Complaint of A. J. Glasius :—-States, that knowing Sunday was the only day on which
slaves are allowed to dance at the ensuing holidays, he intentionally omitted to have coffee
picked, as great part of Saturday evening and Sunday morning would be taken up in
washing and putting it away. He also directed the drivers to omit bringing home fuel on
Sunday morning, but directed that some of the negroes should get grass, and as Monday
was a holiday, but not a dancingday, fuel should be brought home then. The negroes
all appeared satisfied: they each received a dram at the overseer’s house, and four large
Hasks of rum to take to the negro-houses with them, as customary in holiday-time. The
evening and great part of the night were spent by them in dancing, On the Sunday
morning, about half-past six, I directed the overseer to give the negroes their rations,
namely, a tierce of beef, fifty stockfish, half a cask of barley, each a hand of tobacco, two
pipes, and salt: the drivers to have rations, and the men three ells of osnaburgs, the women
five, and the house people six, and the children one and a half ells. Jackets, hats, &c.
had been given last Easter. After the rations were laid out, the overseer called onme,
and inquired whether I would be present myself; but breakfast being on the table I de-
clined doing so, after ascertaining from him that every thing was laid out as had been
directed by me. About half an hour after, the overseer with the drivers came up, and
informed me that after eighteen or twenty negroes had received their allowance, and on
its coming to the turn of negro August to receive his, he had taken up the osnaburgs,
and, after examining it, had exclaimed, “ Is this the osnaburgs we are to receive? I.will
not have it;” that his example had been followed by most of the others, and particularly
by the negroes Conraad and Virtus. I inquired again if the quantity I had directed had
been cut off; and in order to satisfy myself the better, I sent for it, measured it, and found
it full three ells; the same quantity I have ever given since I have resided on the pro-
petty, a period of sixteen years. I ordered the drivers to go to August, and direct him to
come to me; the drivers returned, saying he refused to do so. The overseer then went to
the negro-houses, to direct August to come to me to account for his conduct, and explain
the cause of his refusing the osnaburgs. The overseer, however, returned, saying, August,
on his coming up, cried out, “ Come, my lads, let us be off;” and he was immediate]
joined by five-and-twenty others, who proceeded on the estate towards the back. They
took the beef, fish, barley, tobacco and pipes, and went off.

I inquired in the evening of the drivers if the negroes had returned, and was informed
afew had. The next morning the drivers informed me that the rest also had returned
during the night. As soon as the insubordinate part of the gang had quitted the negro-
houses with a shout, I gave notice to the burgher captain of the same, and requested he
would apprise the fiscal of it. The fiscal attended on the estate on the Monday morning,
and having directed six to be confined in the stocks for examination, he cautioned the
gang to return to duty and attend to the orders that should be given them ; after which he
quitted the estate and the six ringleaders remained in confinement.

t. Glasius produced the journal of the estate. It appeared osnaburg's and checks had
been served to the gang May 1815.

snaburgs and checks December 1815, on account of getting no jackets.
December 1816, jackets and hats.

of ne oho double allowance, 586 ells osnaburgs, and 427 ditto checks, in consequence

January 1819, jackets and hats.
The ~~~; Osnaburgs, which great part of the gang objected to.

e osnaburgs refused by the gang was examined and found of an excellent quality, and
4 Tew pieces taken out of the heap were measured and found to contain three ells, five ells.

the,we negro August being admitted, states, that he is not the only one that refused to take
that thet urgs; that they received no clothing since Mr. Staal’s time, about five years ago ;
and sna master constantly tells them that when his ship comes he will give themchecks
476 aburgs; that lately jackets and hats had been given them on account of the arrival of

their

Staal’s adm.

88 jackets, 88 hats.
Rect Schlarhorst.

Admitted.
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their young mistress, but no checks nor osnaburgs ; and therefore seeing so small a quantity
given last Sunday, he with some others got dissatisfied and refused to take it. Denies
having been sent for by his master on Sunday; but confronted with the overseer B. Dorr,
the latter declared that the drivers having been sent for to call August, and returming
without him, he went and met them, inquired why he did not come; the drivers stated that
August positively denied ; he the overseer therefore went himself, and they were then just
going away; he reported it to the proprietor.

The head driver William states, that he received orders from his master last Sunday to go
and bring August. He went to the negro-house, and seeing August, acquainted him with
his master’s orders. August replied “I will not come, for he will lock me up in the
stocks.” Returning from the negro-houses he was met by the overseer and returned with
him, August, whilst a number of others then went off. The driver was then questioned re.
pecting the delivery of osnaburgs, checks, jackets and hats; states that osnaburgs, checks,
Jackets and hats had been yearly furnished them; sometimes jackets and hats, at others,
osnaburgs and checks.

Negro Conraad:—Says, that he has no cause of' complaint, but that his master has been
for many years promising them jackets, blankets, osnaburgs and checks; that they have
had no clothing for years, and therefore seeing the quantity of three ells put out for
them last Sunday after so many years disappointment, he with others had refused to take
the osnaburgs, but had taken the beef, stocktish, pipes and tobacco. States, since
Messrs. Schwiel’s administration they have had no clothing. We got three ells checks and
three ells salemporis from Mr. Staal. It appears from information of Mr. Glasius, that the
estate had been released from sequestration about two years ago. A piece of Dutch
osnaburgs was produced by Mr. Glasius, and he inquired of Conraad whether this osnaburgs
had not been given to the negroes since his administration: denies it.

Negro Virtus:—Says, he took his osnaburgs, but seeing his mattys refuse to take it, he
threw it down also. His master has continually amused them with promise of clothing,
now for five holidays, but has given themnothing ; has had no clothing since Mr. Staal’s
time.

Negro Adonis :-—Corroborates the evidence of the above negroes as to promise and time
of not having received clothing. Being confronted with the driver William, admits he
received checks the last year of Mr. Staal’s administration, 1816; admits he received
osnaburgs another time, 1817; also that he had received a jacket and hat previous to this.
Admits he lately received a jacket and hat, and that three ells of osnaburgs were offered
him last Sunday.

Negro Moy :—Corroborates the former evidence respecting the promise and length of
time they had had no clothing: says, he did not represent to his master that the quantity of
cloth was not enough, because the others did; had no clothing for five years ; other ne-
groes get every year. The driver having a shirt of checks on, which he says was given
him by his master, witness was called upon to state whether he had received any; says
he got three ells of checks, a cap of which he now has on: aremnant of Dutch osnaburgs
produced, and inquired if he got any of that; he says, he got three ells of the same:
a lined jacket was also produced, which he also acknowledged to have got one of, alsoa
hat; admits lately to have received a Dutch jacket and hat, holiday before last.

Negro woman Jenny :—States, that she refused to take the five ells of osnaburgs be-
cause it was not sufficient for a coat; admits that her master gave her three ells a few
weeks ago on account of her having a young infant; one and a half ells were laid out
new for the child; got six ells checks and six ells osnaburgs three years ago, three new
years. Confronted with the drivers, it appears this was issued in December 1817; admits
she got a lined jacket with a hat in December 1816, and a jacket and hat last Easter;
the five ells osnaburgs laid out Whitsunday, but refused.

After examination of the complaint preferred by the proprietor and the defence and
evidence of the negroes accused, the honourable member and myself took into consider-
ation that it did not appear from the month of May 1815 to the ist January 1817, that
the negroes had received the clothing customarily given on estates. This having been
represented to Mr. Glasius, he replied, that he was not amenable for the acts or intermis-
sions of sequesters of the estate appointed by the court; that his estate, Recumzigt, was
released from sequestration in the month of June or July 1817; that he has on the estate,
—43 men, 33 women, 15 boys, and 19 girls,—total 104: That he proves from his books
that up to the present date he has delivered to his negroes, in December 1817, 586 ells
osnaburgs, 427 ells checks, 88 jackets, and 370 ells ofosnaburgs now to be issued, making
together 1,383 ells of clothing, an average of 13 ells for negroes of every description for
the space of 18 months, with one jacket. and a hat. States, that if any proper represel-
tation had been made to him that his slaves required some little additional supply, it ought
to have been duly represented; and if any grievance did exist and not redressed by him,
they should have preferred it to the fiscal; but that insubordinate conduct of several of
his slaves, and in particular that of the negro August and Conraad, were such during the
late holidays as to create much uneasiness, and evince a spirit of disobedience whic
ought to be checked, to prevent a recurrence of such conduct; and therefore prays that
an example should be made ofthe ringleaders. Mr. Glasius further proves, that 88 jackets

a
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and 88 hats were delivered to his negroes in December 1816 by the co-sequester, Berbice:

taal. . . . . . . . _
nace the above into consideration, and the negroAugust having during his examina- _— Decisions on_

tion evinced much disrespectful conduct, and it appearing from the evidence of the over- Complaints of
seer that he was first to object and induce to refuse taking the clothing offered them, and Slaves.

that he also had positively refused to comply with the declarations of his master, delivered \—_____——’
io him by the driver, and therefore guilty of insolent and unbecoming conduct; it was re-
solved, that the negro August should be exemplarily punished; and the negro Conraad,

for disrespectful conduct in presence of the fiscal on Monday last, to receive a few lashes.

His Honor H, Beard, President Courts Justice.

Sir, ° ; ; Berbice, 3d June i819.

I beg leave to represent, for your Honor’s information, that I received, on the
goth ultimo, a letter from Captain Favre, of the BurgherMilitia, stating that Mr.Glasius,

the proprietor of plantation Recumzigt, had requested of him, by letter on Whitsunday,
the assistance of a militia guard, in consequence of the insubordinate conduct of twenty-
six negroes attached to his estate. In consequence ofthis information, I attended on the
3ist on plantation Recumzigt, and learned that the said slaves lad refused to receive the
quantity of osnaburgs allowed them by their said proprietor; and that he was fearfulthey

intended to quit the estate for the bush, and would probably endeavour to induce others to

follow. Having confined six, represented as of the most unruly of these negroes,
I returned to town; and yesterday, with the honourable A. Helder, member of the court of
Criminal Justice, I again attended on plantation Recumzigt.
We examined the negroes confined by me on the 31st May, and found that they were

very much dissatisfied with the quantity of osnaburgs allowed them, say three ells for the
men, five for the women, and one anda half for the children; and although the honourable
member and myself were of opinion that the quantity allowed them was not sufficient, we
are nevertheless satisfied that the conduct of the slaves examined, and in particular that of
the negro August, was highly reprehensible, and hadevinceda spirit of insubordination by
taking the osnaburgs served out to him, throwing itin the trench, prohibiting the other
slaves from taking their allowance, and positively refusing to comply with his master’s
directions to attend and account for his reprehensible conduct. We deemed it necessary,
for this unbecoming manner, to direct him to be punished in presence of the gang, as an
example. The other negroes examined appearing sensible of their improper conduct, were
dismissed, after being reprimanded for their past behaviour; and informed, that in the
event of any grievance existing, it was the duty of the slave to represent and seek redress
from his master, and if not succeeding, then to look for such redress from higher authority.
The whole gang appeared satisfied with this argument; and the negro August, after
punishment, acknowleged the impropriety of his conduct, and begged his master’s
forgiveness.

I have the honour to be, Sir,

Your Honor’s obliged and humble servant.

June 14th.
Complaint of negro Philip, the property of plantation Canefield Carye :—Says, he com-

plains on account of being too much punished. The overseer goes to complain to the
manager that I am drunk; and when [ deny it, the manager orders me to be locked up in
the stocks for four days. I am taken out of the hospital as sick-nurse, and put to work
with the carpenters. I was sent to town with one of the overseers to fetch up jack-screws;
the overseer went to breakfast at the Vendue Office, and I went to Maria Threefalls’ to roast
some plantains; when I went to the water-side, I found the boat was gone; [ went home
by land; I went to wait the boat at the trench-mouth on the plantation; when the boat
came L helped Joe and Swart to land the things; at night I was put in the stocks; I was
released in the morning; I was sent to the field, which I objected to, being sick-nurse;
I went into the field, andwrought halfa row, and I then left the work at nine o’clock; I came
to town; I got here at eleven, and not seeing the fiscal at home, I remained at the
Stelling; I slept at Mr. Nicolay’s house ; next morning I went to the fiscal.

Jokn Cameron, manager of the plantation Canefield, being heard on this complaint, states,
that the negro Philip has been often put in the stocks, on account of his being frequently
drunk, and his very great neglect of the sick, which has often been represented by the
doctors. I have often cautioned him for the above abuses, and I did once give him
punishment with the whip, about two months ago. The overseers have often reported he
was drunk; and when on inquiry I found it was the case, I had him locked up. ‘The
overseer has also complained he caught Philip receiving rum from the man attending the
abe ome by means of a phial, through the window railing. The account of his being-
te va when Mr. Richardson came for the3ack-screws in town is correct, with this addition,
. at the overseer did send to Maria Threefalls’ for him, but he was not there. The over-
eeryraited for him as long as he thought the tide would admit of; and not finding him,
mek © Overseer, was under the necessity of helping to row the boat up himself. When he

¢ his appearance on the estate, I forbore to punish him with the whip, but put him in
mesocks for the night; and finding all endeavours to reform him fruitless, I ordered him

° to  
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to the field. The overseer reported to me that he would do nothing in the field; Idid not

‘notice it, but shortly after heard he had gone off, He bears a very bad character amongy
the negroes, who accuse him of taking their fowls to procure rum.

Complaint frivolous and unfounded ;—directed to be punished.

Berbice, 4th June 1819,

Examination of the negro woman Rosetta, belonging to plantation Beerenstein :—The
complainant says she has nothing to say against the manager nor her owner, but that the
driver Zealand is the person which made her go to town, that he is continually licking
and cursing her, and even cut her with a cutlass once in the arm, which mark is yer
visible, and once knocked her with a cutlass in her teeth; that Zealand is the ruler of the
estate, so that the manager has less to say than he; that Zealand has a washerwoman
and the use of the milk of the cows, (even tell to throw the same away), and that the
manager has not the least authority to hinder him in his proceedings, he being allowed
the use of every thing; that in consequence of some licks lately received from Zealand
she left the estate, she hid herself a few days in the bush, went to the colony hospital and
miscarried there; the sick-nurse Elias, with Mooalla, Mandrienna and Betze, being wit.

nesses to this occurrence; which miscarriage she attributes to the several misbehaviours
of Zealand against her.

Rosetta objects to the witnesses brought in by Zealand, as the one is his boy, and the
other his assistant driver; says the remainder of the gang will substantiate her declaration,

Berbice, June 4th, 1819.
Examination of the negro Zealand, belonging to plantation Beerenstein :—Says Satur

day week they were employed in loading plantains in the punts; that he, as driver of the
estate, directed the good bunches to be taken out for sale, and the had ones to be brought
home for plantation use; that on this occasion he told Rosetta to take a bad bunch,
which she put in the punt, out of the same; that the woman turned her head to him;
upon which he, observing her to look very red in the eyes, asked her why she looked so;
to which she gave him a very cross and disgusting answer; which vexing him, hé went
up to her with a thin piece of bush-rope, telling her not to be insolent, and licking her at

. the same time with this said instrament of correction on her mouth, stating, that as her
mouth was so bad the same only deserved to be punished. Upon which Finch, sitting
there at that time, directed him to put her in the stocks; upon which she pushed at Finch,
who, standing, threw, by the consequence of her pushing, a negro in the trench. After-
wards he laid hold of her and put her in the stocks, but requested from Finch to release
her again, to which he consented; and after which she made her way to town,

June 4th, 1819.
Examination of Jack, also of Beerenstein, a witness in the-case of driver Zealand :—

Says, that he saw Zealand strike Rosetta with the bush-rope on her mouth, so that it made
the blood come out, and swelled the lips. Says further, he never saw Zealand strike
Rosetta with a cutlass. Lastly, states that he never saw Zealand lick Rosetta but only on
the occasion of loading plantains Saturday week.

Examination of Primo, also from Beerenstein, and witness for Zealand, driver of said
estate :—Says, that he saw Zealand strike Rosetta with a carracarra on her mouth till the
blood came out of the same; says, never to have seen that the driver ill-used the woman
with a cutlass ; and further states, that on the occasion of loading plantains on Saturday,
it was the first time he ever saw Zealand to strike Rosetta.—Direct atiendance of
manager, Dr. Beresford, and other witnesses called by her.

. Berbice, June 4th, 1819.
Examination of the negro woman Laura, belonging to plantation N° 6., Cauje Creek:

—The complainant, with a child at the breast, states, that her master don’t allow her to

nurse her child in a proper way; that she has not the liberty to take her child to the field,
(which is very young), to give it now and then the breast, but is obliged to leave it with
an old woman at home; that when she steals from her work to go to her child, and the
manager or overseer discovers her, they flog her directly; that once the driver assisted her

to go to her child, for which he was punished and locked in the stocks. Says to have

brought this child with great pains in life; it being of a weak constitution, requires, of
course, maternal attendance; and as she is not allowed to provide fully for the same, she

requests, therefore, assistance in obtaining this natural favour-—Direct attendance of
manager.

Richard White, manager of plantation Reliance :—States, that when he was first 4p-
pointed manager of the estate, it was his intention to erect huts in the field for the women
suckling their children; but this was objected to by Mr. Nieuverkirk and Cameron, the
proprietors, desiring the children to be placed with nurses; that there are four nurses 4
attend children; the women with young children are allowed until half-past six o’clock ia

the morning; they come in at half-past ten, go out at half-past one, and return at half-

past five; and which hours are never attended to in going out. Denies the driver ever
to have been punished, as stated. Says, that his attention to children is proved from
having raised twelve children on the estate in two years.
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- Berbice, 4th June 1819.

Thomas Keen versus Thomas :—States, that the negro Thomas, whom he hires from the

agent of the Winkle department, absented himself some time previous to the late holidays;

qras absent eight days; during which time he went about shoeing horses (he being a smith)

on his own account. There is a positive order that no smith shall take tools out of the

shop; this order, however, paid no respect to. Mr. Gaymer, clerk to the Winkle depart-

ment, met Thomas with his tools in a bag, a bottle of porter, and a loaf of bread; on in-

uiry where he was going? Thomas replied he had been sent by me to shoe Mr.Williams’s

horse. He shod horses for several persons; some paid him inmoney, others gave him por-

ter, wine, &c. After he had been absent eight days, I was informed by the other smiths

that he, Thomas, was lurking about the shop, he havingsent to call two of them. I went

out, and, speaking to him, directed him to come to me; this he refused, and walked off.

I directed two men to go and seize him; he ran towards the river, and threatened to drown

himself if pursued. He jumped into the river: I went there myself, and directed the

workmen to follow him in a boat; they did so, but as often as they came up to him he

would dive and remain so long under water that I became alarmed. At length, being

exhausted, he was taken. He was entreated to surrender, but would not. After he was

taken I sent him to the barracks, and solicit now that he may receive a punishment.—

Directed to be flogged at Mr. Keen’s foundery.

Beerenstein Complaint.— Rosetta v. Zealand.

John Beresford, medical practitioner, and attendant of the hospital belonging to the

Winkle department, being questioned whether it was to his knowledge that the woman

Susetta had miscarried in the hospital during her late confinement, states, that he was

requested by Mr. Scott to examine the said woman, who had complained that she had

miscarried in consequence of the ill-treatment experienced from Zealand; that he, the
medical practitioner, had examined the said woman Susetta very minutely, and could not
discover any appearance of miscarriage which she stated had occurred a few days before ;
and finding nothing the matter with her, he reported her fit for work.

Examination Elias, cause Rosetta, alias Susetta; witness doctor of hospital :—
Says, that Rosetta has been in the hospital four or five weeks ago; she came from the
estate to complain no physic was given her; she was put in the stocks by Mr. Scott’s
order; she was examined by the doctor, but he ordered no physic; she one morning
showed me a pot half fall of blood and water; she said she had miscasried; the appear-
ance was of a thick substance; I directed her to put it up carefully till the doctor came;
she put it under the hospital ; it was destroyed by the pigs; doctor never saw it; 1 never
told him, because it was made away with by the pigs, andshe did not because she was in
the stocks; she had been about a week in the stocks when this occurrence took place;
I never knew she was pregnant. ,

Mandorina, witness cause Rosetta :—Says she was in the hospital at the time Susetta
was there; sawa pewter pot, which had blood in it; Susetta said she had passedit ;
I did not examine it; Susetta did not say in my hearing she had miscarried; being sick,
I paid little attention ; the doctor came there every morning; it was never told to him.

Mocalla, witness cause Rosetta, or Susetta:—Says, Susetta, or Rosetta, was con-
fined in the stocks whilst I was sick in the hospital; [ understood one day that she had
miscarried ; I saw a pot which she showed to Elias, the hospital black doctor; [ did not
examine it, being sick ; the doctor did not attend this day; 1 heard Rosetta say she had
miscarried ; I saw her clothes; there was blood on them, and I believe she did miscarry;
neither this, nor former witness, knows how long Rosetta had been confined when this
oceurrence took place. .

W, Scott, agent, having heard the above evidence, states that the woman Rosetta, alias
Susetta, came to him: to complain against the manager; that she reported she had ab-
sconded in consequence of ill-treatment received from Zealand, and had miscarried during
the short stay he made in the bush, for which reason he, agent, requested Dr. Beresford to
attend her; states further, that she has a complaint of the bladder.-—Reprimanded.

. Plantation L’Espérance, 10th June.
Complaint Jonas versus Grade, manager :—States, that two women, named Diana and
ornelia, were in the hospital, having small sores in their feet; complainant is sick-nurse,

and occasionally employed as house-servant; the said women were directed by the

manager to go to the negro-houses to split leaves; the overseer, seeing one of them he
conceived able to go to the field, sent her there ; manager saw her in the field with a piece
of rag round her foot, and observed,as the coffee crop was coming in he was wishful
of no sores being on the estate; directed me to confine them in the sick-house till well;
1told them of this, and they absented themselves.

There was also a woman named Roosje; she was employed in the Logie picking coffee;
she was big with child; wanted one month of her time; the manager sent the overseer to
see her; she with the others were coming on; the overseer informed him that they were
inepicking enough or well; and the manager, standing at his window up stairs, directed

e driver Zindeg to flog them; the driver did this with his whip doubled; whether they

gossed so by the manager’s order I do not know, but he saw it; the woman Rosa
. was
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was flogged either on Friday or Saturday, I am not certain : Sunday she complained of
pain in her belly and back, and Sunday night I think she miscarried; the doctor of the
estate came to visit and attend her next day, and directed physic; she remained some
weeks in her house.

Tn consequence of my not bringing the two women above stated, the manager directed
I should be locked up in the stocks every night; he went to town, and the overseerput
me watchman at the water-side; the manager came home the evening I was placed there,
and inquired who was watchman; I answered it was I, Jonas; he inquired who put me
watchman; | informed him it was the overseer; he directed me to call the overseer; on
the overseer’s coming, he said, “ Did I not direct that Jonas should be locked up in the
stocks every night? take him, and do so now.” (n hearing this order, I availed myself
of the darkness of the evening and started off, and went to town to seek redress, not know-
ing what I had done to deserve this punishment.

Evidence of the woman Rosa :—States, that she was sent by the manager’s order topick
coffee in the Logie. The complainant represented to the manager that she was too big to
stoop. The manager directed her to comply with the order; she went to pick coffee on
her knees. At eleven o’clock their work was examined, and the driver Zondag directed
to flog them by the manager; this was done with the whip doubled. When Zondag the
driver came to her, he said to the manager, this woman is rather big with child; the
manager replied, “ Give it to her tili the blood flies out.” I was flogged; the whip broke,
and i was flogged with carracarras, this happened on a Friday; Iwas sent to the field on
Saturday. I told the driver I could not work, as I had pains in my loins; he directed me
to go to the manager. [ went to him; he sent me to the hospital; [ remained there a day,
The doctor examined me, and said there was nothing the matter with me, and sitting
down was not good forme. I went to the field, and was put on a row with another to
help. On Sunday. evening I miscarried; I was five months gone with child; the labour
was hard. The midwife had to force it; the child was dead; one eye was out, the arm
broken, and a stripe visible over the head, which must have been done with the double
whip. The doctor came to attend me on Monday morning; the child was not seen by him;
it had been buried. He prescribed for me. The child was seen by Ariaantje, Claritje and
Marianna. Iwas assisted by my sister Claritje; the regular midwife did not attend me, as
1 was taken suddenly. She was sent for however, and saw the child; it was buried by
Marianna.

Evidence of J. H. Eenhuys, assistant surgeon to Dr. Westervild, practitioner of and
medical attendant on plantation L’Espérance :—States, that he visited the woman Rosa
early in the morning on the 14th March; she informed him she had miscarried that evening
before | examined and prescribed for her. A few days previous to this occurrence I saw
Rosa in the -sick-house; she was pregnant and complaining; I thought between three and
four months gone. I experience that many miscarriages arise from the women taking no
exercise and contracting lazy habits; and thinking this was her case, I directed her to
take exercise. I did not see the child, it was buried. I believe I inquired if she had been
delivered of the after-birth, and being informed by an old woman, the midwife, I directed
something for her and went away.

Evidence of the negro woman Marianna :—States, I was sent for in the night to come to
Rosa, who was taken in labour, (trouble had come,) I went; she was not yet delivered.
I assisted another woman to deliver her. The child’s arm was broken; ‘one eye out,
bruised and sunk in the head; it was a fine male child, quite formed ; in every respect
perfect. Thinks the child was more than five months from its perfect form and appear-
ance. Claritje and George reported it to the manager that Roosje had miscarried, and as
he gave no directions respecting it [ buried it. The child was seen by the father and the
two other women, Claritje and Ariantje. The woman Roosje told the doctor the state the
child was in. He replied, “ I suppose you have been eating green pines.” Roosje denied it,
saying it was from the flogging she got. —

Evidence of Ariaantje :—States that Roosje is her sister, witness was called in thenight
by Claritje to come to Roosje, who was in labour. I went, and found her in said state;
T got there before Marianna was present. When the child fell, the child was a male,
perfect; the arm broken, the eye out, the head broken and bruised. After the mis-
carriage I went away. Being asked why it was not mentioned to the manager, the doctors,
or the burgher officer, she says it was not her business,

Evidence of George :—States he is husband to Roosje; corroborates her evidence as to
the flogging she received, and the expressions made use of by the manager to the driver
about flogging her. This happened on a Thursday; Sunday night she miscarried. The
child was a male, perfect; it was born dead; the arm was broken, one of the eyes out,and the head bruised. States this to have been occasioned from the blows his wife received
from the driver Zindeg with the doubled whip.’ Reported this miscarriage to Mr. Grade,the manager, who told him to bring it. Did not mention to him the state it was iv.
Roosje did give this information to the doctor, the little one; he replied, “ You must tell
a lie: you have been eating green pines I believe.” Inquired why he had not gone tocomplain either to the burgher officer or fiscal; says he was cook; and therefore could not
leave his work. "

Evidence
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Evidence of the driver Zondag :—States, that the women were put to pick coffee;
a certain quantity was to be got, which did not take place. The overseer told me by order

of the manager, Mr. Grade, to range the women out on the drogery planker: Idid so. The
manager came out, and told me to begin and flog them, from one to the other; I began
and went on till I came to the woman Roosje. I observed to the manager, ‘This woman is
vegnant:” the manager said, “Go; that is my business.” | did so ; she did not get more

than the rest. I did not flog Roosje with a carracarra; it had broken before I came to her:
she received her punishment with the whip doubled ; she miscarried a few nights after
this punishment took place. The punishment was inflicted at eleven o’clock, breakfast
time. I did not see the child. Claritje told me the state the child was in. The question

being put to him, “ Whether the manager, on his (the driver's) representation that Roosje
waspregnant, had made use of the expression, “ Never mind; flog her till the blood comes?”

He replied, “ Yes.”

Evidence of the negro woman Claritje:—-States that she is elder sister or shipmate of

Roosje; that she was sent for at night to Roosje, who was taken in labour. The child was born

dead; it was a male, perfect. Marianna was there; Ariaantje also, The arm was broken,

one eye was bruised and hurt; it could be seen it was done with the whip ; and the head

broken. The father reported the death of it. Manager said to bury it: the father dug the

grave. Marianna took it out. Reason she did not tell the manager of the state the child

was in was, because she thought Marianna would have done it. George mentioned it to
Mr. Grade: does not know what he said.

George again called in, and inquired whether he had mentioned to Mr. Grade the state the

child was in; said, he told Mr. Grade the arm was broken, and that it was in consequence

of the flogging she got. Mr. Grade said, “ Itisalie.” Says the overseer was present;

the manager asked him how it was his wife had miscarried: he replied, it was from the

flogging you gave her. Manager says, “ You lie; I did not flog her.” The overseer said,

« Tdid not either.” I then observed, “ If neither of you did, who did then?” Says his

wife has had seven children for him, and never-miscarried before.

Examination of Justus Von Steiniss, overseer of plantation L’Espérance :—I was present
when the women were ranged out on the drogery; they were flogged by Zondag. Mr. Grade
said, if they did not pick coffee enough, he the (driver). should be confined in the stocks.
[ saw him punish some of the women. Mr. Grade was not present. 1 did not hear Zondag
say any thing to Mr. Grade respecting this child having a broken arm. Never said any
thing to him himself.
A On inquiry, the manager states that Jonas absented himself from the estate on the goth of
pril last.

‘The negro Adam denies making use of the expression stated by the manager. Says that
Mr. Grade came home whilst they were drinking rum, and seeing him refuse half a dram
given him by a woman, remarked, “ If I had not been here, you would have drunk that.”
He then began to say that in Heytmeyer’s time they got only a small piece of fish; that
Heytmeyer had run the estate in debt, and that he (the manager) was now paying those
debts; that it was only through his exertions that the estate was not sold. Tells along tale
of his former services, but not in the least relating to the subject now under investigation.

Lieutenant Jifkins :—States, that he received a letter from Mr. Grade, requesting his
attendance to inquire into the conduct of the negro Adam for insolence; that not being
able to leave home he directed the man to be confined in the stocks; that he attended next
day, and found the man had not been confined in the stocks. Directed his attendance,
but learned that the driver Adam’s hat and whip were in the house, but hehad gone. On
hearing Mr. Grade speak to the negro, and inquired whether he had any complaint,
and the negro said, “ No,” I inquired whether Adam had been so insolent, and he said
“Yes; and what reason he had for so being I do not know.”

J. FE. Obermuller, attorney of plantation L’Espérance :—States, that the negro Adam came
to him in town to complain, that the manager coming into the field accused him of all the
negroes not being employed in the field, but some in their provision fields; that he denied
this, and in order to convince him of the contrary he would crack his whip and call them
allup. On this Mr. Grade became so very vexed that he said, “ Never mind, I'll pay you
for this.” That seeing Mr. Jifkins coming to the estate next day he thought he was to be
flogged, and therefore came to prefer his grievance.

Lieutenant Jifkins states, that living in the neighbourhood, he is acquainted with the
character of the negro Adam; that the negroes on the adjoining estates, and of L’Espérance
in particular, are in great dread of him; and the present complaint having remained
Uninguired into for some time, feels confident that no negro on the property dares give
evidence against him.

The overseer Steiniss :—States, that he was present; and is ready to depose, that the
expressions and general conduct of the negro Adam, on the evening complained of, was
most insolent,

:Examination of the negro Louis, of plantation Friends :—States, that it is the regular
"s a on the estate to give a task. of work in the morning; that on the 11th stanthe
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and all the other negroes were digging; that he and the remaining gang employed for
this work got their task fixed; . that the driver, La Fleur, was continuallyhurrying him,
upon which he observed, that as it was so early in the day, heought not to hurry him
atone, as he, as well. as any other, would finish the task in proper time; which remark wag
taken up by the driver as an insult to him, whom he punished directly by licking him with
a bush-rope, which made him (Louis) make more remarks, upon which the driver called four
men to give hima flogging; which to escape-he ran away, and came to report such beha~
viour to his Honor the Fiscal. States further, that the driver always points at him,
although he never gavecause for such dealings.

Plantation Demtichem, 17th June 1819,
‘W. Ross, attorney, plantation Demtichem, complainant, against the negro Hans, belonging.

to Beerenstein, on charge of Obiah.

Gabriel, a girl about nineor ten years of age, daughter of Isaac and Nancy :—States,
that she was employed in her father’s house on Monday nightboilingplantains, by direction
of her mother; that whilst so occupied, La Rose and Amsterdam came to her, and took her
+o January’s house, where she saw a strange negro, who she knew was named Hans, having
seen him formerly at Buses Lust; he told me not to cry; if { did, he would flog tne; he
then took @ piece of salemporis, and put it over my head; he told me that-if I saw any
thing, I should die; he directed Lindsay Harry to take me on his shoulders; Hans, Amster-

dam and La Rose went to Fredetick’s; we were juined by my father; they called Frederick's
wife to open the door; Frederick was in the stocks; the door was opened by Pompadore,
Frederick’s wife; we went in, my eyés still blindfolded ; thepiece of salemporis went over
my head; I held the pot in my hands, being on the back of Lindsay Harry, the salemporis,
descending over the pot. She was taken off Lindsay Harry’s shoulders, and sat down on
a.small bench; Hans went and lay down on Pompadore’s bed ; he lay on the bed till the
people had done grinding coffee ; all the people came to Frederick’s house; Hans then got,
up, took the pot from me, and gave it to my father; Pompadore did not see that I had the
pot in my hands ; it was so covered with the salemporis she could not. see it 5 nobody spoke
to me; the pot, whenI received it, had nothing buta little water in it.

. . The overseer, Boaz, states :—That the negroes being employed grinding coffee, hehad
- maissed the two carpenters, La Rose and Amsterdam, who were working at the Friends that
day, but stilt one employed to grind coffee. The driver said, “ Perhaps they are not yet
come from the Friends;”: with which answer I was at that moment satisfied. I make
particular inquiry for the carpenters at work at the Friends.

W. Ross, attorney of plantation Demtichem :—-States, that on Sunday forenoon. the
negro Frederick, the head carpenter, and a man of good character, came cryingto the
overseer,Mr.Boaz, to complain that the negroes were breaking open his house, and dig-
ging up the ground, accusing him of being a poisoner, and consequently that poison must
‘be’ secreted in the house; the overseer immediately proceeded to the negro yard, and
brought the drivers January, La Fleur, Benjamin and Frederick up to the door; the driver
January commenced justifying himself by stating, that several sudden deaths had lately
taken ‘place on the estate, and that he, with others, had sent for the negro Hans, who was
‘a good negro, and with whom he was acquainted, to find out the cause of these sudden.
deaths ; immediately on hearing that it was with the knowledge of the drivers that this man
had. been sent for, I declined further investigation, directed them to be locked up in the
stocks; and seported the:circumstance to the burgher officer and the Fiscal. It appeared
that the minds of the negroes must have been greatly agitated, they having thrown them-
selves on the ground, biting the grass, tearing the earth with their hands, and conducting
_themselves like maniacs. 1 had this information from Mr. Boaz, the overseer; did not wit-
néss it myself, being confined to my room from indisposition. On Tuesday I had informa-
tion fromthe -girl Gabriel that the negro Hans was in the negro house; I went there with
‘the overseers, but could not find him; yesterday morning the same little girl pointed out to
‘the’ overseer, saying, “ The man thatgave me the pot is now passing ;” the overseer came
andreportedit to me ;-I directed him immediately to follow him with some of the negroes;
William,‘the stable hoy, went; the overseer succeeded in bringing him to me. States, that
the ‘minds of the people were in such a state of ecstasy, and conducted themselves as pos-
sessed to that degree as to attract the attention of three gentlemen passing, who came in
and inquired the cause of this uncommon agitation, just as Frederick,wasreporting. the
citcumstance tothe overseer.

Evidence of S. Boaz, overseer of plantation Demtichem :—States, thatyesterday, having:
received. orders from Mr, Ross to take the negro Hans from the: public road, he “pursued
him with the stable boy, William; who, on coming near to.Hans, and being desired to
seize him, had declared he was afraid to-do so. Ta consequence of this information Iwent
and took hold of the man, who made an attempt to get away; but not being able to run as
fast as I, I seized and brought him to the attorney. I received orders to take him to town,
With numerous articles found on his-person; I did-so, and took him-to thé Fiscal, who
directed one of the dienaaren of justice to take him to gaol. When Hans was brought to
the door he had ona shirt and trowsers. Mr. Ross directed one of the carpenters and head
cooper to undress him; they hesitated, till peremptorilydirected to do so by Mr. Ross.
Thearticles were found secreted-in his dress, and-he had in a handkerchief Ff. §0 iv money.
All the articles, money, &c. were given over at the gaol,

Evidence
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Evidence of Frederick, head carpenter :—That on Saturday night he was wakened by
the head driver January, who told him ‘to come to his house: On artiving there he found
‘all the men, women and children before January’s house. January said, that so many
deaths had occurred that he had sent for a man to put every thing to rights ; this man was
Hans. January then took a ram’s horn from above his door and poureda little rum in it,
and drank it, saying “ that he wished to have the bad people off the estate, and every
body. must listen weil.” Hans sang his country song; January drank a second time out of
the horn, (witness never saw the horn before,) a bottle of rum was on a table and also a
wine glass. Hans pushed the latter off the table and broke it: January got vexed, saying,
«this 1s the second glass you have broken.” Isaid, “ never mind, don’t get vexed, as
you sent for the man; if you want a glass I'll give you one.” I sent for one; January
directed a dram to be given to the officers. Hans, after singing some time, said he wanted
a young girl; he had placed a white feather in the head of ali the children. He took
a girl named Eve, and lay down on the ground, the girl next to him. She was, however,
much alarmed and cried. He then took the girl Gabriel, and she also lay on the ground
with Hans. He then got up and said, “these children. should point out the persons who
administered poison on the estate.” He began to sing a country song, and every one must
join in chorus. He told January that as he had come to set’ things right on the estate,
every body, big and little, must contribute a bit. The gun fired and I went away.

After grass and fuel had been thrown, the people assembled again at the house of January.
Hans told me the driver had engaged to collect this money, but as you are the head man
of the estate, I have more confidence in you. You must collect this money, and as soon
as I receive it you will see what I shall do for all of you. I said it could do; but why was
January not the fittest person, he being the driver and the person who had sent for him.
Hans replied he had more confidence inme. The negroes then began to contribute; Hans
and January went to another house, leaving me to collect. I received the money; also La
Fleur and Benjamin. A sufficient sun having been collected about eleven o’clock, Hans
and Januaryjoined us. I delivered the money to January ; the paper money separatefrom
the silver. He said, “ Hans, here is your money.” A handkerchief was also contributed;
Hantz laid the money in the handkerchief; they went in the open air: Hantz had a tub of
water brought, a bundle of wild canes, and also grass; he put the grass in the water and
sprinkled their faces; every body was directed to dance, and Hans joined. The negroes
became as if crazy; some threw themselves in the mud—others jumped; they that were
the most turbulent were flogged with the wild canes by Lindsay Harry, by orderof Hans, and
recovered; others more furious and not recovering from the stnpes of Lindsay Harry,
Hans struck with a bamboo, and_ they immediately recovered. He asked me if I was
afraid; I said no, but I did not like this sport. He took me round the ring formed twice.
He went in the house and drank twice; a circle was again formed. Venus was quite asa crazy person and could not recover the effects, for which she had been struck with the, cane.and bamboo, but not so as to cure her effectually. She danced in the circle, and
coming up to me said, I was the bad man on the estate. 1 said to Bernard, because weare the eldest on. the estate, and that such things were never practised by us, that theywant to remove me. He said, “ be silent; let us see what is to come.” "Venus ran out.of the circle and said “ come, and I show you where the poison is hid.” Hans sat on theground leaning against a table. January went to raise him; he said “ stop, stop, let meTest, my eyes are turned:” I asked Venus “ why do you say I am the bad man, and howdo you know it?” She replied, “I see it from the water that has been sprinkled over myface and eyes.” They then ail followed Venus, shouting and making a noise; they went tomy house, threw down two casks of water, broke down my kitchen and fowl-house, and:dug up the earth with shovels. Venus said, “it is not here, it must be in the house.”Topened the door, they went in. I said, “ stop, let some go in; I will give you room.”
I put my box, hat, &c. on one side, and said, “ take care, the poison you look for mustbe found openly and not by pretence.” Benjamin ripped up some of ‘the boards; theydug, but. found nothing. Venus said “ my eyes are not well washed ; I did not accuse theead carpenter, but London.” I said, “ No, you accused me, and brought the peopleeTe 5 this is not London’s house, but mine.” Venus then said, “ let me go to Hans (whojad Yemained at London’s house) to get my eyes properly washed.” I said “no; I have*en accused, and must insist, as my house has been broken, that this business shall be foundout, or|know what to do.” Venus then went to Hans and was followed by the gang,hia went and reported this occurrence to the overseer. Says, that Hans, in selecting the\ p said it must be the girl who had lost her mother, and Eve was brought to him, butSié being so very much alarmed, he said he must have another; if no other child was tofound who had lost its mother, a twin child would do as well. Gabriel was thereforebrought to him. When I went to complain, Hantz was removed by some of the negroes toanother house.

wacidence of the negro woman Venus :—Saysthat the driver January directed that nobody
Januar quit the estate ; every body must come to his house. I went there, and saw Hantz.
mone y nm every body must bring money and give it to uncle Frederick:every hody gave
that Oe _ Save two bits (having a child). Hantz said, he would pull off all the poison
water w in the ground, which made the people on the estate die 50 suddenly. A tub of476 as brought by Linsey Harry; a handful of grass was put in the water by Mantz,
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and he stirred up the water: some wild canes also were brought by Harry. Hanssent hin,

Every person stooped down, and Hans washed their head. They danced first:: Hans sang

the dance called Water mamma dans. My head began to turn, as if, I were mad ; don't

know how occasioned this: the first dance she ever saw, whose heads turned in sucha

manner that they fell to the ground. Were flogged with the wild cane first; if net recovered

he flogged them with a carracarra, and put guinea pepper in their eyes which he chewed,

All: this was done to me, but 1 could not recover. Had not, nor ever does drink ram,

I could see and hear every thing, but was exactly as if I were crazy: I recovereda little

after this last. Is not aware that she accused Frederick as the bad man. Hans said he

would makea little child find where the pot of obiah was hid: did not see tle pot. Does

not know she took the people to Frederick’s house; if I did Iam not aware of it. 1 know

I was there, but [ am not aware what I did. I was in hysterics. constantly laughing,

although nothing was said to make me laugh. Afterwards1 went. from Frederick’s house

to January’s, where Hans had remained : 1 went there by myself; he was putting his money in

a little packall : I stood at the door, he said that something must go'out of my head. He

chewed some wild cane and putit in my mouth, and Lrecovered. I returned to Frederick’s

house. Do not know of any conversation passing between Frederick and myself. I went

again to January’s house, and found Hans lying on the floor, apparently in a fit; he was

shaking and trembling very much. January told Hans he saw the overseer coming. Hans

got up; some one held his hand, and he went into the chamber.

Evidence of Pompadore :—Says that Isaac came to her on Monday night, and told her

io open Frederick’s house. She inquired why? He said “ Never fear.” He came in with

Hans, La Rose, and Amsterdam. They lighted a lamp. Linsey Harry had the child Gabriel

on his shoulders; a_piece of salemporis descending from her head, and coveringa pot she

held in her hand. Nothing in the pot but water, that Isaw. The lamp was lighted, and

Hans showed every one present nothing was in the pot but a little water. Hans made Isaac

and Amsterdam dig a hole, and he made the child sit on a bench next to the hole, the

salemporis hanging over. Hans went and layon her bed, the hole was near to it: when he

got up, he ordered Amsterdam to take the child up, the salemporisstillhanging over her

head and shoulders, and carry her to the hole. Hans took the salemporis off the child’s

head, and then the pot appeared to contain a ram’s horn, some fluid, and the bones of some

) immediately as the pot was taken out of her hands;

and Hantz said, “See the child is dead.” After the child had Jaina little it recovered.

Did not see any thing administered.

When Hantz lay on the bed, and the child sitting near the hole, all the people were

present. Hantz said, the horn, &c. came out of the hole; nobody saw these things come

out of the hole.

June 26th, 1819.

Complaint of negro Brutus, belonging to plantation Providence, against manager:—~

Says, thathe is watchmanof the plantain-walk. Manager told him he was to take two

negroes with yaws, anda little boy also with that disease, in his house; complainant ob~

jected in consequence of never having had yaws; slept some nights in the open air, then

built-himself a small hut on the plantain-walk, and covered it with dry leaves. Manager

observed it, and said, “ Come here, I’ll show you where to make ahouse on the road.”

“He put up a stick to show me where the spot should be. He told me to make the yaws

negroes dig a drain near the spot; the negroes said they could not work.in consequence

of being so completely filled with that malady. I told this to manager; he said, “ Lick

them.” I saidif I flogged them with my whip and held it, I shall get yaws too; Iam

afraid of it. The manager wanted my daughter Peggy; I said “ No.” Hefollowed her;

I said “ No’ He asked me three times; I said “ No.” He took Rule’s wife, and, after

having:her.a few nights, left her; therefore I refused. Manager asked me Friday night;

refused. Saturday morning he flogged me; it was not for my work. This thing it hurt

me, and I come to complain.—Direct attendance of Peggy.

Peggy being sick, Agueshaba her sister attended :—Says, that manager sent aunty Grace

to call Peggy, and to say if she would not come I must. We said, daddy said must not

6; L was too young. Grace left us and went to daddy; shortly afterwards shereturned

and tried to coax me to go, but I would not as my daddy had forbid it. Grace went and

told. manager; manager sent to call Fanny; Fanny went. The manager was up in lus

room; and all of us, the creoles, got orders to be watchmen at manager’s door. 1 was

watchman,Peggy, Jenny, Frankey, and many more.

Monday, June 28th, 1819.

' Examination of the negro Jack, belonging to C. E. Gernon :—States, that he formerly

belonged to Mrs. Brose; that at the time the negroes of Mr. Brose were to be sold, he

requested Mr. Gernon to purchase him, which he did. That at the time Mr. G. bought

him, he,. Mr. G,, told Mrs. Gernon, in his presence, that he had bought the negro Jack,

whom he did not at all like. _ His master used himin the beginning to saw; buthishan¢,

through hard work, being unabledatthat tims to go on with it, he was released from saW-

ing. ‘That his master bought. cows from Mr. Pauds, some of which he sold to Mr.Kewley;

remaining seventy-six in number, which he,. with also a quantity of sheep and gon od) oblige
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dto-mind alone. That everymorning his master licks him fornot bringing milk
enough, and that for the least trifle he 1s ill-treated. He requested his master several

timesto sell-him, but for an answer received, that as he was his property he would do with

him as he pleased.. And as he could not expect any alteration in his hard fate from his
master, so he resolved to lodge complaint in the proper place.

oblige

 

FISCAL'S OFFICE.
Berbice, Friday, 4th July 1826.

Compxaint of the negro woman Julia, belonging to William Carabin Mourant :—Com-
plainant says, that Mr. Mourant bought her some years ago; that she lived with him as
housekeeper, and brought three children for him, of whom two are since dead; that het
master on leaving this colony left her with Mr. Abensetts, and took her only remaining
child Kitty with him to Holland ; that during his absence, Mr, Abensetts (although she has
been sick for a length of time) ordered her to mind cattle, and treated her sometimes very
badly; that since her master’s return to this colony, who brought her daughter Kitty again
with him, he behaves very unfatherlike towards the girl, she being obliged to attend on
Mrs. Mourant and her children, to perform all menial services, and to receive for this
nothing but the severest treatment; that on representing this as a mother to the father
{her master), he, as well as Mrs. Mourant, threatened to sell her in this colony, and to
remove the child with them to Surinam, ;
. That this being her only remainingchild of the three which she had for her master, it
naturally affects her exceedingly; that she has no relation whatever in the colony, and
should not at all like to be sold without her child, she consequently addresses herself to
his honor to gain redress in this grievance.

July 14th.
Complaint of the negro Bob, belonging to plantation N° 49, Courantyn Coast; owner,

Mr. Kewley:—Complainant says, that almost three weeks ago, the manager Austin. met
hima in the morning whilst going to the field, and without giving him the least provocation

- ealled the driver King to lick him, which had been of such a nature, that he had been
obliged to lay down some days, and on recovery thought proper to report this procedding
to his honor the fiscal.
Complainant’s back has yet the visible marks of this treatment.

Complaint of the negro woman Nancy, with her children Judith (a girl from fourteen to
fifteen years of age), Sam and John (twins), about a: year old, all belonging to John
Layfield :—Complainant says, that her master ill-treats them exceedingly, not only in the
day-time, but even at night, by burning their houses, and also walking out with a cutlass
to attack any one he meets at night. _
That last Sunday, in the afternoon, whilst the stock-keeper, Will, drove the cattle home,

he observed to her that one cow remained behind, and requested her to go and drive it
towards the rest; that she had some trouble in turning the cow, which her masterobserving,
he ran up to her, and cursed and beat her; that she escaped nevertheless from him, and
endeavoured to run away; that her master lay hold of the negro Will’s whip, and outrunning
her turned the whip round her throat (the marks thereof still being visible), trying to
strangle her; that she tried to release, but should very likely have been cut had not the
above mentioned negro, Will, come to her assistance. 7
That in consequence of this, and former bad behaviour, as well to herself aschildren,

shetakes the liberty of addressing herself to the magistrate to seek redréss.

Monday, 17th July 1820,
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Complaint of the negro Benjamin, property ofL. C. Abensetts :—States, that he formerly —
belonged ‘to Mr. ‘Mourant, who, on leaving the colony, left him in possession of
Mr. Abensett’s housekeeper: on his (Mourant’s) return lately from Holland, he took com-
lainant in his service and took him to Nickerie, where complainant believes Mr. Mourant
as purchased an estate or land. On Mourant’s going to Nickerie again on Friday last, he

directed complainant to get his things ready to go with him; complainant refused, saying
7vas accustomed to this colony, requested to be sold here on being informed by
ourant that he was still his property but tefused to go to Nickerie, onthis his master

( Ourant) became very much displeased, directed him to be locked in the stocks withboth feet-until his return, appointed in three weeks.
omplainant conceiving himself aggrieved prefers his complaint:

Complai 26th July 1820.Tmpiatnt of the negroes Warren, Frank and Sancho, belonging to plantation Smithgon’s
Place, East:Coast Canal.

Negro Warren :—States that he is a punt man; that he complained to the manager for

ways. tie the punt, the managertold him to get bush rope, he did so. Coming to town
mee in
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in the punt, he stopped at the entrance of the canal with another puht man, who had also
a punt under his care, waiting the tide; there it rained very heavily, and complainant with
the other man went to Mr. Fraundorf’s to warm themselves, and to roast some plaintaing,:
On their return to the punt, complainant found his punt had broken the rope and. gone
adrift; finding a coriall tied there, he untied and went in search. of his punt, Mr. Nieuwer.
kirk’s negroes had (at Reliance) taken it up. The other punt man had informed the manager
my punt had drifted, and that I was gone in search of it; the manager came up in the other
punt with Harry, Bushand Harrison,and found me in the Reliance punt. On our return the.
manager said we were to pay six guilders for taking up the punt; this was Monday week:.
I had no money, and the manager laid me down and flogged me, Next morning went to
town, waiting the wash of water. Mr. Nieuwerkirk’s punt was coming to town, when they
found mine adrift, and they have taken it to Reliance, where it yetremains. ‘The manager
told me on Sunday last [ was to go and bring the punt, if I did not 1 was not to return,
or something to that effect, and having nothing to pay for the punt I come to complain..

John M‘Kay, manager of Smithson’s Place:—States, on Friday week in the’ evenin
YT directed two punts early next morning.to drop down to the canal mouth; one to go for
plantains to New Forest, the other to come to town to receive stores from on board the
Amelia; the complainant belonging to. the punt that was to come to town, Harry being
punt captain. On my coming about half way to the canal mouth, I met Harrison, one of
the punt’s men, coming to inform me that Warren had let the punt drift; Harry also came
up about that time. I took the other punt with Harry and two others, and came to town.
I-found on coming to the canal mouth the punt had been very improperly tied, insomuch
asto attract Harry’s notice. I found Warren in Reliance punt, they had taken up oars
and were on their return to the estate. The overseer was in that punt; the overseer res
quired payment for taking the punt. I took Warren in our punt, and came to town, bring.
ing the coriall with us. Warren had taken up a coriall some time ago, and informed me
of it; I told him it. wag very well, and at that time stated to him and other negroes, that
any reward they got for taking up any craft was their own; but that, in like manner, I was
determined they should pay for taking up the punt whenever it drifted. [ brought this to
his recollection in the punt. On the Saturday evening I told him [ should not put a band
upon him, but he was to. bring the punt next day. I would give him a pass and a hand if
he required it also, bringing to his mind Mr. Nieuwerkirk had given him niné on Easter
for dancing there. I gave him a pass on Sunday morning to go to plantation Reliance;
he did not return that evening. On Monday he made his appearance about noon; he
brought a pass from Mr. Matheson from town to go to Reliance. Tuesday morning
{inquired of him why he had gone to town; he made me no answer. I called the driver
and gave him eight or nine lashes.for goingto town. He was all the week at work, and
I reminded him several times that he was to bring the punt home. On Sunday morning
I called him, and told him [ was. going to send a punt up the creek, and could spare -no
hands as I was about shipping sugar, but would give him a pass to go and look for the
punt; he said he would return presently for it, but [ have not seen, him from that time till
now.

Harry, head puntman of plantation Smithson’s Place :—-States, that the punts were sent
to the canal mouth; that the two puntsmen, instead of minding the punts, went to roast
plantains at a house belonging to Mr. Frauendorf. It has been a custom with our master,
that if our punts drifted, the puntsmen were made to pay for them. I have paid for taking
up my punt; I have, as head puntsman, made Bush pay for it, as I had made him watch-
man. I know that the manager gave Warren a pass to go and look for the punt; on Sun-
day morning he did not bring the punt. I have understood he was flogged, but was not
resent, being puntman. I heard the manager last Sunday ask Warren if he was going to
ook for the punt, for he wanted her to go in the Bush; Warren said, yes, I am gomg;
but he has not been on the estate again. This is the first time I have seen him since
Sunday.

Thiscomplaint proving groundless,the complainant directed to be punished.

Tuesday, August 1st, 1820.
Complaint of the negro woman Rosie, belonging to Mary Richards :~—Says, that her

mistress treats her very ill; that although sick and swelliug, she is obliged to work; that
her mistress licks her very much; that she is also badly fed and clothed.

Mary Richards, her owner, says, that if she treated her ill, she would, in the condition
as she is in, have been dead a long time ago; that as she herself is obliged to work, she
expects that her slave shall work too.

Friday, 18th August 1820.
Examination of the negroes Sam, Louis, and David, belonging to Mrs. Sanders, com-

plainants:—Negro Sam says, that his mistress is very bad; that the work is daily ine
creased, so that they are unable to perform their task given them: That the last holidays
when they got three days to dance at home, their mistress obliged them ‘to work so hai
afterwards as to complete the work lost in the dancing days: That his wife, named Adjuba,
was locked up lately in his mistress’s house for six days, her allowance beingonly one
plantain daily, (Complainant exhibiting some of their plantains); and that the very pot™
which she got water to drink, was to serve her, by her mistress’s order, as 3nL
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That his young master is very good, but his mistress is of too cruel a nature; that their

lowance is very little, and that they get no clothing at all scarcely: Finally, begs that he
may be sold elsewhere, as he is not able to bear it any longer there.

Louis :—Says Mr. Hyneman bought him when very young, and sold him to Mr.
goon; ne from. both of thesemastershe never wasill-treated ut since the deathof
Mr. Sanders his mistress treats them with cruel barbarity sometimes; that every negro is
obliged to bring home twelve bunches of shingles, although other negroes bring but six
weekly. That their mistress keeps them the whole Sunday employed with all sorts oftrifling
works: that they get only three cassavie cakes a week, with a little bit of salt fish: Finally,
that they get hardly any clothes ;, wishes therefore rather to be‘suld:- than remain with such
a cruel mistress, as certainly all of the negroes one day or other, after so much suffering,
willrun away in the bush. os

Negro David:—Says, that he is cow-minder to his mistress; that lately one ofthe cows
ot sick, for which his mistress ordered the driver to tie him up as fast as he could, which

caused dislocation at the time, and under which he is still suffering, (complainant looking
rather sickly and having the marks of his flogging still visible on his posteriors); that he
there received 150 lashes from Andries by his mistress’s order, who afterwards locked hith
up in the stocks in such a way that both feet and hands were fastened ; that his mistress
says, because he iscow-minder she gives him no Sundays, neither any allowance whatever,
Requeststobe sold.

_ Negro Carolus, from plantation Sandvoort:—Says, that he is sick and swelling, and that,
he cannot work as much as other negroes, although willing enough ; that the manager of
the estate, when he complains of his sickness, licks him instead of helping him. that even
yesterday he was twice licked ; that he requests redress might be given him.

Negro. Quintius, of plantation. Providence :—Says, that he is employed generally in
caitying canes in the punt; that the manageris so hard against him as to allow him hardly
any time to eat, although he does so much as he can ;, requests therefore redress might be
given him. 7

Tuesday 29th August 1820.
Examination of the negro woman Nelly and her child, belonging to Susannah:Stirk ;—

, ° coniplaining. =~
‘Complainant says, that her mistress behaves very cruelly to her, althoughshe has a child

of'three weeks only; her mistress nevertheless licks her, and tears her clothes-from her
body, leaving her now and then quite naked; her mistress saying that she is a bad ‘woman,
therefore wishes to be sold with her two children. :
Examination of the negro. Louis, from J. A. Delinert :~ Says, that long time ago his

master told (while lingeringunder sickness) that he would sell him as soonas ke recovered ;
thatlately as he was sent up to. his master after having béen some time here in town, instead
of finding treatment to keep a sick person, he was several times punished ; and as he is
now more recovered than he ever expected to be, so he requestsnow his master will keep
his word and sell him, as he told him so long ago.

Examination of the negro. Peter, belonging -to J. A. Delinert :—Says, that he gets
nothing: to eat but corn, and that as he is an old man he is-scarcely able to eat this corn;
that lately hewent into his master’s rice. field, where he took-a little rice, which the driver
observing, reported this to his master, who searched his house and took all the corn away,
which, as his allowance, he had lain up fora length of time ; that the driver is so severe, the
people are scarcely able to keep it out with him, he (the driver) often saying that he does
potscare whether the people hang-or drown themselves, or whether they run away in the
bush.

. ee September 8th, 1820.Examination of the negro M'Gregor, belonging to plantation Goldstone Hall :—Says,
that he is employed on the estate in the boiling of sugar; that for the last two days he was
sick, he represented the same to the manager, who gave him a glass of bitters, and senthim to his work again; that this physic having no effect upon him, he was met by the
managerin ‘the boiling-house, who asked him why he stood so easy there? upon which hetold himas before that he was sick; whereupon the manager ordered the driver to givehim
a flogging ;after which the manager told him that in case he did not go to his work directly
hewould give hima second flogging ; further, that the manager is generally very severe,andprincipally against sick people, which he, when they complain, drives always away;theflogging happened at about three o’clock yesterday.

er Thursday, 5th October 1820.
“xamination of. the negro Peter,. belonging to P. Nicholson:—Complainant says, that

at the time his master bought him. he told him at Vendue (even in the presence of the
fiscal) that he could not work at a task-gang; that his master (Mr. N.) told him then that

had an estate ; that nevertheless his master, soon after purchasing him, sold his estate,
a employed him, with others, in a task-gang, for the purpose of cutting fuel for the
tick-making: business ;that. he tried to do his best to please his master, but although
working Sometimes, till first cock-crow, without going to rest, he nevertheless could not

6. ; that he once, going to the fiscal to complain, was lain hold of at the Canje Ferry,
. an

Berbice :
 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
Ww

 



Berbice:

 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.

34 V.-FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

and received from his.master one hundred and fifteen Iashes with the whip, and who sent
him to. plantation Lonsdale to work on a-task-gang, withstrict orders to: keep lim.to’ cloge
work; that he being very willing to work, but’ totally unable, his back beingmuch lacerated,
that nevertheless the manager of the task-gang (Nixon) forced him to work, and as this
was fully impossible to hin on account of his still sufferingvery much, he received by order
of the manager (Nixon) again a new licking, which hurt him so much thathe crawled, bad
as he was, to town to complain, his posteriors. being then in a bad condition, as plainly
appears by the evident marks of the whip on the same.

/ Saturday, 28th October,
Examination of a complaint made by the negro Harry against the negroQuaco, botli

belonging to the Winkle department :—Says that six or seven months ago hewashired
out by Mr. Scott to Mr. Sutherland, the market-master; that one day he was sent by
Mr. Sutherland to Dr. Beresford’s to grind some coffee; that whilst employed in this the
negro’ Quaco came at the market-place, and took a. goat away in the pound; that
Mr. Sutherland went to complain about Quaco to Mr. Scott; that Quaco came soon after
this to him, (he being still at Dr. Beresford’s,) who calling out “ Da wa de matta;” to
which he rephed, ** Yes, da me;” upon which the negro Quaco, lifting up a bamboo stick,
gave him four blows on his side : that complainant then ran away to the hospital; that a few
days after having been there he was hired out to Mr. Robertson; that after being there for
a few months, he felt himselfunwell, and went to the hospital, where he has been for these
three months past, laid up with a pain in his side, occasioned from the licking received
from the negro Quaco six or seven months, as mentioned at the head of this examination.:

“Wednesday, i5th November 1820.
Examination of a complaint made by the negro woman Rosetta, belonging to plantation

Beerenstein :-—Says that Mr. Deussen, the manager, is extremely severe; that as he him-
self has a considerable quantity of stock he does not allow them to keep afowl, or any
thing at all, killing whatever he finds; that they are very much flogged, badly fed, and ill
treated by him, which causes general dissatisfaction.on the estate; that in consequence ofthis
several negroes, Elias Low, January and others, ran away to town to complain; and as it is
of no help to Jook for alteration in any other quarter but by the removal of said manager
Denssen and the driver Primo, who, instigated by Duessen, treatsthem very cruelly, so

‘she wished that her complaint might be investigated, being assured that all the people of
Beerenstein will confirm the same.

Wednesday, 15th November 1820.
Examination of a complaint of the girl Petronella against her owner, Alida Jones, free

negro woman :—Says, that her owner is daily flogging her, and although she does whatever
she can she is not able to please her; that shé is the only slave belonging to her, she
having sold last week thelast negro man she had over ; that as she is not able to do all what
her owner. burthens her with, so she is very wishful of being sold: further, that her owner
kept: her and sold her mother, with two of her brothers , at public vendue, (Mr. Gaymer being
purchaser of them,) telling her always that she would free her, but instead of that is cruelly
ill-treated.

Theresius, the mother, being present, confirms the truth ofthis by a long narration.

Examination of a complaint made by the negro Amsterdam, belonging to plantation
Sandvoort:—Says, that heis always affected with pains in his bones; that he has been
employed lately in picking coffee, trying his best to fulfil his duty; but as he could not
bring as much home as other people (who were healthy,) so the manager, Mr. Cameron,
licked“him witha horse-whip: that the manager curses him always, and when he goes to
the hospital is driven away; that he is not able to work now, and therefore comes to
complain.

= , Saturday, 25th November 1820.
Examination of a complaint of the negro woman Sally, belonging to Mr. Cameron :—

Says her master left her with Mr. Arthur, manager of N* 4, Canje; that Mr. Arthur treats
her shockingly ill; that she is constantly flogged by the driver, and also very badly fed;
that her. master, Mr. Cameron, who is living on the Courantyn Coast, seems to take no
notiee of her at all; that she is willing to do any thing, and isable to perform the work as
a field woman, ds well as any other; bat she cannot stand the ill-treatment of Mr. Arthur,
and therefore wishes to be sold. .

, Friday 1st December 1820..
Examination of a complaint of the negro Frans, belonging to plantation Philadelphia :—

Complainant says that he is very willing to attend to his business, when healthy; that some
time ago he was sent to plantation Goldstone Hall with other people, to work there; that
they got very little food, and were hard wrought; that some time after being there, he
fell sick; and wished to go to the manager, Mr. White, for physic, but was advised by the
driver not to go to Mr. White, as he was very hard against sick people; he therefore went
to the manager at. Philadelphia, but finding no redress there either, he went up t0
Mr. J. Downer, who advised him to go to Philadelphia again, which he did; but was tol
by. the manager that he did not care if he had been: to. the Fiscal or to Mr. Downer; but
that he would get him flogged at Goldstone Hall; and as complainantwas driven out of the
hospital, although headdressed himself several times to the manager, andnot being wish
ofturning a-runaway, he came to coniplain. .

Complaint
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_ December 2d, 1820.
Complaintof the. negro woman Anne, belonging to plantation Rotterdam :—States, that

her child January being sick, was sent to the hospital; it took an emetic; the attorney,

Mr. Prass, went to the doctor for physic; the doctor sent twelve powders of calomel; the

child took one of them; it was young, and could not walk; the physic affected it in that

manner that it could neither sucknor drink water ; I showed it to Mr. Prass, that the child
could not support it; the child died-on Monday night; the operation it passed, previous
toits death, was so offensive that no one could stay in the room; says she hasnothing far-
ther to say. She was then inquired ofher motive of coming to complain, whether it was
against the doctor, the attorney, or overseer; she replied, that she had represented it to.
Mr. Lens, the overseer, after giving the child.two powders; had stated that was enough;
put he had replied, “ The attorney told me the child must take these. powders, and there-
fore I must give them ;” she thinks the overseer was to blame; and it being her only child,
she feels the'loss severely, which was her inducement to say the child had taken too much
hysic. Inquired how she knew it was calomel; replied, she saw the powderwhite and
mixed with syrup, and afterwards from the effect ;, she had seen calomel mixed with syrup
given to the cook, and it had salivated her, which made her think it was calomel; she thinks
her child was affected on Friday.

"Mr.G. Press, the attorney and manager of plantation Rotterdam, was then examined
respecting the indisposition, treatment and death of the child January, and stated the child
was brought to the hospital; and it being the doctor’s visiting day, it was examined
hy him. The child appeared to me to have taken cold, oppression in the stomach and fever ;
the doctor prescribed; there is a prescription book in the hospital. I sent twice to call
the doctor to visit this child between the appointed days of regular attendance, andboth—
calls were immediately attended; some powders and a mixture were sent from town, for
this child, and the physic was administered as directed. On Sunday evening the hospital
negro, Adam, informed me the child was salivated; I went to the hospital, and it did
appear to me the child was slightly touched; I directed to discontinue.thepowders till
next morning (it being the doctor’s visiting day,) and continued the mixture; next morn.
ing the doctor attended; and although. the appearance was but suspicious of the. child
being touched, the doctor approved ofmy discontinuance of the powders. I think the
doctor directed the mixture to be given. The child died about midnight between Monday
and Tuesday;.the doctor saw the child fed with pap on Monday; the attendanceof the.
doctor was very regardful, and every care was shown to the child. I understood from the
overseer that the negress Anna, in the moment of grief, had exclaimed that the child died
from being salivated, and that the whites (meaning the overseer and myself,) knowing’ it
was calomel, ought not to have given it too much; I considered this expression to proceed.
from excess of grief, and theréfore did not notice it. , De

» Tuesday, 5th December 1820,.
Examination of the negro woman Mletje and her child Mars, belonging to plantation

Sandvoort:—-Says that she is very willing to work when healthy; that she went yesterday
morning sick to the hospital ; that instead of getting physic she received a flogging, and.
being still sick she comes to town to complain. .

December 6th. |
_ Examination of the negro -woman Marencia, belonging to the free black woman Sarah
Bourgeois, and complaining against the free black man Johannes De Vry:—Complainant
says that some weeks ago she sold to the frée boy, Cyrus, one bit’s worth of ginger, who.
gave her at the time two bits, she engaging to pay him the bit as soon as she could
change the two bits; that she unfortunately lost the two bits, but that her husband promised
her to pay the bit in question to Cyrus, and which she thought was all settled;but yesterday
going about with her tray to sell for her mistress, she was met by Cyrus, who wished to
take something out of her tray for payment of the bit above-mentioned, but was told by
her that they were not her things she was selling, buf she had bacobas of her own, of
which she gave him a bit’s worth out; that Johannes De Vry, being there also, took up
a piece of paper from the ground, saying he also wanted a bit’s worth of bacobas, but she
refusing to take this paper, as being no money, he began to curse her, upon which she said
that she had no business with him; he (J. De Vry) flew into a passion, threw her in a trench
with her child, licked her very-much, so that her eyes are both swollen ; and swore, that ifhe
had aknife in his pocket he would cut her throat, but locking and searching for a knife in
his pockets could find none 3 after much struggling, and with the assistance of the free
boy Cyrus, she was. released from De Vry, although stripped quite naked, and her
clothes torn to pieces;. after this, she went away; many people witnessed the same,
aniongst others the woman of Mr. Croft, to whom she is hired out. De Vry went after-
ardkto per mistress Sarah Bourgeois, and treated her very ill, licking and pinching her mi
é throat.

oe Wednesday, 6th December 1820.
Examination of the free woman Sarah Bourgeois, preferring a complaint against the free

man Johannes De Vry for assault, &c. &c.:—Says, that yesterday, being informed.by the
were woman Beatta that Johannes De Vry was licking and ill-treating her slave, the negro
bane Marencia,she immediately went up to said De Vry in the middle road (being then
‘sy licking Marencia before the house, which Cyrus mentioned. in the preceeding
478. examination,)
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examination;) hailed, and going up to De Vry, told him to let her gitl go unmolested
(Marencia being.there struggling with DeVry,and had an: infant childin Her amig),
upon which De Vry, loosing the woman Marencia, flew up to her (Sarah:Bourgeois):
licked. her also, and pinched her in her throat,calling her all kinds of. bad names, cursed
ler, and swore that if he had -a- knife in his pocket he would cut her throat as sure as he
lived; she being very much ashamed of this treatment went home after Marencia; all this
happened in the presence of Mhetje, Cohen, J. ¥. Broer, F. Brumont, and several other
free people. Complainant says that she did not give him the least abusive language, or
any thing of the.kind to said Johannes De Vry ;. says further, that De Vry in her opinion
was half intoxicated when he committed the attack upon her and her woman Marencia,
finally, complainant says: that Marencia’s child, in consequence of the ill-treatment received
yesterday, is unwell.

Saturday, December gth.

Examination of a complaint of the negro Cesar, belonging to Favre and Linde :—Says
that Mr. Linde, the acting person for this firm, is manager of plantation Meaw Johanna, in
which place he (the complainant) acts as a field negro ; that some time ago he was affected:
with the yaws very much, but which is nevertheless now on the decline; that heis able and
willing to perform his duty, but is prevented by his complaintto do as much as another;
that his master, Linde, continually licks and.ill-treats him, and that his hard behaviourjs
the cause of his coming to town.

Decemher 2gth..
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Primo, driver of plantation Beeren-

stein :—Says that the manager, Mr. Deussen, locked him up in the stocks during the whole
of the holidays, because the negro Thomas ran away from the estate, which was not. his
fault at all; that the manager also ill-treated him very much, tore his clothes and licked
him; that he comes to complain, wishing that the manager might be taken away, or that
he might be elsewhere employed. ,

Negro Bernard from the same place:—States, that the manager ill-treats them very.
much, forcing them. to hard work, and allowing them no breakfast time; that the manager
sometimes, ina passion, breaks and demolishes their houses, so that theycannot keep it
longer out with him.

Says, that the manager told him, that he had full power from the fiscal to do what he
thought fit, and would act accordingly.

Negro Lauw, same place :—Says, that he has been four times at Mr. Walker's to com-
plain about the manager, but that to the contrary the manager treats them worse than
before; says, that he has-no time for breakfast, but is forced to work from day-light till
evening; that whenever the manager comes in the field, he always finds fault with something
or other, saying that as he has full power from the fiscal to punish them, so ‘he will act
accordingly ; says further, that if Deussen is removed every thing will go on well.

Negro Hercules:—Says, that the manager is in the habit of giving them task-work,
which is so much that they are unable, but by the sacrifice. of their breakfast time, to com-
plete the same; that the managerisvery bad and cruel, so that if he remains every thing
will go on wrong; further, that the last holidays he would give him no pass to see his
friends on other estates.

Negro Primo:—States, that the manager went with bim in the bush to cut. leaves, for
the purpose of thatching the sheep-stalls and hog-pens of Mr. Deussen, the manager} that

he was licked by the manager, which makes his hands still swell; that he has no breakfast
time,.and is cruelly ill-treated by the manager; says, that he never complained before, but
is now compelléd, hoping that he may get another manager to live with. ;

- Negro. Ferdinand:—The same statement as that of Hercules, with this addition, that the
yadnager has full authority from the fiscal to punish them as he pleases.

Negro Primo:—Says, that the manager licks and ill-treats him, insomuch that hewill

not return to the estate if the manager be allowed to remain there, preferring punishment

jn town to ill treatment on the estate.

Negress Susanna :—Says she is sick, has a young child, and ‘is nevertheless wrought as

hard as any body-else; that she is allowed notime to give her breakfast to her child, and
is punished when the manager finds her with her child; ‘that on her child being once sick,

the manager locked her up, and forced a large glass of bark down the child’s throat. Fur-

ther, that-Mr. Deussen says that he is authorized to act as he pleases.

Negress Betsey, (in a staté of pregnancy):—Says, that Mr. Walker sent her on planta-
tion Beerenstein to work, but not to be punished; that the manager keéps them to wor
from the morning early till dusk, without allowing breakfast time; that the state which
she is in she cannot keep it out to fast a whole day; that one day she was sick in the
morning, but was forced to go to her work; that whilst in the field, on the same day she
got a severe fit, and the driver calling the manager to assist, who said he did not care!

she died; and, lifting up a fofoe pounder, threatened to break her belly; that afterwards
the manager went away, and she, recovermg2little, cooked something to refresh herself;
that the manager, on returning, took up the pot, and threw the eatables away, cursing au

damning her, and-saying that"he had full authority te do what lie pleased; that ner ly
scars
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scarcely allowed a sufficiency of plantains, as the manager has got so manyhogs,sheep
andgoats, and only feeding on their plantains. Further, that he ill-treats them so eruelly,

that they heartily wish he might be removed.

Negro Lea:—Says, that they are so overtaxed with work that they get no breakfast-time
stall; that the manager ill-treats them very much; that all the plantains growing on the
estate are almost wholly used by the manager’s immense stock of hogs, sheep, &c. &c.;
that nobody is able to please the manager but those alone working for his hogs, Kc. &¢. Kc.

Negro girl Zusetta :—Says, that she is not able to do the work imposed on her by the
manager; that when sick she is turned out of the hospital without being cured; that the
manager hardly raises any food but for his hogs, &c. &c.; that he ill-treats them very"
much.
 

FISCAL’S . OFFICE,

: - Tuesday, January ed: anno Domini 1821.
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Esterre against his master, Spangen-

burg :—Says, that the very day after the holidays his master gave them so much work that
they were unable to complete it, but obliged to leave some for the morrow; that their
master gave them again the next day a new tax, in addition to the remainder of yester-
day’s, and, as it was an impossibility to finish it all, they were flogged. Says, that his
‘master, who has been but a short time in this colony, and never was on an estate before, —
does not. know how to deal. with negroes, but lies always in trouble with them; that his
former masters never were dissatisfied with him, but are not able to please Mr. Spangen-
burg? That they get no clothes or any thing for their holidays, merelya little addition of
pork, and two pipes with some tobacco. Says further, that other negroes: at present in
town will confirm his truth of the above, and proves, by the state of his posteriors, that
he has lately been flogged.

Examination of the negro Samuel, also preferring a complaint against his master, Span-
genhurg:—-Complainant says, that they danced from Sunday evening till Tuesday night;
that on Wednesday they went to work, but as some of the people were still insobriated, so
the large task given them was not finished; that the next day their task was renewed,
with the addition of the remainder of the preceding day; that he, acting as driver, told his
master it was impossible to finish the same; that he (Samuel) himself being accustomed.
to the field work, could not accomplish it, much less the women; but that his master, who
kuows very little of negro work and treatment, insisted on the performance of the task
given; that consequently the task was not finished, and principally the women were. short
in this; that the next day they (himself as a driver included) were all flogged; that the
number of people working in the field consists-of four men and three women, and that
they are so overwrought by their cruel master that. they are scarcely. able to keep it out,
which is the cause of their coming to complain, his master saying that he has no: fear of
fiscal or any one else, but that he will flog them when he finds it proper. The negroes at
present in-town with their master, if called, would attest this. oe
That ‘they get nothing but a small piece of pork, a little fish, two pipes and some

tobacco; nothing else; no clothes: or any thing more; that they get also a week only
‘@ small bunch of plantains, and are generally very indifferently treated by their master,

Wishing, that as his master is a person who is always flogging them, and who knows
‘nothing of the work, that he, with his wife and brother, might be sold,. beingassured that
wheywould be able to please a reasonable master, who understands the working-and_ treat-.

nt of slaves. ‘

ae , Tuesday, Jdnuary 2d, 1821.
¢ Examination of the negro, Quamino, complaining against his master, F. Brittlebank.>—
Beal that his master ill-treats him very much; that he was sold by Mr. Kyte to. Mr.
i aie as cooper and carpenter, and that he is not able to pick as muchcotton as

eld negroes; his master nevertheless flogs him when he does not bring as much cotton.
as other people. on
tsSays, that some time ago many of them came to the ferry with the intention ofgoing
thatite ° complain, but were prevented by the ferrymen from crossing the Canje Cregk ;
which é scal then came to the ferry and ordered three of them to be flogged, amongst
his w t He oupleinant was one; that after flogging, the fiscal desired his master to dress
hone tee well; but that, on the contrary, his master did nothing to them when he.came

ine, but rubbed his back with brine and salt ; that in consequence he has suffered very
‘auch by this neglect.
onat his master is often in the habit of breaking open the doors andwindows oftheir

6ligea toonyareabsent, and generally behaves so badly to wards his people, thathe is
e gets no clothes at re ain. Says, that his allowance of provisions is wellenough, but

© Beart es January gd, 182.
crimination of a complaint preferred by the negro Sango against his master, F, White:

nora ae aleatk says, that his master behaves yery ill towards him ; gives him no clothes,
4y6 agte glass of rum on the holidays ; that he gets very little allowance, and is con-

‘ finually
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tinually flogged by his master; and as he is incapable of pleasing him, he requests to be

sold, as he is quite willing to do. what he can.

Decisions - . . : : :

eee oe Negro Edmund v. F. White:—Complainant says, that his master hired him out to p}
Complaints of “. : ne J : plan.

slaves. tation Providence, and that they are obliged to work there harder than on any other

estate; that he gets no clothes, blanket, rum, or any thing, and his master is very hard

towards him, which could be attested by more negroes from his master; so requests to be

sold.

Negro Conway v. I. White :—States, that his master also hired him out on plantatioy

Providence, and that they do more work and are worse treated than other estate negroes.

that his master gives him no clothes, no rum and as he, as well as others, is verycruelly

treated, he comes to seek redress.

Becbire:
 

Friday, January 12th.

Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro man, Matt, belonging to plantation

Vryheid :—Says, that he has been for a long time troubled with a swollen leg; that he
told his master that this, as well as his advanced years, prevented his working so much as
young people, and principally that he was more incapable of performing his task in rainy

weather than in the dry season ; that nevertheless his master-ordered him to perform the

same task as others, and as he is by no means able to do what is required of him, he is

continually flogged, which compels him to come and complain.

Examination of the negro Victor, from plantation Schumacher’s Surt, complaining against

his manager, Sander :—Says, that he was in the bush cutting wood, and his cutlass broke;

thathe asked his master for another, but instead of a cutlass. got a flogging; that the

ynanager, wishful of punishing him even more, brought him in the store for the purposeof

tyitig him up there, but that he escaped and came to complain.

Monday, 22d January.

Examination of the negroes Malhum and Phillis, his (Malhum’s) wife belonging to Mr,

Copperthwaite.

Complainant Malhum, speaking for both, says, that their master takes themupin the

bush to work in the dry season ; that since they went up they had neither a Sunday nor

a holiday; that their master wished to sell them to Mr. Galley, but not being able to

accomplishthis wish, he brought them down to town to sell at public vendue, but as he

appraised them too high, they were not sold at vendue; their master, desiring again to

dispose of them to Mr. Galley, and as they do not wish to be sold to Mr. G., neither

willing to work in the bush any more with their master, they wish to be sold to some one

else.

Examination of the negroes John, Profit, Thomas, Bob and. William, preferring a complaint

against. their master, William forsyth.

‘The negroes John and Profit, speaking for them all, say, that since their master bought

them from Mr. W. Fraser, they have been employed in several task-gangs, as with

Mr. Urlin, Mr, Grant, and Mr. White, in all which services not the least complaint was

lodged against them; that lately. they. have been ordered by their master to work with

Mr. Ross’s task-gang on plantation Sandvoort; that they are very hard treated, getting

scarcely an hour for breakfast or rest, and so mach overloaded with work, that they are

obliged to come and complain; and lastly, that they are willing to work, but not ina

task-gang.

January 22d.

Examination of the negro Woemdog, belonging to plantation Nieuwenhoop :—Says, that

there is a great.deal of work on Mr. Calmers’s estate ; so much, as even scarcely time to

allow them breakfast or rest; that on the top of this, the overseer (Rodaix) is very severe;

that the other day, (last Saturday the 20th) his task was extremely hard ; that in conse-

quence of this he could not bring as much grass as ordinary; that the bunch of grass

which he brought home was dirtied more or less by some accident, for which the overseer

(Mr. Calmers being absent) would flog him, but he protested against this; that yesterday

the overseer directed him to work in the garden, and as it was Sunday he refused; that

they get only little provisions, and finally wishes to be sold,

Tuesday, Gth February1821. _

Examination of a complaint preferredby the negroes Opdam and Edam, both belonging
to plantation Normere Nescio.

Negro, Opdam :—Says, that all the time he belonged to his former master, Mr. Van den

Broek, he never had the riame of being either lazy or unwilling to work; but that undet

the management of Mr. Sterk they are unable to please him. hat Mr. Sterk isinth

habit of giving uncommonly large tasks, and if a man be unable to finish the sem

he is then flogged; but if he performs it, then his task is augmented. by the next day;

that Mr. Sterk hides some of the provisions sent for themby Mr. Ross, which. provisions

and other things Mr. Sterk is in the habit of sending to his mother-in-law, Mrs. Sanderss

that he is also very hard against them when sick, driving them continually outofthe al
?
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‘tal. even so as to endanger their lives; that the negro woman Tansje, or Amba, although
pital, € bad state, and several times applying for redress, was nevertheless driven to the
mid te ork ‘but fainted at her hoe, was carried home, and died suddenly; that the last
fetes their whole allowance consisted only of a smallpiece of pork, which they repre-
te ito the manager, and went to complain to Mr. Ross; that instead of amusing them-
ae in this holiday, as other negroes did, they were flogged and ill-treated; that it is

3long time since they received either hat, blanket, jacket, or any thing as other negroes

receive on holidays.

Neoro Edam :—Lodges the same complaint.
. >

Monday, March 5th.
Examination of complaints preferred by the negroes Midas, Noach, Vrydog, Cryspin,

Frederick, Philander, Samuel, George and Cortdon, all belonging to plantation
Itheca, against their manager, J. C. Wolf?

Nevro Midas:—Says, that when Mr. Wolff took over theestate it was full of grass;
that he gave them 120 trees length to cut grass, on condition that as soon as the plantation
was cleansed of grass that then he would lessen this large task; that after finishing this,
Mr..Wolff put them to cut and trim sandkoker trees, and ordered them that each man
should dig up an old two-foot trench, running along a whole field, and to do this in one
day, each trench; that the driver reported in the evening that they had not been able to
do this, on which Mr. Wolff ordered them all to be locked up, and gave them every one
the next morning a flogging. Dr. Beresford was present when they were flogged. That the
nextdaytheygot a new task, as on the former one, and also being unable to finish the
same, the managet order them on coming home to receive no dram, (the overseer just
being occupied to serve dram to the other gang),to lockthém up again, and threatened to flog
them the next morning; and as complainant says to be unable to finish the task, so he
with others comes to Complain.

Negro Noach :—States the same, with this addition, that he requests the work which
Mr. W. gives them may be viewed, and that it is much harder than any other plantation
negroes are wrought.

Viydog:—As the above ; that their former masters never gave them such large tasks 5
that the trench'in question has not been dug up for several years. a
Negro Cryspin :—States the same ; adding, that although he wrought from morning till

night without eating, he had not beenable to finish the task.

Frederick :—The above; that he is strong and willing enough to work, but that he is
unable to finish this task ; that Itheca negroes have never been in the habit of complain-
ing ; but Mr. W., who is administrator and’manager, is too hard against them.

Philander :—The same ; that whilst cutting grass, he and several other negroes sacrificed
their breakfast time to.be ready; but that Mr.WW. gives them now-such work as they are
thable to perform; an old. trench filled up with sandkoker roots and other trees must
be dug:two feet. broad and one shovel deep, by a whole field’s length, and by one man
alone in'a day; is work never given them by any manager before ; they always were em-ployed:in such work by two people.

, Negroes Samuel, George and Coridon state the same; that this trench never had. beendug up for eight years ; that they never did such work before but by twopeople.

; March 15th.Examinationof the negro Andries, belonging to Peter Nicholson :—Says, that whilst hismaster employed him himself he never heard any complaint about him, neither went heever to complain, or intended to run away; but that since he is wrought in a job-gang atplantation Sandvoort, under Mr. Davies, he has cause of complaint, being very hardwrought,ill-treated, and badly fed by Mr. Davies; that few days ago he complained tohim ofhaving nothing to eat, upon which Mr. Davies ordered him to be flogged; but heescaped, and came to prefer this complaint.
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Martin, from plantation Grant :—

Says, that his master bought him from plantation Kert Bernad; that he has wrought
under:him. in several jobs, and assisted to make the canal at the back dam of the town ;thathis master never found fault with, or everlicked him; that he has also had no causecomplaint whilst with his master; but since his master hired him out to work in a job-pang at plantation Sandvoort, of which Mr. Davies is the manager, he prefers the follow-ing cause of complaint:
tt at on Saturday he was almost unable, through pain in his neck, to finish his work,ub nevertheless completed it; that last Monday he went in the morning early to complainSande Davies to give him physic ; that Mr. D., instead ofassisting him, ordered Billy ofMr Cort, the driver, with four other negroes, to lay him down; that although he told
MK - De Was never unwilling to work when well, he was, notwithstanding, flogged; Mr.enzie, the carpenter, was a witness to the whole; that after flogging, he told Mr.
“et he wouldgo to the fiscal to complain.
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- __° March arth,
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Quick against his master, Nicholson;

—Says, his master bought him from Mr. Zeigler as a cooper; that he has always pleased
his master, who put him to the field work as well as he could; that lately his master sent
him to work on plantation Sandvoort under Mr. Davies; that Mr, D. gave him so heay
a task that he was unable to complete it; that he therefore went to his master, Mr. Nj.
cholson, to complain ; that he heard him, but returned him, witha letter, to Mr. Davies,
who, after reading the same, gave him a loging (the effects of which are still very visible
on the back); after receiving the same, he told Mr. Davies that he would go to complain,
Says further, that his master deals very indifferently with them.

Examination of negto Sidney, complaining against Mr. Nicholson, his master :—Com.
lainant says, that he formerly was wounded byMr. Mershart, and that since this accident
he ig not able to perform the same work as whilst with his. former master (Ward); that

nevertheless Mr. Nicholson sent him in a task-gang. under Mr. Davies; that this Mr, D,
is extremely cruel, and makes them work very hard, continually flogging them ; that bein,
unable to do what is demanded of him, and being besides badly fed and ill-treated, and
unwilling to turn a runaway, he prefers a complaint. \

Reply of Thomas Davies, manager of the task-gang belonging to Nicholson and Grant:
States, that the task given to the gang on plantation Enfield was five roods of the founda
tion of the dam for digging the trench, ten feet wide, this being the second clearing; that,
he quitted his work in the morning, and went to his master, informing him he had finjshed
his task, but was flogged and ill-treated by the driver; that, on inquiry, it appeared. the
driver had given him only four lashes. He also informed his master the driver was intoxi-
cated; he was absent two days; he brought a letter from Mr. Nicholson; the task had
notbeen finished the day previous to his leaving the estate; and on my going into the field
the morning he stated to. Mr. Nicholson the driver had been drunk, Ifound it to be untrue.
On his return I directed him to be laid down, and gave him from twenty-five to thirty
lashes; he acknowledged the justness of the punishment.

' (Sidney.)—States, that the negro Sidney came to complain that his arm was swollen; it
appeared that he had tied it up very tight with a piece of string; I cut the string, finding

_the swelling occasioned from the tying, I put him in the stocks; on Saturday morning
Ireleased -him; he brought my breakfast; I directed him to return; on my coming home,
about four or five o’clock in the afternoon, I found him in the barraba, complaining of the
belly-ache; I directed him home; he remained aback all night; next morning’said he was
very: well; I considered he had been trifling with me, and ordered him to be contined that
day in the stocks, (being Sunday); Monday morning [released and directed him to his ~
work; I met-him going aback; he met Quick; they conversed for some time; I con-
tinued my way aback; Sidney did not come to his work; they bothwent to the sick
house; on my return in the afternoon, I found they had gone away; the gang receives:
weekly two bunches of plantains and two pounds of fish ; sometimes one, two, and thre
drams, according to their work.

Reply of J. Deussen, manager of plantation Beerenstein:—I directed Primo to lock the
negro Thomas in the stocks; Primo was confined in a chain, by permission of the fiscal;
instead of putting his feet in the stocks, he laid them upon the same, and the next morn:
ing Thomas was off, I received the above information from the old negro man Janzen, and
the negress Lezetta; they called up about four o’clock, and told nie Thomas had jumped
out of the window; the chain was locked in the stocks. Upon my taking Primo to task
about this, he behaved with great impudence ; this was during theholiday; I locked him
up from nine o’clock in the morning till half-past three; 1 then released him, at the request
of the gang; I never struck him, nor caused himtobe flogged; he had ona shirt, but
1 deny having torn it. The day following the holidays he came, with: all the people,
requesting the day; this I refused. 1 told them to work part of the day; they refused}
I, however, compelled some, by threatening to flog them. At night I gave them thelt
rum, and found, in the morning, Primo had absented himself with them that came to
complain,
With respect to Bernard’s complaint.—Bernard being a carpenter, I never gave him any

task, having none to give; he never wroughtin the field; he attends to any repairs that
are required, and therefore always jobbing. [am generally the whole day in the field, and
never attend whether he takes a regular breakfast time or not. J show him what is to be
done; and when he reports it finished, 1 give him new work.

(Lauw.}—Is a field negro; I give the field people just one half the task that is given 0
other estates; the task in weeding is from 7 to 8,000 feet; I give them 4,680; they that
finish this get a dram; they that do-not get none; if theydo little ornothing of this
task,which often occurs, they are confined that night in the stocks. |

(Hercules.)—Is a field negro; has the same task, and the above answer refers to his case.
I gave orders, during the last holidays, that none should go out withont a pass; he never
asked me for one, or I would have. given it to him. “The burgher officer recommend?
every manager to keep their gangs at home; this man went out at night, and did not
return till third day; finding the negroes had gone to complain, he took the com
belonging to the driver, and followed them. (Primo)

rid.
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)—-Leaves have been cut for covering the cow and hog pens ; I once gave him six
e complaint of Primo, the driver, that he did nothing; I deny ever striking

he has been swollen once; the driver, Primo, brought him to me to

(Primo.
lashes; on th
him myself;
show it me. .

(Ferdinand.)—I solemnly declare never to have made use of the expression; I never em-

loyed him more than one day in the field; finding he was unaccustomedto this work,

1 put him to plant corn; he joined Hercules in leaving the estate, and was with him-absent

three days ; he accompanied Hercules to town.

(Primo.)—Is an old man,whose employment is, with another man, to pull grass out of the

trenches; I have had him ‘punished by the driver for not doing -his work, once, twice, or

thrice; he has been punished since I have been on the estate; he is often in the habit of
absenting himself one or two days; I have been obliged to pay for taking him up.

(Susanna,)—No task has ever been given her during two days she planted corn; it being

rainy weather I gave her and another woman a jacket to make: they took it to town;

[have never got it back. Once her child was sick; I found it was costive; I gave it &

little rhubarb. and sugar; it was greatly relieved by it. Iwas directed by Mr. Walker to

make:her weed grass; but having a young child, and the weather being very wet, I never

put her to the:hoe.

(Betsey.)—Mr. Walker sent her to be employed in the field; she said she could not endure

the sun and tain, being a house servant. Iput her to split leaves; refusing this, I put her

in the stocks, and wrote respecting her'to Mr. Walker. Next morning she requested to be

allowed.to go in’ the field; she wrought one day with the hoe; finding she did nothing

I put her to plantcorn., The day after the holidays she refused to work; I directed they

shouldbreakfast at ten o'clock; at eleven I said they should split manecool; on going to
the place where they were, and giving this order, she took her calabash ofvictuals and

threw them away. ‘The driver told me she had a fit; I sent for a bottle ofnew rum, and

throwing some in the driver’s hands made him rub her temples ; when she recovered1 told
her'togohome; she didso. I told her at night to sleep in the hospital, and asked her if

she had a blanket: she said she was well, and intended going to work next morning. That

night she went away. Denies ever to have struck her, far less with the weapon she states :

denies ever giving any other plantains to the stock than fallen ones. The cows belong to

the estate, the shéep also; the hogs are mine: I have a good many, large and small ones,

about fifty; I am allowed to keep them,

(Lea,)—Is a good working woman, one of the best disposed persons on the estate ; the
task given her is the same as the former ones.

_(Susette:}—Was employed in the field; havingbut one person to cook, I took the mother
of this girl to assist. I employed a woman in town to wash my clothes ; they were brought
home by the woman, having her two children with her. This girl stole a chain from this
moma, valued at two joes, which [ had-to pay for; I therefore turned her out of the
ouse. .

, Friday, March goth.
_ Examination of a coniplaint preferred by the negroes Trim and Rose, belonging toplanta~-
tionNe 49, Courantyn Coast :—Tyim says, that he knows very well that a negro is to work, he
does hisduty but‘cannot please the manager, Mr. Austin; that the driver is continually finding
fault with and licking him too much; that when complaining about this to the manager,
he.gets for answer, “ It is your master’s work ;” says, that when negroes are sick and go
to the manager, instead of giving them physic, he drives them away with a horse-whip.

Rose:—Says she lost her husband and child lately ; that the manager treatsher veryil;
that the child whereof she was delivered died on the third day; that the manager made her
go'to: work too soon after her delivery; that he locked her up at night in the stocks, and_
made her work in the day ; that she told Mr. Kewley, her master, repeatedly of the several
illtreatments which she received from Mr. Austin; but as Mr. Kewley gives her no

aasistance,she is obliged to come-and complain.

April sth, 1821.
Examination of complaints preferred by the negroes Jiunius, Brook, Abraham, La Fleur,

Layfield, Turf, Bob, Sancho, Batiera, Hercules, Warren, Tobol, Wilson, Solomon,

Baggot, Cascot, Primo, Kiaas, Scott, Coynin, Thomas, Juan, . Bost, Tonna,Neptune
and Primo, belonging to plantation Hampshire ; owner, William Cort. ;

Junius :—Says, they get onlyone ‘bunch of plantains a week, no fish, and are extremely
herd wrought and ill-treated ; sometimes they get only twenty ears of com aweek; aVE

ome an allowanceof clothes, bat nothing to the men. Their master never gives ther

masterne veh dram at all: never are allowed to raise any fowls or other kinds of stock, their

th Flayshold ofand kills them. When they are sick, negroes master, instead of giving
em physic,licks them. ;

Negro Brook, and the other negroes say the same,particularly adding that their master:

meate them very much, and feeds them badly ; say and add further, that theirmasterafter
their
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their own corn and other provisions were ripe, they were taken from them by him, ang
made use of to his own benefit. The corn earned by them was raised. from that given /

them by their master as allowance.

March 1th.
Examination of the boy Emanuel, praperty. of Miss Green, at ‘present employed by

Mr. Bell, attorney at law, as an evidence. agaiust the mulatto slave, William, belongin
to Thomas C. Jones, suspected by Mrs. Smith of having broken into her house and steal-
ing from thence sundry articles :—States, that on Tuesday morning witness was passing the.
alley where William lives, witness was carrying bricks; William spoke to him, wishin
him good morning ; witness stopped to speak to William; saw on his finger a gold ring,
apparently three on each side, and in the centre wrought with hair; this ring attracted
witness’s notice; he took it off William’s finger and examined it; William then pulled
out two breast pins, one had hair in it and a gold letter, the other had hair also, but no
pin; the glass of one was broken; witness asked where the pin of one was; William
replied,. that it was broken ; the pins belonged to his sister he said, the ring to a female ;
witness asked what female? William replied, I will not tell you ; witness saw these articles
again next day in the possession of William; witness heard that Mrs. Smith had sent to
inform Mrs. Bell her house had been broken open and sundry articles stolen, amongst
which were rings, breast pins, &c.&e. He thenacquainted Jemima, Mrs. Bell's servant,
he had seen these things in the possession of William; no person was with us when
William showed the pins and ring to me.

William in reply states, that the boy Emanuel did pass the alley on the morningStated:
that he William showed him a bottle of wine which he had opened in the night for
Mr. Jones, who desired him to take it away as it was sour. Emanuel said, what is that?
I replied, sour wine: Emanuel answered, [ thought it was something better; they then
entered into discourse. I showed him a breast pin, the pin of which being broken:
Emanuel asked me whose it was? I said my sister’s; Emanuel wanted it, took it ‘out of
my hand and ran away with it. I followed and overtook him at the middie road and
retook the pin; denies having had a ring or another breast pin; says his two sisters were
near when he was speaking to Emanuel.

Emanuel admits he took the pin out of joke and ran away with it; says the two sisters
were in view, but not near to them when speaking; Emanuel says he went to Mr. Jones
at eleven o’clock to-day; says William’s sister said the breast pin was her’s; William
denies having seen Emanuel on the Wednesday morning; Emanuel persists he did.

Evidence of Arabella Jones, free. mulatto-girl :—-States, after being told ofthe foregoing
evidence of the boy Emanuel, she can affitm she never saw William, her half brother,
with the ring before-mentioned; that she had a brooch, the pin of which was broken,
which.William iook to get repaired; that she did see the boy Emanuel pass the alley they
live in.with a basket, but has no recollection of seeing him conversing with William but
on Wednesday. evening past, but knows nothing of any conversation between them;
exhibits the brooch that William had, but returned her; can attest that she has not seen
William in possession of the ring or brooch described by Emanuel. Her father, Mr. Jones,
is at present confined with the gout; he had gout on Monday night; William did not
attend him that night; he never stops with him during the night;Willvani has a house in
the yard, but does not know that he slept there on Monday night.

Emanuel called in, and the brooch producedby Arabella, showed to him; he indentifies
it as. one of the two broochesWilliam had.

William called in, and on inquiry states, that he attended his master till late Monday ©
evening; he was in the hall; Mr. Quin and Divain were there; after they went, and
master -went up, I went up to my.room ; the. baker’s. boy (Jem) came into my room and
stopped sometime with me. I then went to sleep, after giving him at his requestalittle oil;
there is nobodylives in the room with me.. Says, that Emanuel came. yesterday at eleven
o’clock; I accused himof having informed some one that I had taken Mrs. Smith’s brooch,
ring, &c. as the scout had been that morning to search my house. He askedme wha was
my author; I said never mind, it must be you, for refusing to let you keep the brooch;
what induced you to accuse me? He said,I accused you because you bear bad character;
my. sister and anegro,man named Tom, belonging to Mr. Warde, were present ; when I was
taken up yesterday, I left: Tom at Mr. Jones’s,

Arabella examined :—States, that Emanuelcame to William yesterday, inquiring if he
had any silk shawls or jewels for sale, or if he knew of any one that had ?' William said,
I hear you told Mr. Bell I stole at Mrs. Smith’s, and inquired why he had accused him!
manuel answered, aftersome conversation passingbetween them, because you bear bad
character,

It is to be observed, that Arabella has not seen William to have been able to hold any
conversation since he was taken up yesterday about 2 or 3 o’clock, and that shegives
this evidence from being desired to state whether she had seen, Emanuel in Mr. Jones's
yard yesterday, if he had any conversation with William, and if so, to state all thecon-
versation she overheard between them; adding, moreover, that Mr. Warde’s boy was 10the room lying down, but does not know ifhe was asleep or not.. .

Examination
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Examination of the negro Tom,belonging to Mr. Warde :—-Says, yesterday forenoon he
was up in William’s loft lying down, William was there also; a black. boy, who now
stands at the door, came up and sat down at the door: William and he began to speak;
William said, he understood the boy had toldsome one that he had jewellery ; the boy
denied it, and inquired, who told you so? William did not tell him; they continued talk-
ing, and the boy said, people think you have these things.

Wednesday, 16th May.
Examination of the negro woman Susanna, belonging to and in the employ of his

Excellency the Governor :—-Siates, that her daughter Eliza is hired out by Mr. Walker to
arson Austin; that Mr.Walker.ordered her daughter, as well as other young women

under his charge, to sleep every night in his house; that during the time that her daughter
has been hired out to Mr. Austin she came every evening to sleep at Mr. Walker’s house,
but that only on Monday night last she. did not come; for which reason Mr. Walker
arrested her last evening, kept her the whole night in confinement, and sent her this
morning, with her hands tied, to the colony hospital, to put her in the stocks: That ag
a mother, the behaviour of Mr. Walker towards her daughter affects her very much;
that Mr. Walker is in the habit of locking up several young women: That Saunetye, one
of the girls sleeping every night in Mr. Walker’s house, told Mrs. Walker of Eliza’s
absence the night before.

May 3oth, 1821.
Examination of 4 complaint preferred by the negro Crawfurd, belonging to Mr.George

Sutherland :—Says, that he served his master a long time without ever being flogged;
that his master lately became displeased with him, and had him tied up one morning and
flogged, telling him after the flogging that he would get another punishment; for which
reason he broke out of the stocks, and came to complain.

His master found fault with him for once leaving the windows open at night. He had
always had his master’s keys, never any thing missed ; but his master accused him lately
of having made away with some rum.

Mr. Sutherland, after reading the above, says this is all truth; flogged the boy for
leaving the windows open and stealing spirits. The boy, after receiving the flogging,
escaped; threatened to give him a second flogging, but had not the least intention of doing
80, merely to frighten him.

Friday, 15th June.
Examination of the coloured girl Magdaleentje, and the negroes Andries and Michael,

belonging to plantation Beerenstein, complaining against the Manager of the said
estate. : . .

‘Magdaleentje :—Says, that Deussen, the manager, is extremely severe against them,
giving large taxes of. work, which they are unable to finish, and. when not completed he
flogs them. Says, that last Friday they were sent to Mr. Calmers’s place to break com;
that only, on Saturday evening at 12 o’clock, they came at plantation Beerenstein; other
people were dancing already, near 8 o’clock; that the manager would flog her, and that,
as she deserved no flogging, she comes to complain. The dissatisfaction is general on the.
estate, and more people will come to complain.
The manager is in the habit of taking the whip out of the driver’s hand, and flogging

us himself; his strokes are at random, and often very injurious, cutting away with the
whip in all directions. Says, that although they are hard wrought, it is no earthly use
whatever, as the hogs of Deussen, the manager, completely spoil every thing.

Negro Andries:—Says, that‘a week before ‘the holidays he was sick, with a stiff-neck;
went to the manager, who sent him to the hospital, and kept him there (although he de-
sired to go out) till Saturday, without allowing him to go out, or permitting any body to:
come near him; that Sunday morning early he broke the stocks to go in the negro-houses
to get something to eat; that in the mean time the manager came into the hospital, locked
the same, and complainant,.on his return, went through the window. Monday morning
the manager found him in the hospital, asked him how he came in; said, through the win-
dow. Asked him who unlatched the staple of the stocks; replied, he himself, because he
could get nothing to ease himself, nor could get any thing to eat, because nobody was
allowed to come near him’; manager said, because he did this (as it was now holiday) he
should flog him on the morrow, (Tuesday). The staple was fastened again, and the com-
Plainant was put in the stocks with both feet. Monday night complainant broke the
staple off again, hid himseif” till- Thursday morning,. took a coriall fromhisestate, and
came down here this: morning. early, Says, manager is too hard’ against them; cannot
€ep if out longer.

a Michaet‘Says, that he was ordered to dig a two-feet trench, one and a half shovel
eep, along the distance of twenty-four plantation trees; that as fast as he goes on, the

to's of the manager are spoiling his work; that sometimes he works as late as § o’clockleesin his job; that he has hardly time to breakfast; that he begged the manager for
476. g¢ and see his mother, but couldnot gain permission, 4

. n
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‘In the whole field, or on the while estate, there are no plantains, the manager's hogs

spoil the whole; the gang is extremely dissatisfied on account of the bad behaviour of
the manager.

Monday, June 18th, 182i, ,

Examination of the manager Deussen, ofplantation Beerenstein :—Says, there is nobody

on the property who has a tax equal to negroes given them on other estates, as may be

sproved by Messrs. Sterk and Calmers: That he even favoured Magdaleentje with the assist.

ance of a strong negro man, Helmaker, the best negro of the property, to finish her task;

all people might finish their task by 11 o’clock if they wished, as they get no more than

the half of an ordinary tax. Says further, that with regard to the breaking of corn on

Mr. Calmers’s place, they only broke four baskets a-day, and that the people could have,

without any trouble, been at home at 12 o’clock on Saturday. Says, that as long as she

has been with him she never received anyflogging.

Deussen, manager, respecting the complaint of Andries :—States, when he first came
on the estate was put to weeding grass;. that instead of finishing his small tax, he

scarcely completed one-eighth of the same, pleading his excuse of being troubled with

a lame corn. Mr. Walker, who was. present when he complained about this, told me

that he (Mr. Walker) knew nothing about this, for which reason [put him then to

pick coffee; that he then brought one or two hats full of corn, although other negroes

brought a complete full basket of coffee. Ithen, after this, put him to dig, with the

threat of punishing him if he did. not fulfil his given task; he completed this task three

days; but on the fourth, on account of complaining of a stiff-neck, I sent him to the.

hospital. This was on the 3d.of June; on the 5th and 6th, after having administered

the proper articles to his neck (although nothing was to be seen,) I asked him how.

he felt; he said he was not yet better. The 7th and 8th I saw him coming out of the,

field; I met him in the negro houses; asked him what he had to de there? On my

questioning him if he were better? he replied, “ No!’ upon which I put him in the

stocks for his better recovery; he remained in the stocks till the 1oth; in the after-

noon I ordered my boy to let him out to amuse himself, (then holiday); in the even-

ing I desired’ him to-go in the hospital again. On my going there also, I found that

‘the stocks were injured and broken; Andries was not there then. The other morning,

en my going into the hospital, [ found him there; 1 asked him how he came in; said

through the window; asked him who broke the stocks; said he did not know. To

secure him well, I then put him with both feet in the stocks, until I had a new pair

ready by evening; this was merely to inform me who broke or forced the other

stocks; he then told me (whilst beating with his hands on the stocks,) that if 1 did

not- loose him, or would flog him, that then he would learn me something which

I should remember; I took no notice of this, but ordered him to be put in the new

stocks; the next morning the stocks and window were broke open, lock and staple

gone, and prisoner absent.

Manager Deussen against the complaint of Michael:—Says, I ordered an old trench,

one foot broad, one deep, and 240 or 250 feet long ; other negroes have always done this,

and I never heard any complaint about the same.’ Mr, Walker can judge about the other

eomplaint himself, as he was on the estate, and has seen the whole. All diggers receive,

every evening at six o’clock, a dram; complainant was always present there. On the

14th instant complainant Michael waswatchman ; instead of minding his duty, he took

two people from the estate with coyars, and absented himself. I never punished, nor had

any complaint against him, but that of absenting himself whilst watchman.
I

Friday, June 2gth.

Examination ofa complaint of the negro woman Pucelia, from the Winkle department,

against Leopold Cohen :—Says, that last Tuesday, 12th instant, went past the house

of Cohen, who called her in several times; upon which she went only in the railing.

Cohen asked her who gave her the frock which she had on; she told him that it was hers;

he repeated the question ; I told him that I had it as a present; he came then at once out

of his house, shut the gate of the railing, telling her she should not go away before she

told him where she got the frock; I told him that I could not tell this; he struck me then

five times with his hand; I then-made the gate open and went away, after I had toldhim

that I should complain about this to the fiscal. ‘Cohen told her that she stole this frock

from his house, it being one similar (he said) to those lately stolen from him.

Friday, June agth.

_ Examination of the negro woman Jacobina, alias Jacoba, belonging to L. C. Abbensetts:~

Said negro woman has been brought this morning to the fiscal’s office, and after examini-

tion has been returned to her owner.

Friday, July 11th.

Examination ofthe negro Prince, preferring a complaint against his master, Mr. ohnLay-

field :—Says, that till the holidays he wrought in the field ; that after the holidays were ovet

he went to the field again; that his master sent the negro man Thomas to the field to fete

him, the complainant, home soon in the morning; that he was put, by his master’sorders,
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that after having been there for two days, his master came at night to him with

a bayonet in his hands, sticking and beating him during the whole night with the same ;

Hamlet and. Thomas were watchmen ; his masterill-treated him very much, even took a gun

4 beat him so much with it upon his skull, that his whole head is still inflamed with the

heating. Says, that he gets neither salt fish or any thing else, except a small allowance of

jantains. Says, that the negro Frederick, also belonging to his master, has been cut in the

head, jaws and mouth by his master, and was at the time when he left him ina very bad state ;

ifhe had not been so bad he would also have come to town to complain. The manWill was

present5 his master took aloaded gun, intending to shoot Will, but he ran away.

the stocks ;

July aist.

Complaint of negro Mourani, the property of Mr. Quarless:—Says, that he alone is

cook for creoles, for hogs; alsobutler, sick-nurse, hunter, &c.; that he has done every

thing to please his master, but that it is impossible to succeed; that last Tuesday his

master put him to so many things that he was unable to get the dinner in proper time : at

half past four o'clock all was on the table. Mr. Quarless ordered him to sit at the table

andeat this late dinner, and if he did not sit down then he should be flogged; complainant

therefore ran away, hid himself in the bush on account of the search which Mr. Quarless

made after him, and comes now to complain.
Complainant’s wife Jacoba, and his brother Bachus, may prove the above; both these

people are in a poor condition.

Wednesday, July 25th.
Examination of the negroes Phelip and Leander, belonging to plantation Bertingdigheid,

complaining against their manager Luyken. :

Negro Philip:—Says, that their former masters allowed them to keep hogs; but that
Mr. Kneger, nor the manager Luyken, will not permit them to keep hogs, although
Mr. Kneger and the manager have a great quantity on the estate. The complainant says
he has a few hogs which he keeps very close, not allowing them to go out at all; that last
Sunday evening the manager ordered the overseer and the driver to kill all his hogs early
the next morning; that he was awake when the overseer came for this purpose in his house,
and requested him not to do this until he saw the manager: went there with the overseer,
and requested the manager to give him leave to sell his hogs in town, who then told him
that he would lock him in the stocks and should not allow him to go to work. Complainant
refused to go in the stocks, as he had done nothing but as to ask him (the manager’s) leave
to go and sell his hogs in town, who told him if he wanted a pass to go to the fiscal to
complain he might have one; he had stood a worse case at Waakzuamheid and came
through it without loss, and did not care, he should give them a pass to go and complain.
Complainant accepted of this offer; but not receiving a pass, went to town whilst the
manager was in the fields. : oe,
Manager has a spite against complainant, although none ofhis former masters could find

fault with him. Complainant is a mason, and often works at Mr. Kneger’s, who never has
any thing; wrought every where, never had any trouble, but as soon.as he comes on the
estate the manager commences to go quarrel with him.

Leander :—Says, that Mr. Luyken seems to. be placed on the estate for the purpose of
punishing them; never had such a bad manager before. The manager says that he has orders
from the attorney, Mr. Kneger, to punish Philip and myself in particular; but does not
believe this, as Mr. Kneger is too just and good to give such order. Last Monday morning
early the overseer came in his house, with two drivers, and killed in his, fowl-house ten hogs :
if they had been out this act might have been reasonable; but, in his own house, complainant
conceives this deed to be very wrong. Complainant, whilst the drivers and overseers were
employed to kill them, represented the unjustness of it; but they said itwas in conformity with
the manager’s order. After they had done their work complainant went with them to the
manager, and told him that he had no reason to point him out alone. Manager ordered
him in the stocks. Complainant said he had done nothing to deserve this punishment.
Manager insisted ; and said, that ifhe wished to go to fiscal to coniplain he might, and
Would give him a pass. Complainant accepted of this offer, and waiting in vain for a pass
went to represent his grievance in town.
Could have gone to Mr. Kneger, but did not, because the manager says that it is by

Mr. Kneger’s express orders that he punishes them.
Complainant is the head carpenter on the estate.

Examinat; ; Wednesday, August 1st, 1821.
Xamination of a complaint preferred by the negro woman Jenney, against her mistress,

the coloured woman Elizabeth Ann Sanders alias Elizabeth Atkinson
Complainant Says, that when her mistress bought her she hired her out to Miss Kitty
ohne Complainant remained there for four months. The negro Patt was then sent
1 fe oy er home by her mistress’s order; as soon as she came into the yard she was tied
shen the cooper’s shop by Patt, and licked by Betsey Atkinson with a large bunch of keys ;
pre *ccusing complainant of having made poison to kill her. Complainant was at that time
was for three months,and was so kicked and trampled on her belly by Betsey Atkinson,

she ni Soon as shewas locked up hand and feet in the stocks, and licked again on her back,
atten ded ee this was almost half an hour after the punishment; Dr. John Beresford

6. her when in this situation. Miss Rosina Billot, La Rose’s housekeeper, tied

” complainant’s
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complainant’s belly, and gave the requisite assistance in this case. All the negroes in the
yard, as also her husband August, from Maria Tenmarch, are acquainted with what hap.
pened on this occasion. Complainant says further, that Betsey Atkinson accused her of
having sent her child to steal several articles; was obliged to drink a parcel of clay taken
from Grrifin’s grave, and mixed with rum, as a proof of her guilt, by her mistress’s ordey,
After drinking this, complainant got a paper to be sold; said the clay was dug by Mary,
Ann and James; states that her child Philip is extremely ill-treated, and is never allowed
to come nearher. The child is exhibited; marks of severe flogging over the whole body,
Says she receives a good allowance.

Complaint of negro Sancho, belonging to Thomas White :—Says he was sent to cut fire.
wood at Edinburgh; was there nine days; cut two and a half cords. Massa sent to call
me, and hired me to Mr. M‘Kay; massa sent a boy to call me, 1 was rolling a cork, and
said I could not come then; the boy said he could not go without me; I told Mr. Copper.
thwaite ; he told the boy that as Mr. M‘Kay wag not at home, and as it was Friday,tolet
me stop till Monday. Mr. C. sent me the next morning to Mr. Bell’s with a letter; missey
saw and called me; massa gave me two kegs, and told me to carry them to Mr. M‘Kay to
get brandy; Mr. C. filled them; on a letter | brought from massa, I carried another; Mr. C,
said, let thisjug remain, as I have plenty for you to do; I then wrought all day and was
flogged at night. Next morning early the driver came for me; massa directed I should
be taken to Mr. Liddle’s to be put in the stocks; [ remained a whole day (Sunday) in the
stocks. Monday morning I was taken to work with the rest of massa’s people. Tuesday,
Mr. Morrison ordered me to be lain down; I asked why? he said massa had directed him
to give me thirty-nine lashes; I received them, but feeling hurt, as not having deserved
punishment, I came to complain.

August 28th, 1821.
Examination of a-complaint preferred by the negroes Amsterdam and Simon.

Amsterdam :—Says, that Mr. Grant gave them when he was overlooking the job-gang at
Philadelphia a reasonable task; but as soon as he was gone the overseer, Mr. Davies,
altered the same and made it more: the work is so much, that sometimes they are obliged
to work very late in the evening, Davies is extremely hard against him, licking him on

- every trifling occasion; gave him last Monday 25 rods of a dam, and as he was not able to
complete this Davies flogged him very much; after flogging he told him that he would go
to complain, which brought Davies into such a passion that he sent all the negroes after
him to catch him, but he escaped and came to town to complain. Says they get enough to
eat, but no time, on account of Davies’s heavy tasks, to prepare the same. Complainant
on showing his posteriors proves to have had of late a severe flogging.

Simon :—Says, that Mr. Davies is a very severe man; that some time ago he was sent
by Davies with a letter to M‘Kennie; he stopped there weeding and doing other work for
a long time; that he was sent up to Mr. Dermott’s by M‘Kennie to fetch a coyior, and
was ordered by M‘Kennie to go to Calabash Creek to cut fuel; that complainant, as being
a driver to Mr, Nicholson of the job-gang, went to Davies to ascertain if he was sold to
M‘Kennie, and got for answer, that if Mr. M‘Kennie had the least cause of complaint
against him he would be severely flogged. And as complainant, knowing that sometimes
100 lashes have been given by Davies’s order, and not being able to ascertain who is his
master now, he came to town, very wishful of being sold.

August 31st.
Examination of complaints preferred by the negroes August, Dingsdog and Woensdvg,

belonging to plantation Niew Stoop.

August :—Says, that Mr. Calmer, after he as well as Dingsdog and a woman were
unable, ordered him to goin the stocks; that he did not go, but went into the field. Next
morning, Mr. Calmer coming in the field with the head carpenter, Pandour, began to
lick every one; on coming to his row, Pandour laid hold of complainant too, but was

stopped by Mr. Calmer, ordering him, instead of being flogged, to be locked up in the
stocks; and as complainant knows that this confinement in the stocks is worse than any
flogging, because, when locked up, they are not allowed to be unlocked to go to ease
themselves, but in such close confinement that they can scarcely walk when released:
Complainant says, that their allowance is very good.

Negro Dingsdog :—Says, that he came only to complain that his master is in the habit
of locking them up in the stocks for three or four months, without being at all allowed to
go out; that his master lately found fault with and ordered him in the stocks; that he
told his master then, that if he were to punish, to flog him then, instead of locking him
up and making him lame; but as his master was not willing to comply with his desire and
to flog him, so he came away to complain about the punishment of the stocks.

Negro Woensdog :—Says, that it is now the third time he has come to complain; thet
twice he has been flogged by the fiscal at the market; that he told the fiscal the last time
he went, that in case his master troubled him again he would then come to complain also;
that Mr. Calmer, the last time he brought him ome, flogged and kept him in the stocks
during three weeks ; after which, on applying to his master for relief, instead of gaining it¥
severely flogged the next morning, and locked up in the stocks again; after having been
there a long time he was severely attacked by the scurvy, and although he begged har
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to be allowed to go out and wash himself, was refused ; he grew so ill, that his master was Berbice:
afraid of losing him, and therefore released him; he recovered, although very visible marks
emained on his back ; whilst in the stocks, his master gave him nothing to eat 3 whatever Decisions on

he got was by favour of the negroes ; he wasnot allowed to go out and easehimself, but Complaints of

lived in such a manner that it was impossible for any person to come near him; his master Slaves.
bought a chain and block at plantation Zudwyk merely for him. ‘ ,

After recovering from his illness, his master employed him in picking coffee; says, all
the negroes on the estate were employed duringfive Sundays in picking coffee; his master
was inthe habit of flogging those who did not bring as much coffee as he waswishful of
having; complainant was more than once flogged on this account; after having been
employed for some time in this work, he and Martius (another lad) got a few words
together in the field, for which the driver flogged them, and on coming home his master
laid hold of Martius and began to kick him; complainant, seeing he should be served in
like manner, told his master he had been already flogged, and consequently away he went.

Complainant further states, that he is convinced his master willflog him to death, or
kill him by solitary confinement; hismaster. threatened lately to sell him to Mr. Galley.
Complainant says, if he returns to his master again, and not sold; that he will run away,
and never more come back.

 

Complaint of Quasste, from Linde :—Complainant says, that some time ago Linde told
him that he was to go and fetch crabs; upon which he said, that as he was still not very
well (as his master had driven him out of the sick-house lately), that his legs were not in
a fit state to go in the mud; that for this and many other reasons he begged his master
not to send him for crabs; Linde told him, that he did not care for one or other, but that
he should go. Complainant, as being unwell, on account of the bad state of his feet, to
go for crabs, went next morning as customary and finished his task as well as any: as
soon as the driver had made his report he received orders to arrest complainant and to
put him in the stocks. The morning after the arrest complainat was tied up and received
160 lashes. M‘Rae the driver, who flogged him, told him he had received 160; com-
plainant went next day to town to complain, his back exhibiting full proof of a severe
flogsing. Says that last holidays, when all his master’s negroes were dancing, he was sent
to catch crabs; that he went away, and had (by drinking before he went away) the ill luck
of upsetting his coryall; that he was saved by Kurtius at Bertendigheid from drowning;
that he was brought there in the hospital, and next day received from his master
230 lashes with the whip; this was in presence of Sturk, the burgher officer; Primo
and another negro gave the licks.

Says four men got one salt fish a week ; have had no dram for a long time ; no women on
the estate at all. Plantains are served very well. ‘Their master is extremely severe, and
does not know how to manage negroes properly, and principally when they are sick.
Complainant has been driven out of the sick-house. Complainant says, that Linde employed
them during two Sundays in picking coffee.

15th October 1821.
Complaint of the negroes Nassau, Peter, Preston, Carol, Annetta, Maritje, Madalon,

Felice, Carolintye, Wilhelmina, Mandarina, Debra, Africa, Detia, and several children, the
property of Mr. Knight:—They state that Mr. Knight purchased them from Mr. Abensetts;
that they have not been well used by him, however, rather than complain, they put up with
much unpleasant humour from him ; that within a day or two they heard Mr. Knight had
sold the place, but he never havirig mentioned it, they took no notice of it; that about
midnight last night, a punt came to the ferry from plantation Resolutié, and on inquiry
complainants learnt it was come to take them there to pick coffee; that they learnt this
morning from Mr. Knight, that Nassau, Carol, five women now present, and two old
Women at home, were to go; Peter was to be hired in town, the others were to remain at
the ferry as yet. Nassau, on this information, represented that it was a hardship, as they had
been so long together, that they should now be separated and sent about as new negroes,

"and therefore requested that they should be sold, that every one might know to whom he
belonged, and endeavour to please his master, which would be much preferable to going .
about, one day here, and another day there; that this representation was respectfully made,
butthat Mr. Knight flew in a passion and ordered him to be put in the stocks. On Nassaw’s
Saying that he would not run away, as he was not a new negro, Mr. Knight directed him
to be taken out, and had his hands tied beliind his back.

The proprietor of the above slaves, Mr. Knight, having been acquainted with the foregoing
subject of complaint, denies the statement made ; observing, that having disposed of hisestablishment at the ferry, he had hired out the negroes to plantation Resolutié, property
‘ General Murray ; that the punt of the estate having come for some of them, hetected Nassau and some other slaves to get themselves in readiness, but as the hire of
these Slaves commences on the instant he did by no means hurry, being perfectly
Satisfied if they got there by Saturday next; that he had informed his slaves that as the
establishment was to be given over on the 1st November, it was requisite some of them
*hould remain to attend to the piace till that period, when they were also to go to plantation
Sengtutie that with respect to the carpenter man, Peter, a friend of his requested the
town til this man for a few days, for which purpose he told Peter he was to stop in
require the others went up; and that he had also this view, that if any repairs were

eo either to punts or landing-places, previous to his giving over the ferry, that ne
, cou
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could have a carpenter to attend to those repairs without going to the expense of

hiring one.

Declares to have explained all these circumstances to the negroes, who behaved

extremely unruly, declaring they would not be hired out, but sold; imputing this conduct

to the idle life they have led for some years, and knowing that on an estate they would

have more active employment, they had refused to obey him.

The complaints proving vexatious the slaves were reprimanded, and directed immediately

to comply with the reasonable and just commands of their master, on pain of being brought

to town and exemplarily punished.

Complaint of Ninney, belonging to Dromgould :—Says, that some time (a few weeks) ago,

I heard some one speaking to a child in our yard before I got up. On rising I looked

out and saw Mr. Payne; I inquired what he wanted; he wished me good morning, and

said, he came to inquire if little Judy, whom he had hired from Miss Betsey Lowe, was

in our yard, as she had run away, and knew she was acquainted with our people. Isaid,

I know she is not here; he said, it made him uneasy, as he would be blamed if any thing

happened to her. I said, her mistress is very intimate with mine, and I am acquainted

with her mother, therefore, if, during my going about town to-day with my tray, I should

see or hear any thing of her, you may depend I will tet you know; he thanked me kindly,

and, wishing me good morning, left me. In the course of the day I was in the second

Empolder, and happened to be walking with Miss Mary Dawes, and, coming opposite

to the burying-ground, I saw this little girl Judy, and observed to Miss Dawes, she had

run away from Mr. Payne, who had hired her from Miss B. Low, who beinga friend of

Miss Dawes, she observed, if she had any one to catch her she would have her taken up,

‘At this moment James, belonging to Mr. Mathews, the tailor, passed us, having arope

in his hand to tie grass. I begged him to catch the girl, and carry her to Mr. P., who

would give him something. As soon as Judy heard this. she jumped into the grass and

hid; the man and myself followed her. [told her to come out, and I would take her

home and beg for her. She came to me, and Miss Dawes desired me to beg for her also.

I proceeded towards Mr. Payne’s with the girl. I saw his room shut up, and could not

go in, not wishing to have any thing to say to his son. 1 was on the public road going

_to Miss Litty Tait’s house; at this moment Kitty M‘Pherson came to the door, and said
) y :

“ There, did I not say that Judy was in Miss Drumgould’s yard?” She repeated this

twice. Lthen answered, Miss Drumgould’s yard is no harbouring-place for runaways;

you should have heard my message to Mr. Payne before you mentioned Miss Drumgould’s

name. She said, suppose I call Miss Drumgould’s name, she is nothing so great; Ire-

plied, greater than you; her little toe is greater than your body twenty times over. She

began to abuse me very much. I went into Miss Litty’s house, and put down my tray,

and stood up in the door. She went into Lewis’s house, (Payne’s son, I believe he 18

named Lewis); she talked some time with him, and then came out and said, “ You, Nanny,

what do you say?” (and, breaking past me, came into Miss Litty’s house), and attacked

me, pushing me out of the house. I came in again, and said, “ Kitty, you are afool;

you say you are free, but you do not know the consequence of it.” I can neither

read nor write, but I know a slave may not strike a free person, nor a free personstrike

a slave more than one blow, and I am not used to fighting. Old Mr. Payne then came in

and said, “ Come, come, Miss Kitty, none of this,” and took her out of the house. She

returned, and, taking hold, endeavoured to push me out; I put my hand round her, and

pulled her in the house. She then declared she would have me flogged in the market;

1 told her that was more than she could get done. She then threw herself upon me,

which threw me down upon the chairs; she sat upon me, with her two knees upon my

stomach; she endeavoured to choke me, and beat me severely; young Payne came in as

soon as 1 was down, and said to Miss Litty, (who, I believe, would have come to my

assistance), “ Miss Litty, I desire you will not put a hand there, I will stand to all the

consequences; Miss Kitty, give it to her good now ;” and stood over us. WhenIwas

nearly exhausted, I cried out, “ Miss Litty, mind if fam killed in your house, remember

when the fiscal comes you state how all this happened,” Miss Litty then came up,and,

taking hold of Kitty, dragged her from me. Young Payne then said to Kitty, go, now

you have beaten her enough, now go home. Lewis made most dreadful threats against

me, standing over me with his fist bent and in my face; but Miss Litty came up to him

and requested he would quit her house and go home. I went home:I was ill for some

weeks, and showed the state I was in to several persons; but my mistress being in Deme-

yara, and knowing the dislike she had of her name being mentioned in matters of com-

plaint, 1 waited patiently till her return. I was attended by Dr. Werring in consequence

of the beating I hadreceived ;“my hand, which is more or less disabled from effects

yaws, has ever since been so painful from the blows I received on my shoulder, whic

was considerably swollen, that I am obliged to carry it in a sling. This happened the

week the court sat over Mr. M‘Intosh and Mr. Cartule; it was on a Thursday. Young

Payne threatened, if ever he could catch me after dark, under fair eyes, I never shou

work for my mistress again. Iwas some days ago at Miss Rosina’s house, and Mss

Eliza Kyte was there; che told me, “ Nanny, take care of yourself, don’t go to the bac -

dam by yourself after six o’clock, for Lewis swears you never shall work for your mistress

again.” I said he had told me the same thing, and that [ was very glad some oneheat

it beside myself. Miss Rosina said, it ought to he told to the fiscal.
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Berbice, October, 16th 1821.

Fxamination of a complaint preferred by the negro Bel/ington, belonging to W. W. King:
_-Bellington says, that he was a watchman over the plantain-walk, and his master gave

him a hog to mind; and he toldhis master that he had no pot nor tub to give the hog

victuals in, and his master told him to take his pot and boil it two or three times full for
the hog, and then to take a calabash to give it in, and he did so. The hog threw down

the water, and made the pen dirty and muddy; and his master came in the field and asked
him why he did not pick dry-ocoroes to carry to his house. He then called the driver

and two men to put him down, and flugged him. He then told him to go and watch
the plantain-walk, and he said, “ Master, before I watch | had rather you put me in the
field;” but his master said he would not put him into any field: so Bellington made his
escape to complain to his Honor the Fiscal.

October 23d.
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Jokn, belonging to Mr. Buttlebank:

_-Says, that his master bought him from Mr. Kyte two years ago in good health ; but since
has had the leprosy, and also stiff fingers, not able to do any work, and his master is
always ordering him to go and help dig trenches and weed grass, which he says is impos-
sible for him to do, and also told him to go and gin cotton; and when he gins 15 pounds
his master puts him in the stocks ; then he sent him to dig 12 foot trench, two shovels deep,
for a middle walk trench; and when they came in, there was not one who finished his share;
he then took him and two others and flogged them, for which he made his escape to com-
plain te hisHonor.

oo, October 23d, 1821.
Examination of complaints preferred by the negroes Isaac and Umrowaart, belonging to

plantation Resolutie, against Jokn Hopkins, manager:—State that their manager sent
them to plantation Buser Lust to take three baskets ofsalt fish ; and when they came to the
plantation with it, the manager weighed the fish, and said that four pounds were stolen;
they said it was delivered so to them; the manager sent the bass to search their pegalls
and the punt, but he found none; the manager then stopped their allowance of fish, and
ordered them to be putin the stocks and flogged, which (they said) before they were punished
without a cause, they made their escape to complain to his Honor.

November 6th, 1821.
Complaint of the negro Mark, from plantation Resolutie :—States, he has been flogged

severely by the manager, on account of complaininghe was sick, three different times;
once 12, another 39, and again 25 lashes have been inflicted; shows marks of severe
fiogsing and much neglected.

Hopkins, the manager of plantation Resolutie :—States, that the complainant is a very
bad subject, and exhibits a letter from his employer, General Murray, by whom the com-
plainant is represented as a bad subject; that this negro was sent to pick coffee with the
rest of the gang, but brought only half a basket; threatened if he did not pick full baskets,
as he was an able negro and accustomed to field work, he should be punished; he picked
a full basket next day ; a day or two afterwards he broughtonly half a basket ;-the most
indifferent negroes on the estate bring full baskets. .Mark received eight or ten lashes.
Next day he ran away and was absent a day and half; on being taken he received. 39 lashes.
The day after the overseer met him going to the field with his blanket ; suspecting he wanted
to be off again, he took the blanket from him and réported it to me; in the forenoon he
came home with half a basket and complained he was sick ; I examined, but found nothing
the matter withhim; I however sent him to the sick-house. When the negroes were going
out, I sent both drivers to examine and see if he was.sick, (he complained of no particular
pain), the drivers came and said they found nothing the matter with him; I allowed him to
remain, In the course of the afternoon I inquiredif he was still sick; he replied, yes. In
the evening I sent the drivers again to examine him; they found nothing the matter, and
reported he was shamming: next morning I directed him to receive 25 lashes; he absented
himself that day, and imputes the unpleasant state he now appears in to neglect, by his
absence, as he only came to the barracks on Sunday.
Manager reproved for the three successive floggings ;—negro faulty and neglected himsel’

Complaint Barentje and Madalaine :—Mr. Abensetts took me from Mr. Walker, I was
at Mamma Lucia; Mr. Westrick came and said we were to work with him; I said “ Have
you bought us” he said, “ No ; but I have hired you.” I said ‘‘ No, if Iam to be hired out,
give me a paper, and I will look for some one to have me in town;” this was refused; the
punt came forus, [ therefore came to complain; my children are sent up the river.

Madalaine, the same complaint :—Wishes to be sold. —

a November 24th, 1821.
5 Examination of complaint preferred by the negro Elias, belonging to John M‘Kay:—
ays, that he was hired to plantation Resolution to pick coffee ; two weeks after Mr. Hop-

how. manager of said estate, discharged him, and sent him to his master; when he went
ome, Mr. M'Kay’s housekeeper gave him some paper-money, and told him to go to Mr.

and change it; when he got to the plantation he gave the money to the overseer,
. and
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and he gave it to the manager; he (manager) then came down to me and said, he stole the
money which he had brought to him, for which the manager ordered him to be put in the
stocks and then to be flogged; he was released and sent to pick coffee, and two days afterhe
flogged him again without a cause, from which he got the fever; and not being able to
undergo any work after that, so he came to town tp complain to his Honor theFiscal.

Berbice, 29th November,
Examination of a complaint preferred by negro Michael, belonging to plantation Rego.

lution:—Says that he is a negro, and knows perfectly well that he must work for his
master; he says that they work from Monday morning till late in the evening in picking
coffee, and when he comes home between six and seven o’clock in the evening, instead of
going home to get some victuals, he is always ordered to bring mud from one place to the
other till twelve o’clock at night; also on Sundays they are ordered to work, and if they
should refuse they would get flogged.

Philip’s complaint; same place :—He states as above.

Thomas’s :—Says he is an old man, and the work that the manager gives him to do is im-
possible for him to complete, from the weakness of his body and state; for which he is
always punished, and kept continually in the stocks.

Two directed to receive seventy-five lashes.

December 24th, 1891,
Complaints of Jack, Boast, Jem, Tancra, Trim, Harry and Peter, property ofM. Jetfray:—

State, that they are ill used; that some time ago, on Saturday, after picking cotton till
eleven o’clock, it was put out to dry; that on Sunday morning it was taken out again; in
the evening master called the driver, and asked if the cotton was dry enough; driver
said,  No;” massa said, “ Never mind; I want the cotton ginned, and if they mash
the seed I will cut their a——. at flog-time.” The negroes told massa the cotton was
too wet; he told them to pick cotton; we picked cotton all the week; Monday moming
we picked cotton again, and till flog-time Tuesday; we were then put to gin again; what
had formerly been ginned remained in the bags, and we were to fill them; we ginned till
night; next morning massa weighed the cotton; he said he did not want forty-nine, he

' wanted fifty; if a single seed was mashed, he said he did not want that. Boast was flogged
on account of the cotton having some of the seeds mashed. I said, “ Massa, we told
you the cotton was not good;” massa ordered me to be flogged; he said, as my bottom did
not mind flogging, he would lay it on my back; massa said he was governor, nobody
could come to his estate. He, Boast, has belonged to Mr. Jeffray about three years ; was
purchased from Mr. Ross, whom I have brought before you also; has a few appearances
of stripes on his back, and marks of former heayy punishment. Jack never was flogged,
but was promised. Jem has been flogged on account of ginning cotton, because the seeds
were not dry; was flogged iast Friday. On being asked-why the recent punishment did
not appear, says the driver knows we are in the right, and therefore does not punish us by
cutting us; no cook is allowed us; we are obliged to dry our own cotton, and get our own
victuals; we are constantly locked up in the stocks ; and although the cotton is not dry,we
must bring fifty pounds, and nota seed mashed. Tancra says, something is more than
we are punished too much, we came to complain to you in Canje, and since that we have
been worse off. I am aginner, and get flogged because I do not gin cotton enough, and
mash the seed; which he cannot help, because the cotton is not dry. I never got licked;
I got punished for going to complain. He says he will not flog on the bottom, but cut the
back; every time one gets flogged he says, “I put the licks on, if the Fiscal can take them
off;” repeats statement of former ones. Trim :—-Complaint same as that of the others 5
never got flogged this year on account of ginning. Harry :—The same as foregoing;
never got flogged, but was just promised. Peter :—Stutters very much; his complaint the
same; never flogged, but promised; his master says, ‘ Put them in the stocks, to be
flogged to-morrow.”

Mr. Jeffray lays over a letter of complaint; and having heard the complaint of his negroes,
denies the charges. Says he furnishes his negroes plentifully with food and clothing, and
therefore considers himself entitled to their services ; has brought his driver, Watson, with
a sample of cotton they had ginned; that the negroes left the estate on Friday evening
after work. On Saturday morming, on missing them, he sent for Mr, Thompson, his
neighbour, and requested him to visit the work ; ‘he is ready to make oath to the state the
work was in, and the convenience he hasof drying cotton; says he is constantlywith his
negroes ; seldom or never uses his whip, but in the constant habit of speaking and urging
them to work. [The produced cotton is very bad, with a quantity of mashed seed in It.
Negro Boast produces a sample of the cotton they are to gin; Mr. Jeffray declares the
cotton sufficiently dry, and, to prove it, cracks the seeds, which appear plentifully 805
ote Boast as a very bad subject, who has formerly been flogged by your Honors
orders.

The driver, Watson, denies ever having known Tanera flogged on account of going to

complain to the Fiscal, Watson declares the assertion of Jem, in saying he did not cut
them in consequence of knowing they were in the right; he says, that on a former occa
sion he received orders from his master when he was vexed, and directed a negro t0 be
flogged, that they should be burnt, but not cut.

g
°
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Berbice, March 4th, 1822.

NVESTIGATION of a Complaintpreferred by five Negroes, Carel, Christian, Pompe
INVE Alfred, Collin, the property of Mr. Barnstide. ,

Carel states, that they are employed as a task-gang to work on Mr. Krieger’s little

estate, Dankbaarheid, and under the orders of Mr. Luiken, manager of the neighbouring
estate, Bertendigheid; says, Mr. Luiken, having sent some of his men from Bertendigheid
in' the bush to cut timber and leaves for covering houses, directed us the task-gang to
bring grass for the mules, and fuel for thekitchen ; we objected to thiswork,beinga task-

gang employed on Mr. Krieger’s estate, and in no wise concerned with Bertendigheid;
Mr.Krieger’s people brought grass and fuel; in consequence of my refusing, Mr. Luiken
had me locked up, with both feet in the stocks, on Monday evening; Tuesday morning
T went to work; that night I was again confined in the stocks, where I remained till
Thursday at 11 o’clock, when I was released and punished with a flogging,—the recent
marks of which are still very visible, but apparently within the limit of the number of
lashes prescribed by law, which he accounts for by having a thick skin ;—I went to my
work on Friday, and came to town on Saturday to complain.

Pompey states, I was sent by my master to work on Dankbaarheid, belonging to Messrs.
Krieger and Prass, as one of the task-gang; we have no overseer, and therefore stood
under Mr. Luiken of the neighbouring estate, and who also overlooked Dankbaarheid;
Mr. Luiken called our driver (Cesar,) and said, some of my men are gone to cut timber in
Canje, and others up the river for sand, and as there are but few men remaining your task-
gang must assist in bringing grass and fuel at night; Mr. Krieger’s people were directed
to do the same; we told our driver it was not customary to do this work; the driver said
we must do it;. when the estate negroes returned we should cease. The negroes have
returned to the estate, and this work is stillimposed upon us. ‘Yesterday week we brought
fuel early in the morning; Mr. Luiken said, we were to bring grass at night; we did so,
but Carel that evening told Mr. Luiken it was hard upon the task-gang, who were not so
well cared as other negroes, to be obliged to bring grass at night; Mr. Luiken ordered him
to ‘be confined both feet in the stocks. Tuesday evening we did not bring grass; next
morning the overseer came to the field; called the head driver of Bertendigheid to flog us;
this driver was employed on Dankbaarheid to learn us how to work; (Cesar belongs to
Mr. Prass); we have no driver of our own; the overseer directed the task-gang to be -
called up; we came out; he said I had strong eyes, and directed me to lay down; I in-
quired what I had done, whether I had neglected my work, or if I had been impudent?
he said No, it was on account of not bringing grass; [ was lain down, and received twenty-
five lashes; the whole of our gang received twenty-five; there are thirteen of us, twelve
men and one woman; she was also flogged; we were informed if we did not bring grass
at night we should be flogged again; we went to Mr. Sterk to complain; on hearing us,
he said, if it was only on. account of bringing grass, we were right, he would protect us;
he sent for Mr. Luiken; they were together from early in the morning till 11 o’clock;
I was then called up, and he said, Mr. Luiken is your master, and you must obey him;
Iwas lain down, and [ received I believe fifty lashes; Mr. Sterk then told Mr, Luiken, take
the rest home and flog them; you have my permission; they were flogged at Berten-

- digheid; the overseer was there, and assisted in tying the negroes to the stake.

Christian, belonging to Mr. Barnstide, and employed in a task-gang on Dankbaarheid, |
belonging to Messrs. Krieger and Prass, corroborates the statement of the former wit-
hesses; says, they willingly complied with Mr. Luiken’s order to cut grass and bring
wood whilst many of the men belonging to Bertendigheid were off the estate, but con-
ceiving It an imposition on them after their return, they stated the same. We brought fuel
yesterday week in the morning; at evening some of us objected to bring grass. Monday
evening we brought grass, and then stated our objection; we were flogged, and received
twenty-five lashes, I was one that went to Mr. Sterk to complain on Thursday morning
ry Mr. Sterk said we were in the right, if it- was only the grass story. He sent for Mr.
Aiken 5 they had a long conversation together; Pompey was called up, and Mr. Sterk
old him that the hegroes were wrong; that they stood under the orders of Mr. Luiken,
nd that whatever he directed they should do; Pompey was put down, and received fifty
ashes; Mr. Sterk then said, you ought all to be flogged here, but Iwill leave that for
Mr,Luiken on the estate; we were all lain down, and each received fifty lashes; the
Overseers were present.

Evidence ofAlfred belongi . a

. ng to Mr. Barnstide, and employed as one of task-gang on
Plantation Dankbaatheid, belonging -to. Messrs. Krieger. tnd Prass :—Corroborates the

fall ndid of the former negroes respecting the bringing of grass and fuel, which they cheer-
tay did whilst the Bertendigheid men were off the estate; but objected after their return,
mneeof which they were flogged ; that conceiving themselves aggrieved they went

. to
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to Mr. Sterk to complain; that after hearing them Mr. Luiken was sent for, and one of
them, named Pompey, was punished by Mr. Sterk, who directed Mr. Luiken to take me
and the other complainant and flog us on the estate (with the exception of Pompey); oq
our return to the estate { was lain down and received fifty lashes; bears very visible marks
of severe punishment.

Calaus and Collin:—Corroborate the former evidence respecting the flogging at Dank.
baarheid for refusing to bring grass and fuel, after the return of the negroes of plantation
Bertendigheid; furthermore, corroborate the statement of the former negroes of going to
complain to Mr. Sterk; that Pompey was flogged by Mr. Sterk, and the rest given to
Mr. Luiken to be punished on Bertendigheid; that they were taken there and flogged, each
receiving fifty lashes, some with more severity than others; appears to have been recently
flogged, but not so severely as the former.

March sth, 1829.
Deposition of W. Sterk, Lieutenant 3d company, 4th batallion Burgher Militia, on the

subject ofcomplaint preferred by the five before-mentioned slaves belonging to Mr. Barnstide,
and employed on plantation Dankbaarheid:—States, that some negroes belonging to
Mr. Barnstide, and employed as above, called upon him some days ago, stating that they
were employed as a task-gang on Messrs. Krieger and Prass’s property; that Mr. Luiken
having sent some of the men belonging to Bertendigheid in Canje for timber, and others for
sand up the river, they (complainants) were directed to assist in bringing grass for the
mules and fuel for the kitchen; that they had done so during the absence of the men from
Bertindighead, but on their return they (complainants) had remonstrated against this work;
that in consequence thereof they had each received twenty-five lashes, on account of which
they came to town to him as burgher officer to complain: That he (Lieutenant Sterk) had
replied, “ If you be employed as a task-gang on Dankbaarheid, you cannot bemade to
bring grass at night;” but as he was unable to judge of the case till he had heard
Mr. Luiken, he directed complainants to wait, and he would send for him: That on
‘Mr. Luiken’s arrival he (Lieutenant Sterk) acquainted him with the complaint, and
inquired of him how these negroes were employed, and whether they were wrought
as a task-gang or not; to which he (Mr. Luiken) had replied, they are no  task-

. gang, they are hired at a certain yearly hire, and are on the estate for twelve months
certain from the time of their coming to it; that this was a circumstance with which
complainants were well acquainted, as they had, on a late occasion, gone to their
master, Barnstide, to know if they were to remain there on Mr. Krieger’s Place for any
time, as they were wishful of planting or making negro-grounds; to which Mr. B. replied,
they could commence, as they were there for twelve months certain, and probably next
year also; that he, Mr. Luiken, had directed these negroes, together with Mr. Krieger's,
to bring grass at night, which they had done for some time until within a few days, when
they had refused,-in consequence of not getting a supply of negro clothing at the time the
same was given out to Mr. Krieger’s people; that he (Mr. Luiken) had represented that
he could not give them clothing, as they were hired people, unless their master, Mr. B,,
sent it for them; that this having no effect, he had caused the most headstrong of them
to be confined in the stocks; and.this also proving ineffectual, he directed the overseer,
one night when they had brought no grass, to give each of them twenty-five lashes, which
were inflicted: That he, Lieutenant Sterk, called up the complainants, and, addressing
Pompey, the spokesman, said, “I have now heard Mr. Luiken, and his account differs
* from ‘that of yours. You are hired people, and not a task-gang, and you certainly
* cannot object to the handful of grass you are directed to bring. You are all able, strong
« negroes, and the grass is brought every night by the weakest of the gang on the estate,
«and you partake with Mr. Krieger’s people of all their comforts in houses, &c.;” that
the Lieutenant was of intention to dismiss the complaint, and warn them to pay due
respect.to the orders of Mr. Luiken for the future, but that Pompey stepped out, and, with
an impertinent tone and awkward gesture, stated, that he would not bring grass at night,
as it was no part of his duty, and his behaviour tended to influence the rest c° complain-
ants. I told him (Pompey) that as he was deficient to me in respect, it became my duty
to punish him;. I therefore directed him to be lain down, and, having informed him that
his punishment arose from his impertinent reply to me, [ ordered him to receive fifty
lashes; the other negroes I told that they ought also to be flogged; that as their behaviour
was not so bad as Pompey’s, and did not require such severe punishment, { should leave
this to Mr. Luiken, to whom I said, you can do that, but unly as a manager. He went.
with the negroes from my house, and I heard nothing more on this subject till Ireceived

your Honor’s letter requesting my attendance.

Examination Report of the Death of the negro Richmond, belonging toplantation

Hirstelling, who died suddenly during the Investigation made by Captain Favre,

on a charge of said negro Richmond having, through jealousy, attempted to cut
the throat of the negro England, also belonging to before-mentioned estate.

mati
Monday, 18thMarch, 1822.

Examination of the manager Kennedy :—States, that last Thursday evening, about ten

o'clock, after he had gone to bed, he was alarmed by a considerable noise; came 1mme
diately down stairs, and learnt that the negro Richmond, haying suspected the ne

wom
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woman Olivia, formerly his wife, had been connected with the negro England, he (R.) had

ttempted to cut England’s throat; that shortly afterwards he (manager) saw Richmond

‘ custody of the drivers, and understood that England, being watchman, Richmond had
vot to the place of watch, and, suddenly springing upon England, he had endeavoured to
fake his life by cutting his throat with a knife; that England had called out for help, and
wrestled with Richmond till the negro Jarvis came to his assistance, upon whichRich-

mond took flight, leaving his knife on the spot; upon which he (the manager) directed

Richmond to be confined in the stocks; that he received much abuse from Richmond,

who threatened to bring him into trouble by taking him beforethe Fiscal.

That he (the manager) next morning reported this case to Captain Favre, for his investi-
ation; that Captain F. was prevented from attending on the estate on Friday, but inti-

mated his intention of doing so on the Saturday; Richmond was accordingly continued in

the stocks: That he (manager) recollects, on taking over the management of the estate

four months ago, Richmond and Olivia came up to him to declare they could not agree

together; that he paid little or no attention to it; but a few weeks afterwards they came to

him with the same statement again, to. which he replied, “ If you cannot live with and are

satisfied 10 leave each other, it is all good; but if I hear either of you disputing with any

of the other negroes, in consequence of either of you takingup with some one else, I will

unish you severely ;’ that from that time he hadnever heard any complaint from either,

and that they both performed their work to his satisfaction; that since Richmond’s con-

finement in the stocks, he (manager) had understood, that although Olivia didnot live in the
house with Richmond, she had, for the last two or three weeks, been cooking his victuals;

and that he had further understood that Richmond’s jealousy was occasioned from Eng-

land’s giving her a root of sweet cassava some days ago, as she was coming out of the field.
That on the Saturday following, Captain Favre attended on the estate, with some others

of the militia, and proceeded to the investigation of the complaint made against Richmond;
that having examined some witnesses, the prisoner was required and accordingly sent for
from the solitary place of confinement in the hospital. The overseer and drivers shortl
came out with him, when he (manager) was told by Captain Favre, “ Look at the man, he
appears to be drunk ;” that immediately Richmond seemed to reel, and fell on the ground
apparently in a fit. He was brought into the house; Drs. Gibson andStaal were present;
they attempted to give him something, but in a very few moments he expired,.

March goth, 1822.
Investigation of a complaint preferred by the Negroes Nelson, Knight, Lewis, Jacob,

Selvester, Trim, Quaco, For, Oliver, Prospect and Absolam.

Nelson :—States, that the work assigned them to perform daily is such, that they have
no time to get their breakfast, not being allowed to leave the work till this task allotted
gem be completed; that they get but one bunch of plantains, which they receive on
unday.
Not allowed the day on Sunday, as they are made to work till eleven o’clock, they are

on that day variously employed, sometimes heaping up trash, at others haulingup timber,
and again in bringing hoops from the waterside. The manager flogs us if we speak to him
on the subject; he says it is by massa’s order, and if he were to inflict upon us what
master desires him, we should all run away in the bush, but he does not like to do so;
that he (complainant) ever since the estate was first cultivated was upon it; has done
his work well and never complained, and that the gang have never had an allowance of
sugar given them; that no water is given them in the field more than a calabash full,
which is to serve from morning till night.
The Fiscal having requested the assistance of Mr. Farley, the proprietor of plantation

Adelphi, an able and experienced planter, and also Mr. John Cameron, the joint proprietor
of plantation Lochaber, went to the fields to examine the work performed by the negroes
of this estate for some days past, and having also required the attendance of the manager
Mr. Tush, one of the overseers, the drivers and two or three of the complainants, found
that on Saturday last, 16th instant, at one o’clock, the gang, consisting .of seventy-six
hegroes, went into the field N° 5, containing three acres and quarter of land, and eight
toods of an adjoining field.
OnMonday morning seventy-three negroes commenced two fields, with the exception of

the eight roods above stated; commenced fields N* 3 & 4, containingfifteen acres and
® quarter; from this it appears that 111 negroes were employed in weeding, stripping, and
moulding nineteen acres of canes, allowing upwards of five negroes to an acre of |land; the
work appeared light, little or no grass being found on the banks, and the canes young,
and not having required much stripping; the work on Saturday appears to have been well

mes but that of Monday slovenly and badly.
inves work had been pointed out and measured, the manager stated that it was
at ona y the custom to turn the negroes in at eleven o’clock in the forenoon, and out again
Odes% that such of the negroes who are well able and do not finish their task at eleven
ever he kept to it, but that this very seldom or ever happens; the task is given out
one y ; oming in a certain proportion, from sun-rise till eleven o’clock, and another from
mouldine and whenperforming such work as the present (weeding, stripping and
With 6 young canes), in proportion to the workdoneon Saturday and Monday. |

charse: espect to the givmg of one bunch of plantains weckly, the manager denies the
8¢; calls in the evidence of the overseers, who state that the gang received salt fish every
a3 that from the scarcity of plantains on the estate, the walk does not allow more than

one
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one bunch to be cut, but to this they regularly receive a half supply from Sandvoort, the
therefore receive with their fish a bunch of plantains on Sunday, and another onThursday
Admits the plantains are small, but which only is to be attributed to the greatdrought;
A sample of the plantains was produced, which appears fair. ,

With regard to the Sunday work, the manager states, that he has in two instances
required a little work from the negroes, in the first place some hoops were received from the
Fortune; they lay exposed at the waterside four days; I directed the gang to bring then
up one Sunday morning whilst their plantains and fish were lain out; another time he
employed twenty to bring up a few shooks which were lying in the trench, and just pack
them up in the yard; and last Sunday they hauled up two punts to be repaired; in neither
instance did their occupation employ them two hours.
That two water-carriers are constantly employed furnishing the gang with water, which

was attested by both overseers and admitted by complainant.

Berbice, 21st March 1822,
Investigation of a complaint preferred by the Negroes Tom, Sam, Klaas, William,

Lectin, Adam, Joe, Nicholas-Kees, Jarvis, La Rose, Lewis, Luckey and Conraad, all
belonging to Mrs. Sanders, residing in Upper Berbice.

That he, with other complainants, have lately been put to split staves, a work to which
they are unaccustomed; every negro to split twenty bundles per week, each bundle to
contain fifty staves; that they were unable to perform this task, and were flogged twice,
once before mistress went from home, and once after her return ; that the Sunday is taken
away, they have had work regularly for the last eight Sundays, from morning till evening,
employed hewing timber (cabacalie). One Sunday we were employed hauling up a punt,
it took us the whole day, and Mr. Hartman came with his people to assist us. Witness
exhibits his posteriors, very slight marks of a flogging: Conraad marks of récent punish-
ment, slight: Klaas marks of slight punishment :' Lewis the same, La Rose same,Wiliam
same, Sam ditto, Adam, and all the others,

Mr. Sanders, who attends his mother’s concerns, states in reply to these complaints, that
Mr. Henery, who is agent for my mother, wrote her a short time ago, that so many shingles

_were brought up from Demerara, and sold so much cheaper than we could afford to

deliver ours, that there were no purchasers of shingles, and therefore recommended my

mother, as there wasa scarcity ofstaves in the colony, to split them in preference ; [ therefore
directed staves to be split, and gave as a task twenty bundles each, containing fifty staves,
to be split per week by each man; the first week they each brought seventeen bundles,

and although I had expected more, I passed it over: the next week they each brought

fifteen bundles; I told them that if they did not bring the full quantity they should
be flogged. My mother and self came down the river, on my return [ found that
they had only split eleven bundles, I therefore had them lain down and flogged. The
negroes declared, whilst they were receiving punishment, that I could kill them, but
they would not split the staves nor live up the river, and that is the great objection they
have and the cause of their frequent complaints; they are well fed, with two bunches of
plantains, and, in great scarcity, one and a half hunch; sometimes they have cassavie,but

rarely; they have excellent provision fields, which clearly prove the false accusation of

being employed by me or my mother on Sundays, as on those days (Sundays) theywork

their own fields. “Three weeks ago our punt had sunk, it became necessary to haul her up,

as she had sunk the night before; only half our negroes were at home; I sent to my
neighbour, Mr. Hartman, and he came with his negroes and assisted me to haul the punt up;
we were employed from six o’clock in the morning, till eleven o’clock in the forenoon, and
I positively deny their being employed on any other Sunday.
My mother uses every endeavour to satisfy the negroes; their great complaint was the

want of wives. At the sale of Bellair we purchased women to the amount of f.11,000;
this has exhausted all our present means. The negroes now wish to force my mother
either to sell them or remove from up the river; her circumstances will not permit her to

indulge them in either wish; and from the loss of labour, and the enormous expenses
incurred. by their coming to complain, must prove our ruin, if some measure be not adopted
to prevent it. I must further remark, that when I go in the bush with them, which 1s

often, and which I do with a view to encourage them, I remain three or four weeks 4
a time, and come with all the negroes and staves or shingles they have been cuttmg
during that time, as they could not possibly occupy themselves on Sundays, having no

regular houses, provisions, or any thing else to attend to. I certainly make, or rather
compel them to work on Sundays; but [ can declare on oath, that for each Sunday they
are so employed a day is given them when we return from the bush.

This statement being explained to the negroes, they remark, it is not only the workof

Sundays in the bush, but that they work on other Sundays when they go home. Tothis

Mr. Sanders replies, that a certain task is given each negro per week; they that finish the

task go home on Saturday evening; they that do not complete it remain till Sunday to
do so; this is not by my order, but their own choice; often, when at home,I drive them
out of their houses to work their fields; this perhaps they may accuse me of, but they,
and not I, benefit by it; I consider it much better for them to work their grounds than

to lie and sleep all the day.
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Berbice, July 10th, 1823.
Compiaint of the Negro Lambert, belonging to plantation Sandvoort :—That he and

Jean Baptiste were hired by their master, Mr. Cameron, to Mr. Ross, the post-holder in
Courantyne; that they wrought as wood-cutters till the death of Mr. Ross; that his
manager, Mr. Wood, took them over, and after working all day they are placed as watch-
men at night; that he and Lambert having the watch, a tiger took away a fowl; Mr.
Wood said he would have him flogged next morning ; that he went about all night to find
the tiger, but could not; next morning he begged Mr. Wood to forgive him, which he
did; that he has the venereal, and the manager would give him nothing; that finding
Mr. Ross’s negroes coming to town, and unwilling to remain in Corentyn, he with Jean
Baptiste absented themselves.

Mr. John Cameron, proprietor of the above slaves :—States, that the complainants are
bad subjects; that some time ago they were punished by the Fiscal with the whip and
chain for stealing coffee; that they have since been guilty of the same crime, and con-
ducted themselves otherwise so ill, that, as an example to the rest of the gang, he sent
them off the estate; they were hired by Ross, the post-holder; after his death, he, the
master, directed another timber cutter or carpenter, named Jackson, to take them over;
that on his application for them they both ran away, and the first information he got of
them was that they had come to town to complain,

B. Jackson, wood-cutter, Corentyn :—States, that he was directed by Mr. John Cameron
to take over the negroes Lambert and Jean Baptiste from Mr. Ross’s manager, when Mr.
Ross’s negroes were to be sent from the Corentyn to town; that he applied for them, and they
were given up to him; he told them to get ready to accompany him, but they left the
place immediately afterwards, and he never saw them till this present moment, about
twelve days ago.
The negro Lambert has the venereal, which he states to be very bad. On inquiry of

the under sheriff whether he had ever acquainted him therewith, he, the under sheriff,
replied, Lambert came to complain on the 26th June, but never mentioned he had the
venereal till last Monday 7th instant.

Finding the negroes complaints ungrounded, they were directed to be punished.

_ Complaint of the negro woman Caatje, belonging to plantation Prospect :—States, she
is sickly; went to complain to the manager, who drove her away, saying she was very
well; went to the field, but found herself so unwell she was forced to lie down; the
driver found her in this situation, doubled his whip and flogged her; next day she went
again to the manager; he gave her a dose of calomel; ordered her to work next morning ;
she declared herself incapable, and the manager was about to punish her; she therefore
left the estate, and came to complain. .

July 14th..
Complaint of the negro George, belonging to plantation Canefield, inCanje:—I am

boatswain to the mill; that the manager, Mr, Arthur, told him he was-not to feed the mill
during the day, but only at night; I did so; after that I was ordered to make fire at night;
during the day I was wrought in the field; when I made fire at night there was no one
fen to split the wood, which was so green it would not burn; this fire was for the engine;
began to make the fire about ten o’clock; the manager ordered me to be flogged; after

being flogged, I said to the manager, “ AsI have been punished for making bad fire at
night, I must be allowed to stand to the fire all day, by which means I would have time to
split wood sufficient to serve me at night, as it cannot be done after dark ;” the manager
said, “No; but as I had talked, I should be locked up every night, and at eleven o’clock
every day ;” considering this an excess of punishment, and undeserving of the same, I come
tothe Fiscal. I beg to inquire of the manager if I have ever been guilty of impertinence—
if | have ever neglected my work—if I have ever run away—or on getting a pass on
Sunday, if I have ever kept from returning on Monday at a proper hour—or that he hasincurred the expense of sixpence for taking me up?

Reply of Mr. Arthur, manager :—I was under the necessity last year to make an entire
c ge in the feeders of the mill, in consequence of coal-chisels and other things being
Oa aphe mill to prevent her working; this I did with the consent of my employers;
e which time no accident has occurred; the manGeorge, now complainant, was a

place, Tenet me, and was employed after this change in the field; this change took
engin, unk, in August 1822. This man has lately been employed to make fire for the
cfore 3 e and the other firemen take it in turn; the fireman commences in the morning

badly 1? and continues fireman till the engine stops at night; George made fire so very
action of the forced to change him; for as all the working of the estate depends on the
place on the engine, the man making fire must necessarily exert himself, this change too

76
476 tepresentation of the boy who attends the engine. The people got by times

‘ 0

Berbice:

 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
aoemnny,



Berbice :

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.

—_———/
NO

56 V.—FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

to their work, and at half-past six o’clock I had only half.a copper of liquor ; in consequence

ofthis neglect of duty, I directed him a slight flogging, which he received. 1 was told that he

had said he would neither make fire nor work in the field ; this was told me in his (George’s)

presence ; I said I would not flog him again, but he should be locked up in the stocks

at night. I directed him to go to the field ; this was about an hour after he wasflogged

and this is the first time I have seen him since; I do not think he received more than six

lashes. The posteriors of the man were examined, and it did appear he received afew

lashes, but slightly laid on; no appearance to doubt the manager’s statement as to the

number of lashes. I never knew him boatswain to the mill; about a week before I came

to the estate, I understood he was detected stealing with others upwards of 300 lbs, of

supar.

July 18th,
Complaint of the negro women Dina, Amba, Lena and Zemire, belonging to plantation

Reumzigt, situated on the river Berbice.

Dina, speaking for the rest, states :—They have to complain against the manager; that,

for the most trifling offence, they are punished with the cart-whip ; that they are put to pick

out coffee; that the manager requires them to pick out a box-full by eleven o’clock, and

another by evening; that on bringing in the coffee which they have been picking out, if a

single bean is found that is not sound they are flogged ; they bring a sample of the coffee

to show; they do not materially object to the work, knowing that the present season is the

time for picking out coffee, but to the manager's exactness in examining the coffee after it

is assorted; and as it will occasionally happen that a few defective beans will get among

that which is cleaned, they consider it oppressive that for every such offence they should

be punished. The two former were locked up in the stocks; Amba every night during

a week, and Dina two nights, and threatened she should be locked up every night at

eleven o’clock. They have no time to eat or cook ; at evening, as soon as the box of coffee

is picked or assorted, they go for grass; and as soon as they return the negroes who are to

be confined are locked up, and consequently no time to prepare food; and the room being

locked up, no person can give them any thing. Lena and Zemire were flogged with the

cart-whip, because the coffee was said by the manager not to be clean ; the latter had

picked out a box-full, which the driver approved of, but on its being examined by the

manager, he said it was not good, and began to kick her in different parts of her body.

Eleven of the men went to complain to Mr. Niewenhoven, the attorney, on a Sunday; he

never came to the estate, but wrote to the manager, who sent to Mr. Sterk; he came with

his own drivers on the following morning, and they were flogged severely, and locked up in

the stocks, where they remained a very considerable time unable to work from the severe

punishment they suffered. Santje went to complain to Mr. Maurinbricher, the other

attorney; the manager called for her; she was pregnant; the manager did not flog her,

hut she was confined a week in the stocks, and was fed very sparingly; but she will be best

able to speak for herself. Finding no redress from either of the attorneys, and Mr. Mau-

rinbricher never attending on the estate to inquire into the complaint of Santje, we now

come to the Fiscal; every negro is ready to come to town, so very severe is the treatment of

the manager.

an July 21st, 1823.

Reply of F. H. De Quasy, manager of plantation Reumzigt, to the foregoing complaint:

—That a basket of coffee which he now produces is a sample of the coffee which they are

to pick out; that he requires two boxes'a day, which can be performed with ease; that

having examined the boxes of coffee after it was picked out, he had great reason to com-

plain; that in some boxes he found a handful of broken coffee; he reprimanded the people,

and with some it had effect, and with others not; he had therefore been under the neces-

sity of giving some a few lashes, and others whom he conceived in a state of pregnancy

he had confined in the stocks. All the women after this, even such of them as hadchildren

at the breast, brought the two boxes of coffee, and in good time, with the exception of

these four; two had been flogged at noon for not producing a box-full, and orders given to

confine the other two at night, but on inquiry they had absconded. The sample of cofiee

produced by the complainants being compared with that in the basket brought by the

manager is found of one quality; itis white husk, and appears a very fair sample.

Mr. Maurinbricher, who is present at this examination, states, that the task required can

be performed with ease; that the negroes of Standvestigheid are at present employe

picking out coffee of a much worse sample, yet that the two cases areproduced daily

without the least objection.

The Manager states further, that the sick are well taken care of; that the negroes are

abundantly supplied with plantains, fish andrum ; that the bell rings at eleveno’clock, an

every one goes to their victuals that please; that the case of coffee ig asked for and examine

at one, not eleven o’clock. Those who are found deficient, then receive a few lashes,

or are directed to be confined in the stocks; no objection is made to their getting supper

from their friends when confined in the stocks; that his treatment of the slaves is mud;

but that he endeavours to do his duty by seeing the work of the estate duly carried On.

One of the women who complains of being flogged five times, was examined, and n°

appearance of punishment was to be seen. The
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The overseer of the estate, Mr. Vander Marck, is also present, and declares the foregoing
statement to be correct.

August 2d, 1823.
Complaint of the negro Scipio, belonging to F. Brittlebank, on theCorrentine Coast :-—

States, that he is overwrought; that.when he was able, no negro could pass him ; that he
has toboes in his hand, and his master will not allow him time to burn them ; no negro
must pass him in the field, or he gets flogged. Came some time ago to complain, but was

taken up at Jeffery’s estate and confined there in the stocks for fourteen days; when he.
went home he got very severely flogged; he was taken to the waterside and there flogged
for fear of the whip being heard;his private parts, which he exhibits, is so severely
wounded by the whip he can scarcely sit or stand. The negro appears much emaciated.

Complaint of the negro Peter, belongingtoBest Coffee Land, property of C. Mather-
son, esq. :—He is perfectly well satisfied with his master, but not with Mr. Millar the
manager. I went to him to complain I had fever and cold, he said “ you must not play
the fool with me, go to the field ;” I. went and put a blanket round me, and went in the
logie top. The manager sent and had me confined in the stocks, both feet, all that day
and the night; the next morning I was flogged. The fish master sends up for us is not
iven tous; the work given us is too much; one man is put to throw out a drain. He

says, they that do not finish their work during the week shall do so on Sunday. Master
came once and found us working on Sunday, ana drove us from it; I was not on the estate
last Sunday, but the Sunday before; three negroes were made to finish rows they had left
undone in the week; they are named Marta, Stephen and Bob; 1 think those were the
three.

August 12th.
Manager, D. Millar, states he was under the necessity of flogging Peter, who pretended

illness, on account of his insolence before the driver. The drain given is 26 roods; it is
a task, and is generally finished before three; a regular quantity of fish is given, beyond
two pounds weekly; 72 negroes are on theplace, mostly hired; inquire of them; denies
working on Sunday; refers to the whole gang.

August 4th.
Complaint of the negroes Tom, Joe, Hercules and Matross, belonging to W. Ross, proprietor

of plantation Culcaim, situated on the Courantyn River.

Tom states, for the rest and himself, That they are aware they are purchased to work,
but that it is also necessary they should eat and drink; the row or work that is given them
is by far too much: the manager, in giving out work, desires that none of the negroes
should grumble at it, but wait till he comes into the field to complain to him. We are
Planting canes; two rows are given us; a woman is placed next to a man; the same work
and task are given her. I must make up grass bank, cut out any stumps in my way or the
woman’s; I must then cut off the side of a drain on each side of my row, throw half of what
comes from my drain into the middle of the bed, and the other half in the woman’s row, to
raise the beds in the middle. The woman with the hoe chops up the earth; the row extends
twenty beds for me and twenty for the woman: this work is done in an old plantain walk;
the beds are, I believe, three reods wide. We are obliged to remain on this work from:
the morning till night, and have not time to get any thing to eat, nor water to drink, as no
water-currier is allowed us. On the question being asked if the side trenches are not full
of water, they reply, the water is run off. When the sun is down, if our row is not finished
we get flogged; I received thirty lashes, so did Joe. We are taken to the stocks at night,
and flogged next morning. We told the manager the work was too much, that we had no
time to get our victuals, and begged him to lessen the task: this was the reason we were
flogged. There are plenty of plantains on the estate; the manager, however, only gives
us one bunch, and that is on the Sunday morning. We are very well supplied with fish.
We are obliged to boil our. plantains.at night, and put them in a calabash to take to the
field next morning; we are obliged to eat them by stealth, we are driven so hard; and
before Wwe can eat them they turn sour. When we comefrom the field, after this heavy
day’s work, we must work in the yard; the punt brings wood to the canal, and we must
carry It up to the engine; other times we must haul up bullet-tree to the saw-pit. When we
are grinding we know very well we must sit up late, and of this we do not complain,
howling it must be done. We have complained to our msster, and he says that the

fomfe he supposes, troubles us because we don’t mind our work: we had no redress
Tom him,

. ; July 7th, 1823.
Complaint of the negress Mietjc, belonging to plantation Sandvoort :—States, that her

child has the yaws very bad; that she requested the manager to allow her to mind it till it
gotbetter, which he refused; that she goes to her work early in the morning and does not
See it till night; that having repeated her request three times to the manager in vain, and
iomeee told by him that if she came again he would know what to do with ber, she went
® Aer master, Mr. Cameron, on Sunday, who promised to come and inquire into the
usiness; she expected him on Monday, but he did not come, and at night the managerforked her up in the stocks: this induced her to quit the estate, and come on Wednesday
0 complain.
476.
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; July 7th, 1823,
Complaint of the negro Murphy, belonging to plantation Philadelphia :—States, that

being sick and disturbed by creoles, who made a noise in an adjoining house, he went to
quiet them; the overseer came there also: he had sent for Santje, Adam’s wife, who refused
to let her go. On coming to the house where the creoleswere, he, the overseer, began to
thump them, and took Grieta and locked her up inthe stocks: this was Saturday week. Op
Sunday morning he took the rest of the creoles, and two men to whom the housebelonged,
and put themin the stocks; he said I was in the house also ; I said, “ Yes, but I only went
to quiet them:” he, however, directed me to be locked up also. I said, “ Take me to the
manager :” he did so. Tinquired if it was by his orders I was to be confined; he said,
“Yes; the overseer said you also were making a noise.” I was locked np, both legs in
the stocks, extended as far as they could be; in this positionI was kept all Sunday and
Monday : on that evening I made my escape, and came to complain.

Question.—Did you ever go to your master, Mr. Katz, to complain?
Answer.—No, I did not; my reason was, that three negroes, Comedis, Birket and Hatton,

went to complain to Mr. Katz, and, without sending for the manager, they were flogged at
Vryheid, and returned; the next day Birket or Bronget was flogged again by the manager,

Sir, Berbice: Fiscal’s Office,
The negroes Tom, Joe, Hercules and Matross, the property of Mr. Ross, of plantation

Culcain, lave preferred a complaint at my office against the manager of said property.
After consulting with Mr. Ross on the subject thereof, J am induced to prefer the same io
you, from the great inconvenience that would result by my requiring the attendance of the
manager in town, and such of the slaves whose evidences might be required, or by my
attending personally on the estate, from its considerable distance from hence, and to
request you to investigate the same. For this purpose I inclose to you the statement of
their complaint, and beg to call your attention to the following points of grievance neces-
sary to be inquired into :—

“ To ascertain accurately the task exacted from the complainants, and the gang in
eneral.”

ere To learn from-a sugar-planter in how far this task is in proportion to similar work on
other sugar estates.”
* In how far the complainants, previous to their quitting the estate, had done this work,

as well as the rest of the gang, previous to and subsequent to said time.”
“ If any application was made to the manager to lessen the task when deemed too much

by the people, and the result of such application.”
“ The reason why a water-carrier is not allowed.” .
“ The regular periods of the gang turning in and out; the time allowed for cooking and

rest in the day.”
“ What work is required of an evening after field work is over.”
« Why only one bunch of plantains is given, when the law directs two.”
It must be needless for me to request the most impartial investigation; and although

I am perfectly satisfied that Mr. Ross would not permit his slaves to be oppressed by the
manager, yet some of the charges of complaints may require redress; and in such case
I certainly shall recommend Mr. Ross to afford instant relief. Jam also well aware and
fully confident that such recommendation would be needless if the complainants had not
lost sight of a duty incumbent on them, to have sought redress in the first instance from
Mr. Ross, their proprietor, which they had ample opportunities of doing, by his frequent
visits to the estate.

If, however, you find that the complaints are groundless, I request you will, by every
means, endeavour to convince them of the same, to point out how very unsatisfactory,
unpleasant and expensive such complaints must be to a proprietor of respectability and
a good owner of slaves; and that although the complaints of slaves shall always command
my ready and serious attention, and that whenever they are aggrieved I will exert myself
to afford them relief, yet that the duty is no less imperious on me to punish such slaves,
whose only motives in quitting their estates to prefer complaints proceed from idle and
wanton dispositions, whose statements prove to be groundless and vexatious. .

I would then recommend you to direct the said negroes to be exemplarily punished in
presence of the gang; and one of them having asserted that was the one who
induced them to come to town to complain, he ought to receive fifty lashes, and the
others thirty-nine each, well applied, and cautioned to refrain from further wanton
behaviour, on pain of more severe punishment.

Talso recommend you to request Mr. Austin, the manager of 49, to accompany you,
otalafford you his aid and opinion in ascertaining the work done.on the estate, and com-

ained of.
You will please to report to me, in writing, the result of this investigation,

I am, respectfully, your very obedient and humble servant,
M. S. Bennett.

Captain R. Grant,
2d Battalion Burgher Militia,

Correntine Coast.
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Berbice, August goth, 1819.
Examination of the negro Primo, belonging to plantation Blyendall :—States that he is

afield negro, and has been taken from this employment to make baskets; that he does not
know how to make baskets; that he made five in a week, the manager was not satisfied,
and locked him up in the stocks at night; he was also flogged by the manager, and went to
omplain to the attorney, Mr. Krieger, who said, “‘ Never mind, old man, you must go and

jearn ” he went home; he was locked up every night after this for a week, which induced

him to come and complain.

To this complaint the following statement was made :—Major Van Holst states, that he
happened to be at Mr. Krieger’s when this negro went to complain; Mr. Krieger, from:
long and severe illness, not being able to quit the house for many months, requested him
to inquire into this complaint; that he (Van Holst) immediately went to Blyendall, and
found that the basket-maker being dead, the complainant had been selected by the driver,
and brought up by the manager, to succeed as basket-maker; that every negro on coffee
estates can make baskets; the general task is twelve a week, but this man made but five ;
the manager was satisfied, but saidhe must get on better; the negro became extremely
insolent, and positively objected doing this work any longer; the manager gave him a
slight punishment, and directed him to be locked up at night; this inducedhim to go to
Mr. Krieger. Knowing that every negro on coffee estates are in daily habit of makin
baskets, and having inquired and ascertained that the complainant had been insolent to the
manager on account of this work, I directed him to be locked up every night for a week ;
his time of confinement expired last Saturday; on Sunday morning complainant came to
town,
Ordered to be flogged, thirty-nine lashes.

August 20th, 1823.
Complaint of the negro Harry, belonging to J. P. Chapman, of Demerara, hired to

Mr. Kewley, proprietor of 49, Courantyn Coast :—States, that he is perfectly able to do
his work, but not when he is sick; that he went to the manager to say he was sick; he
made the watchman take me to the field, where I was flogged by the driver. I had the
fever two days; I went to complain; 1 was put in the dog-house, where I neither ate nor
drank; there is no sick-house on 49; I could not eat nor drink from sickness. Ifa negro
says he is sick, two negroes drive him to the field at five o’clock; at night we are locked up;
all the negroes treated so, Some of the negroes, from the bad treatment of the manager,
have run away. One of Mr. Chapman’s negroes was flogged so often, and had so bad a
foot, that he was obliged to run away in the bush; if he is dead or alive we do not know;
he was one of the firemen, and walked on his hands and feet; he told the manager he
could not stand to do work ; he was lain down and flogged. Manager’s name Austin.

Mr. Kewley, the proprietor, heard on this complaint :—That he had written to the doctor
on the subject of this slave, but received for answer that his name did not appear in the
hospital books. The negro confessed, that being locked up in the stocks induced him to
complain, Mr. Kewley stated he had a medical practitioner purposely for this property;
that he has two sick-houses.
The negro states his complaint was for former treatment. Ordered twelve lashes.

August goth, 1843. |
Jack, belonging to Sandvoort, states, that last Friday they were cutting grass; the work

was very heavy; two or three carried their rows; many of us, amongst whom was I, onldid half; we were locked up in the stocks that night, seven of us; some went at 5o'clock
to finish their row, not we that were in the stocks went to work. Saturday got new rows;
we finished this work. On that morning the manager came to the field to flog us; we
begved to be forgiven; I and four others were forgiven; two were flogged. iTwent oRthe Saturday evening and wrought at the row I left unfinished on Friday; it was not quitefinished; I'went to it early on Sunday morning, and finished it before 7 o’clock. I went
home; the driver, on my return, took me to the manager; I was locked up all day withtwo men and two women; they were confined the evening before. Mondaymorning wewerereleased, and the drivers called; one of the men was flogged; I went off, and came

Oo comp ain.
“

Berbice, August 25th, 1823.
Reply of J. Van Viooten, manager of plantation Sandvoort, to the complaint of Jack :—tiday there were upwards of forty negroes at work ; five or six did not finish their row ;

this row was weeding ninety coffee trees, and water sprouting them; [ had these negroes,
‘mongstwhem was Jack, locked up in the stocks at night. Next morning went to work;
on examining the work left, 1 intended to flog them on my going into the field; he was
heewedly ordered out from his row, but he refused to come. I left him alone; that day

® finished his work; brought no grass at night, but sent it by another. On Sunday about2 0 clock he was confined in the stocks by my order; he was not to be seen before that
ke Next morning I directed him and another negro, who had also neglected his work,
h d ogged; Jack ran off, and was not to be seen on the estate since; the other negro_
tid punished. The work on Saturday was the same task and the self-same field as on
Th ay, and they all finished it. I never heard that he had wrought at his row on Sunday.
a6. been sick all last week, or would have called before.
70.
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Berbice, September 4th, 1899,

Complaint of Grace, Eliza, Flora, Eve, Daphna, Silvia and Hannah, belonging ty

plantation Prospect, property of the late Benjamin Jeffery, deceased,

Grace states, That they are badly treated, which makes them come to complain instead
of going in the bush. The manager, Patterson, gives us more work than we are able to

perform, so that we have no time to eat. We are planting and supplying canes; the ground
is so dry we are obliged to throw water upon the beds before we can chop the earth. We

have each five double beds ; this is to be done at dinner time; the manager says ‘that is

not enough; we then get twelve lashes each; we all got twelve lashes each. yesterday,

we are too much punished; we have no time to get our victuals; we have every night

got work, whether the mill is going or not; Sunday night even is not excepted; sometimes

we must bring fire-wood from the canal mouth. Tuesday night we had to carry corn from

the great house to the horse-stable top; we were employed at this work till near morning,

We carry wood home from the canal on Sunday night as well as any other; the puntsmen

are employed bringing wood to the canal as well on Sunday as any other day. A consi-

derable quantity of wood was brought to the canal; it lay there, as we could not go for

it in consequence of the bad cough we had. If any of us go out on Sunday, we must be

back in time to bring home grass and fire-wood for the kitchen; after that we must still

o to the canal for fire-wood for the engine. Mr. Ross sends two bunches of plantains

or each negro every week; one week the men get two bunches and the women one; next

week we get two and the men one; the rest are kept for sheep and hogs. Mr. Ross sends

tobacco; we get none of that; we get no molasses, although it is given to the horses,

sheep and hogs. If you are sick, or have a sore, and put in the sick-house, only one bunch

of plantains is allowed, and the allowance of fish is stopped. Mr. Ross sends every thing

to the estate very well, but we do not get it. The overseer’s treatment is worse than the

manager's ; since Caaje is come home, she is confined both legs in the stocks every night,

Only four of us are allowed to take the magass from the engine; in M‘Cermot’s time there

were five of us to do this work. Our rum has been stopped for the week. Last night we

received orders from the driver that we were not to come home to day unless we finished

our work; we must boil plantains then for to-day; the ground is so hard we knew we

could not do it, and therefore came to complain. The above is the subject of our complaint,

In answer to the question, if they did not know it was their duty to seek redress from Mr.

Ross, as their complaints were entirely against the manager and overseer, they replied, the

men had complained on a former occasion; Eve also against a former manager for not

giving them molasses, &c. and she was flogged ; they therefore did not complain to him

now, and more particularly as the order they got from the driver last night, and the

punishment they received yesterday, induced them at once to complain.

Berbice, 5th September 1823.

James Patterson, manager of plantation Prospect, being heard on the foregoing complaint

states,—In the morningItell them to go over one row, forty-nine roods long, relieving and

supplying. Caius the driver reported to me at noon, that they had done only fifteen roods;

on their going out after breakfast, I directed the head man, who has great influence over

the gang, to go out and flog each of the strong women, as I was unable to go myself from

late indisposition; I had no place of confinement, or I would have imprisoned them. Six

of these women received twelve lashes each; the woman Hannah being in a state of

pregnancy, she was of course not flogged. With respect to the charge oftakingtheir

plantains, I lay over a certificate from the overseer, that a bunch of plantains and seven

pounds of rice, or twenty-five ears of corn, is given weekly to the gang, and two bunchesto

the others alternately. I give them rum whenever I think they deserve it; that is, when

they do a good day’s work. Previous to my coming to the estate, there were set days for

them to receive rum; butI did away with this, and gave it to them according to their

work, and I think it will appear that the consumption is greater now than formerly.

With respect to the tobacco: | give it out occasionally, always stating in my journal the

time of so doing. I had the corn removed from the room next to the one 1 occupy, on

account of being very much disturbed by rats; they were employed rather late, but as

I was sick and had not slept for two nights running, from the noise of the rats, I wished this

work done; when it was over the overseer reported it to me; I inquired how late it was,

and he said half past nine o’clock. I gave those employed at this work a basket of corn,

and I thought they were quite satisfied. 1 can solemnly declare the negroes never showed

the least cause of dissatisfaction on account of their allowance; and the only plantains

I ever gave to sheep or hogs, were some fallen ones out of an old walk. .

The negroes have occasionally been employed Sunday evenings to carry wood; it was

landed from twenty to fifty roods from the buildings, as the punts came in. The gang nevel

bring home more than twenty cords of wood a week; it is said to be twenty cords, but1

qoeasured would not be more than seventeen: this wood the whole of the gang has to

bring home after field work. The punt comes four times a week, and it can be very easily

carried home during the six nights; [ found they had done so previous to my coming t0

the estate, and.therefore continued it; they never complained of it to me, and ! did not
know it was wrong, or I should never have done it; I of course never will allow it tohe

done again.
6th September 1823:

Examination of the man Casar, belonging to plantation Prospect :—States, that by ore’
. . ’ cr

of the manager he went where the women were at work, with directions to flog the ee
women;
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women, giving each twelve lashes; that the women expostulated with him, showing him

that the work went on slowly in consequence of the ground being very hard; that they

had to wet the groundprevious to supplying it, for if the cane plant was not well put in

the earth, the manager would still order them to be punished; that the overseer then came

yp and repeated the manager’s order; he therefore told the driver to lay them down and

ive them twelve lashes, whichwas accordingly done; Hannah excepted, being pregnant.

The weakly women were not punished. ; ;

With respect to the charge of plantains being withheld from them, he corroborates the

manager’s statement, by saying the negroes who get one bunch have an allowance of

rice and corn. That a certam number of bunches are taken into the store for the

manager's use and the creoles ; but of the plantains sent to the estate, none to his

knowledge, or the best of his belief, have ever been given to hogs or sheep; that some

fallen down plaintains, out of an old walk,hadbeen given them; that he, Cesar, had some

conversation with the negroes last night on this subject, that they still assert it as a fact,
but it never has fallen under his knowledge, nor does he believe it, if it had he would state

it without hesitation. The negro women were called up into Mr, Ross’s presence, they

ointed out the manner in which they were employed on Sunday night; they confessed

that they were supplied with every necessary, and as far as. his case went they were satisfied ;

they acknowledged then, when served with one bunch of plaintains, they got a guilder’s

worth of rice, but that the quality was not good, or they got corn; that they never had

complained to him, or given him reason to know they were wrought on Sunday evening,

or that their plantains were withheld. Mr. Ross expressed to the manager his entire

dissatisfaction of the women having been flogged prematurely, and at the negroes being

employed on Sunday night; and promised the negroes they should have redress in as far as

their complaints were grounded, but expressed his disapprobation of their not having sought

redress from him as the attorney of the estate, instead of seeking it from the Fiscal; and

this conduct having been also pointed out by the Fiscal as a want of proper respect to
their master, who from their own account plentifully supplied their wants, they seemed to
regret the measure they had adopted.

Berbice, September 8th, 1823.
Complaint of the negro David, belonging to Mrs. Sanders:—-That he is too much

punished with the whip and tamarind rods; that he is employed to work in the kitchen,
garden, and also as cook; that he is swollen; the soles of his feet flogged with tama-
rind rods; that his mistress says he is lazy, which is the cause of his being flogged;
he was flogged with the whip lately; he has a beating at his heart, the cause of his
illness; his posteriors show that he has been lately punished, not to any excess, but the
punishment much neglected; soles of his feet examined, show no marks of punishment;
the negro appears to be in a dropsy, and as such is treated by the doctor who has
charge of the barracks, ,

Mr, Sanders :—Says, that the negro is a very bad character; that he was purchased
from Mr. Keersch for f.200; that little or no work is done by him, for on the least
harsh word he runs away; he is a constant runaway. My mother will not allow him
to be flogged, because he bears the marks of former punishment so very evidently;
he did receive a slight punishment for running away; this punishment was inflicted by
two small boys with tamarind rods, and it was to endeavour to shame him. My bro-
ther brought him to town five days ago to cook, and why he has run away I do not
know; he was flogged by said boys under his feet with tamarind rods on account of
his back being cut up.

. ; September 9th, 1823.
Complaint of Dinderdog, belonging to plantation Schepmoed:—{ am captain of the

_- punt; I steer the coriall when my master goes out. We came to town on Sunday;
on our return the coriall yawed about a little; my master got vexed. As soon aswe
got home, master, Mr. Westrick, ordered me in the stocks; I was kept there till Mon-
day morning. He directed the head driver to flog me; I begged him to pardon me,
as I was not aware I had committed any crime; he pushed me from off the gallery,
and I fell on some wood; I got up and ran away; they, the driver and some others,
followed me, but I escaped.

. September 1oth, 1823.
_ Complaint of the negroes Edward and Frederick, from Dankbaarheid :—We are plant-
ing canes; we have ten beds; I did finish my task; the manager put us in the stocks,
and the next morning we were punished. Edward had finished his task all to one row;
;rederick the whole of his, and was nevertheless punished. J asked why I was flogged;
ve Manager said we could run away in the bush, or go to complain, it was all one to

toe, We have plenty of provisions, plantains, fish, rum, clothing; but we have no time
a °ok our victuals, and we have no mind to eat. Their posteriors examined: Edward
Ppears to have had three or four stripes; none perceptible on Frederick.

Repl . September 18th, 1823.
the oP y of Mr. Westrick to the complaint of Dinderdog :—I employed Dinderdog to steer
appe onal he crossed the river several times without having occasion to do so; he
a ared to me intoxicated. I spoke to him of his improper conduct and being drunk,

©gan to laugh, and called out to my house-boy, saying, “ You had bettercome and
seers Dr. Een uys was present. We left Bestindigheid at half-past five o’clock,with

, the

Berbice:
 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
—

 



Berbice :

 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.

|

62 V.—FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

the tide in our favour, and we got home at half-past nine o’clock, from_his bad Steering,
I called at Herstelling, but did not stop longer than five minutes. When I got home

I ordered my head driver, who came to the water-side to light me up, to putDinderdog
in the stocks. He came in the house, and inquired why I was going to lock him w,
I gave him a push, and he was so much intoxicated that he fell in the passage where he
was standing, but not out of the gallery, as he stated; he got up and escaped; he was not
confined in the stocks at all, nor was he seen next morning by me, although I understand
he slept in the house that night.

September 19th, 1823,
Complaint of Jack, belonging to plantation Lochaber :—States, that last Thursday, ag

soon as day was clear, the driver called him to carry dry magass to the fireman; I went

to do so, and continued till night. I was then told to carry canes to the mill; driver came
up and began to flog me with his whip; I caught hold of the whip, and said, “ Don't
whip me so; if Iam to be flogged lay me down.” We had a scuffle; the driver tied me,
and said he would take me to the manager; we went to the door, manager was not
at home. The driver took me to the stocks, where 1 was confined till morning; next
morning the manager came. I thought he would have inquired into the business; in.
stead of that he had me lain down, and gave me fifteen lashes. He told me to go to
the field; I said, if I had been flogged for any fault | would be satisfied, but as Ihad
not stolen or ran away, I would go to complain. I ran away and came to town——
Why did you not complain to your master? If we go to master to complain, he hears
the manager, and we never get good satisfaction.

Berbice, 26th September 1829.
Complaint ofJohn, belonging to Mr. Forbes’s task-gang :~—States, [am liner; Mr. Forbes

gave me a woman to assist me to line; I told him a woman would not do, she could not
go through the bush: he said she must do; I was lain down and flogged. Next day he
refused to give me a man; I was flogged next day again. The third day it was the same
story. Driver was directed to lock me up in the stocks; L heard of it, and made my escape
to complain. We are working at Mr. Katz’s.

September 26th.
Complaint ofJonathan, belonging to plantation Lochaber :—States, I am fireman to the

engine; I am the only one; I had coals, which are consumed. Manager, Mr. Tush, told
the negroes to cut green wood. I told him I wanted dry, as the green wood would not bum:
it was so green that instead of making good fire it would not catch. I was flogged and sent
to make fire again; the same thing occurred ; I was flogged again. I am obliged to attend
the fire day and night, and have no time to rest.

September goth, 1829.
Reply of Mr. Tush, manager of plantation Lochaber, on the complaints of Jack and

Jonathan, of said estate :—I was from home on the 17th or 18th; on my return the overseer
reported to me that Jack had been confined by his order in the stocks, for fighting with the
driver about the works; a very short time previous to this he had attempted the same thing
with the head driver in the field: I found the account I received of this affair was correct,
I therefore ordered him the next morning to be flogged, and he received eighteen lashes.
The negro Jack had that day been employed with the mill-gang, bringing canes and carrying .
magass ; this work is generally done at six o’clock; they wash down the engine and go home.

Jonathan is one of the firemen of the engine; there are William and Paul also firemen
for the engine; one of these men assists complainant, throughout the day, bringing wood
and splitting it; they also take their tun of a morning at the gang aback ofthe engine. We
were out of coals;since supplied; some of the wood is green, but I could not possibly have
directed green wood to be cut: he was flogged for not keeping up steam to the engine,
when he might have done so; he was flogged a second time for the same fault; both
floggings did not exceed twenty-five lashes.

- October gth.
Examination of Will, belonging to M‘Lear, of Demarara, in Mr. Forbes’s task-gang :—

I complain of being always at work; we have too much work; I work with the shovel,
digging drains ; each man has five chains. The first day we clear stumps, next to dig the
drain; if itis not done we are flogged; no half row to be left, if so the driver gets flogged
also.

October 15th.
Mr. Forbes, manager of a task-gang, being heard on the complaint of John, states, That

they came from the West Coast about the 4th October; that they went to work af
Overwinning; that John is a liner; that all he has done from that day to the day he came

to complain (with the exception of two days when he was at Vryheid)was to line twenty-

eight drains; that he had a boy and a woman, and frequently two women; he had run some

of the drains wrong: I had threatened to flog him if he did not get the field finished, and he
ran away. The land he had to line was bush land, aback of the Caracha; the bush was
cut down all to a small corner ; it was very light bush.

With respect to the complaint of Will, states, That they were digging drains ; the facade

103 roods, deducting 7 roods for side-line and canal; six men are put to clear this facade,

and six men to dig the drain : this was the task, but it was not finished by several, amougs
others by complainant; the facadeis divided into two, consequently three men clear forty-
eight roods, and next day they are to digit. I have not flogged this man.
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October goth, 1823.
Complaint of the negress Sebith, the property of J. F. Schwartz :—Mr. Schwartz bought

meat Vendue fromBetsy Smithson. One day master went to Itheca; Mr. Wolff’schildren
were at master’s; a girl came to mind these children ; this girl struck my child 3 I heard it
cry, and inquired who had done it; this girl said it was she; I told her if she did it again
I would strike her; she went up to Schwartz’s wife, Amimba, who came down, took my
child by one hand and made this girl flog the child before me with her hand ;I said I would

beat the girl; I did strike her; mistress beat me with a stick; I held the stick and begged
her not to do so, as I had not offended her. When Mr. Schwartz came home, Amimba
told him her story ; he never inquired into mine, but put me both feet in the stocks ; I was
kept there for four days; he then sent me up to Noord Holland, (Mr. Williams’s); I got
sick after being there five months; he brought me home, saying I was sick; Schwartz

sent for Dr. Thuyrer, who said, I was not sick; master locked me up again, not in the
stocks, but in the room where the stocks are, for five weeks, during which time I had no
other food than dry barley and salt and water; this was because Mr. Williams brought me
down sick, and the doctor saying I was not; I was then sent to Dr. Kootje’s plantation ;
I went there ; I told the manager I could not work in the field ; he said I must. The doctor
came there, and on returning told Mr. Schwartz I could not do the task; the next time
the doctor came, he said master said every day I did not finish my task I was to be
flogged and locked up in the stocks at night. One day I came out of the field and told
the manager I was sick; he put me in the stocks till the morning and then gave me four
lashes; three or four days after I told him I had pain in the stomach and inward fever; he
would not believe me. I was again put one foot in the stocks at night; next morning
I was laid down, and received a severe flogging with the cart-whip; this was on a Thurs-
day morning; the stripes were so many [ could not reckon them. I was locked up after
the flogging, and got nothing to eat that day; next morning, Friday, I was sent to my
master. As soon as I got to him on the Saturday morning, he put both my feet in the
stocks all Saturday and Sunday. On Sunday at dusk he sent me six plantains and some
water; on Monday I was taken out, and went to mistress’s, who sent to call me. I was put
io clean the parson’s house; his wife took the horsewhip and gave me two cuts for no
fault I had committed; my master was sitting down in the hall, but took no notice; this
flogging with the whip has occurred within the last ten or fourteen days. After cleaning
the church, about evening he called a man, whose name I do not know, and ordered me to
be locked up in the stocks, and to give me four plantains anda little water. I made my
escape from the man, and came to complain. I have a young child; when I was sent to
Mr. Williams’s my child was taken from me, and sent to Itheca. I heard it had the yaws,
but since.my return [ understand it is well. I have not been allowed to see my child
(which is the only one) for nine months; this is by way of punishment, and I consider it
avery hard one. The child could not speak when it was separated from me.

October 20th.
Complaint of Conraad, belonging to Mr. Delinurt :—I am sickly, and complained to my

master of it, but he will not allow it to be the case. I must mind cows, hogs, and work
in the garden; my feet are very bad, and for the least offence I am flogged with carra-
carras. Tam also put to pick coffee, and for this also I am flogged. The doctor (Wulff)
puts my master up to flog me more than he otherwise would do; he directs me to dress
my sore with lint from an old caple.

: ; October zoth.
Complaint of the negro » belonging to Dr. Duggin :—-States, that he is ostler,

and has to take care of sheep and goats; that some days ago his master came from town
and drove a little pony; he' (complainant) observed it was tubbed; that same afternoon
he had a call; 1 cbserved the pony was galled, as the harness was too big; he directed
me to saddle it, and I did so; I girted it as well as I could, and begged him to observe the
same, in the mean time telling him that the saddle would slip and make the gall worse;
he aitended the call. When he came home, it proved as I had said; he saw it, and got
into a terrible passion; began to thump, knock down, and beat me severely with my
crutch. If any one of the sheep or goats die, I am flogged and beaten severely; do what
will the doctor ig not satisfied. He threatens to shoot me with a pistol. I have been
aceup every night for four months. When you came to the doctor’s the other day I was

whine stocks, having my backside cut. White people purchase negroes to work; but no
ile man is to kick and thump a poor negro with one leg. If I lose any of the sheep

oF goats, or neglect any of the horses, and get flogged, I am aware I deserve it.
be J.B. Schwartz, being heard on the complaint of Zebith, states, That she is very
unwillige young and strong, tu do her work ; but that from a disposition of idleness and
when Comal she every now and then complains of being ill; that she has been examined,
declarsane aining of this pretended illness, by Drs. Theyur and: Broer, who have both
she was h amere pretence; he therefore has directed the manager of Dr. Broer, where
request fee , if flog her when she pretended sickness; this has been done lately at his
ia eR” Tom the firm impression that he has it in his power to direct such punishment on

etractory slaves as the laws of the colony sanction.

ne *espect to the charge of confining her for five weeks, he states, That she was locked
76 toom; she said she was sick ; the doctor said not; I therefore directed she should.

be

Berbice:
 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
Vee”



Berbice:
 

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
WV

64 V.—FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

be locked up in the room; she had barley as good wholesome food; sometimes salt fish
was boiled in it; I think she ought to have complained of this treatment at the time; ang
not now, as it is some time ago. With regard tq the child, I have to state, that unless
J had taken the care of the child I have done, it would have been dead long since, as she
is so dirty and ill inclined that she will not bestow common attention on her person, far
less on her child; she has never asked me to see the child; and considers her mode of
treating the child-so improper, that since her return to me the 11th of this month,Inever
thought of sending for it. I am not aware of any thing to prevent her having gone to seg
the child when she was at Dr. Broer’s, if she had requested it. ,

October 21st, 1829,
Complaint of the negroes Romeo, Sandy, Sam, Brazil, Hannah and Rose, belonging to

plantation Profit on the West Coast.

Romeo, speaking for the others, states, That Hutchinson, the manager, is too cross; that
he will not give task-work, but works them by the day to that degree that they have no
time to get their breakfast; he comes after 11 o'clock in the field, and says we do not
work enough; the driver must give us twenty-five lashes every day. If we are flogged
we go to the burgher officer to complain; he gives us a letter to the manager; -but he
says I want no letter, and the complainant is laid down and flogged; two of the negroes
have letters they received from the burgher officer, which were given them by the manager
after being flogged. We have no attorney, or at least we hear of none, and we have not
seen one for five months; there is no fish, no salt on the estate ; we have not had clothes,
this makes the third year, nor have we Pipes or tobacco; we make plenty of rum, but
never get a glass of it; if we feel our skin hurt us, and, complain of sickness, we are
flogged; he then mixes salts, jalap and calomel together, which is given to drink. Rose
went to say she was sick; she was flogged with the whip, andis yet cut. The manager
says we are making bargain; we do not know what he means; he makes us think upon
what we don’t want. Sandy shows some stripes upon his posteriors; -he received them
in the field from the driver by order of the overseer; he says it is for work; we make
a bargain not to work. Having made our complaint to the burgher officer, who never
came to the estate, but gave us letters which were not attended to, and not knowing that
we have any attorney or proprietor, we come to the Fiscal to complain. We do not wish
ta run away in the bush, but we look for help. The manager came in the field the other
day after dinner; as soon as he came into the field, he laid the driver down. and flogged
him; next Sandy, and then me; I asked what I had done; but four negroes were
made to hold me, and I was flogged. I went to Mr. Munro to complain; he told me the
manager could not have flogged me for nothing; I suppose you gave him sauce, He
went next morning to the manager, who said I had been saucy. I was locked up in the
stocks day and night; I think I was confined two weeks; manager said I should stop
there till Christmas, because I went to complain to Munro; I asked leave to go out to
easemyself, and made my escape; the stocks are now full of people. Hannah hasa
severe cold, and complains of pain in the stomach; she says she is locked up in the stocks;
the manager says if she dies he does not lose his money; the negroes went to complain to
the Fiscal, and he came on the estate, and what did he do? Rose said she had a pain in
her side, and begged for a blister; manager said he would give her a blister on her back-
side ; she was laid down and flogged; the marks still visible.

October 22d.
Thetwo negroes, Fairbaim andToney, belonging ‘to plantation Profit state, we come to

know ifwe belong to any one and to whom. Mr. George Munro came and looked over
the place, we were very well satisfied, but he nor no one in his behalf has ever come to
look at it since, and therefore we aré entirely left to the mercy of the manager; we wish to
beg for jackets and clothing, which we have not had but once since Mr. Gordon was the
attorney. We do not come on account of laziness ; we can do our work very well, but we
must be fed like other negroes, which we are not, as we get neither fish nor tobacco;

thereis fish on the estate, but if we get it this Sunday, two or three pass beforewe receive
it again. I-was once sick. I have a girl named Charlotte, she went to the hospital 3 I weat

to complain to the manager, he said you are sick because your daughter is.sick; when the

doctor came the manager said I was not sick, the doctor is obliged to confirm. I was put
in the stocks for fourteen days; there were three other negroes in the stocks; we begged. to
come out of the stocks; he said, wait till the doctor comes, he did come; after heha
visited us we were sent to the field, and our work given; I said massa how can I do this;

I begged last night to go to my work and you kept me till the doctor came, it is now neat
eleven o’clock, how can I do what the others have been doing; manager said I was saucy,
called the driver, put me down, and flogged me. Selvia is with child, she went till time

for her to be delivered ; she had no place for her to be confined; three Sundays 2g0 she
came to my house and begged to remain there,I consented; she is not my wife. Granny

went next morning and told him, he inquired where she was confined; she told: him;
manager said I pretended sickness because Selvia came to my house. I said no, I com
plained before. Toney went to say he was sick, he laid me down and flogged me; sentme

to the field at eleven o’clock; I went again and said I was unable to work; 1 was put ia
the stocks; manager says the stocks is our physic. Confirms statement of the othet
negroes complaining to burgher officer.
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Complaint of Daphnis, belonging to J. A. Delinert :—Messrs. Fecire and Hemes came to

master’s; he came with a camando; he told meI was to go with him; he never asked

my master, nor did 1; I was to carry baggage; when I returned master was vexed and

wanted to flog me, but did not. Wecame to Maria Agness to weed coffee; Comaad came

there, we had finished our beds; driver said go look for firewood. Comaad went and told

his father [ was under an orangetree; we went again to weed, Comaad came and said

Thad not done it good; T said wait till night, if it is not done good then you can speak;
he said [will tell my father. At nightwe got rum; master inquired into it, he got vexed,

and ordered the driver to flog me with a carracarra; I had more than seventy; I was
flogged twice with the carracarra. I was locked in the stocks two nights; for twelve weeks

1 have had no rantzion.

October 25th, 1829.
Complaint of Apollo, belonging to Sandvoort :—I was confined in the hospital, having

a sore on my leg; I was there three months; I felt myself better; the manager being
from home, I asked the overseer to let me go to my werk; he neither replied yes or no.
Next afternoon [ went to work; next morning I was picking coffee; the overseer
(a Frenchman), and an old man, sent the driver to tie me; the driver had no rope; overseer
gaid, Call four men to hold him to be flogged; I did not know what I had done; I at-
tended to my work; I asked why I was to be flogged for nothing; that I wished to go to
my master, Mr, Cameron ; if the manager was at home I would speak with him. 1 went
tomy master; he gave me a letter to take to the overseer; said, Give it, then go to work.
When I got home and gave the letter, he opened it, but said he could not read it, being
English; he would keep it till the manager came, and told the driver to lock me: up in
the stocks. I then made my escape, and came to the Fiscal to complain; I could not
cross the creek without being taken, or I would have gone to my master. We are too
much punished in the stocks; when our foefoe is brought, the manager or overseer comes
and cuts off the greater part and throws it away, and only allows us a small portion of it;
fhe rest is given either to fowls or hogs, which may happen to be at hand.

November 1oth 1823.
Complaint of the negroes Wallace, Swift, and Pompey.

Wallace :—The manager came to the estate and found me a carpenter ; there are several
other carpenters; I am accused of being lazy, and 1 am one of the worst: he cannot bear
to see me inhis eyes. He sent me to work at Welgelegen; after finishing, Dr. Jifkins gave
a ball, and all the carpenters were employed to dolittle jobs for this purpose: the manager
accused me ofstanding up smoking, instead of working; he came with the driver, and said
Jifkins had seen me standing up in work-house smoking, and he had also seen me.
Ideclared{ had not. He had me lain down and gave me fifty lashes; the. lashes were
counted by one of my masters; he then had me locked up in the stocks, both legs. Next
morning Jifkins saw mein the stocks, and asked me how I came there. I saidmanager
put me there. He asked me why? Isaid, you ought to know, you told manager I wasdoing nothing but smoking: he deniedit,’ and opened the stocks to let me out to go towork: this has been some time ago. I was employed railing-in a piece of landfor fowls :
he directed -me to make a door opposite the fowl-house; he came and found fault with thedoor; he beat me severely with a piece ofmangrove, and had me flogged with another man.who is ruptured: we were both locked up in the stocks. The door is there now and to beSeen; it was not crooked. The manager is very severe; he never flogs, but the punishment.
is very cruel. We have been making three corialls; one is lest, the other is not corked.We were sent to.cut crab-wood, to makea coriall with eight oars: 1 was put to saw boards;manager told me to sharpen the saws: after doing this I lined and put up the block; thesaw had been lent out; when we began to saw I found it was spoiled; 1 was employed tillfen o'clock before I could set the saw. He .was out, and Sunday morning found fault.
On Monday, at eleven o’clock, we finished the log; it made eight planks. AsI was goin
to my house, manager told me to go and call fox: I thought he was in the field, butMeeting the driver he told me he was not. Manager directed a block was to be squared andlined for me to saw: after we turned out he said we were to finish it by night, or we shouldbeflogged. We knew it could not be finished : he directed us to be locked up at night; we
fri not; the manager had gone out, and on coming home he inquired if ‘the log wasinished ; the driver said, “No.” He asked, “ Were they put in the stocks?” Driverpoled, “No.” Manager said, “Never mind it is too late (it was after eight o’clock),O-motrow you and another driver come to flog them.” ‘We were underthe house, viz.
swiftand myself; and as we could not take the punishment for nothing, we came away
that night to complain.

oe |swift corroborates the above; and adds, that whatever work ‘he is put to he can do it,
o'clock‘and ail. 1s too severe. For the least: fault the negroes are locked up at elevengo and he all night; and whenever flogged, which is always severe, he adds, “ You maybp much youself, or “ drown yourself,” &c,or “live i the bush ;” all this hurts me
send you b anager says, “If you go to complain.to Melville or Kewley, they will only

you back, and you will get flogged.” Some of the. people came to complain to the‘attornies . j al = . c
was how’ im one mstance Mr. Melville directed the complainants not to be flogged; he

476 ever, flogged ; others also have complained, and have been flogged. The manager
says,
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says, “ You arefools for going,” and this makes us afraid; for if the attornies go, we aro

afraid to talk, because after going away we get severely punished.

Pempey, an invalid, says :—He is in the distil-house ; and when the mill is at work I am

ut fireman to the clarifier. I have bad hands and feet; the manager never releases me;

I often beg; he promises me, but never performs; if Iimportune him, 1 get flogged, and

he then says, “To-morrow I will give you more.” My arm is swollen; if I was to go to

him to complain, he would say I am lazy. Iam a diseased negro, and am continual

flogged. I begin to make fire from twelve o’clock at night till eight, and I am continually

able to be kept to it. I have now the marks of 4 late flogging.

November 11th.

Dr. Duggin being examined on the complaint of his negro the 2oth of October last past,

states :—That complainant has charge of the horses; that one of them having a sore, he

poulticed it, and gave him directions to renew the same twice a day; that he went several

times into the stable, and finding the interior of the poultice appear as if attended to, he did

not examine the sore, but merely satisfied himself by inquiry; about a week afterwards he

did direct the bandage to be taken off, and to his very great surprise he found the poultice

as dry as a brick, and the sore full of worms, a plain and convincing proof he had never

attended to it; he had him locked up in the stocks, which was about the time the Fiscal

stopped at his house; that another of his horses being much neglected, and the other

offence having been only punished by confinement, he threatened to flog him next moming,

after putting him in the stocks; complainant, however, broke out, and made his escape;

that. some time ago he, complainant, attended a flock of sheep; on occasion of his, the

doctor’s,. children going to England, himself and family came to town for a week; on their

return twénty-five of the sheep and some of the best wethers of the flock were missing;

denies positively ever ill-treating or abusing the negro, as stated by him, particularly kick-

ing or beating him with his crutch, a mode of punishmentnever attempted by him;

declares complainant to be so bad a character, and a dealer in obeah, that all his negroes

have jointly requested he may not be allowed to return home.

November 17th.

Coniplaint of Felice, Elizabeth, Constance, Becky, Susanna, Diana, Lucy, Maria,. Ztemine

and Aurora, belonging to plantation De Resolutie.

Felice, speaking for the rest, states :—That the governor, our master, when he purchased

us, gaye us a tax, one hundred trees to be weeded and cleansed; with this we were satisfied;

the manager,however, says this is no work, we shall not have task-work ; he gives each negro

a row of three trees ; if we do not finish the work given us, we are made to do it on Sun-

day;Ziemine, Maria and others wrought in the field on Sunday; the manager had the

driver locked upin the stocks. Oo

Ziemine says:—That she is content and happy when her master comes, who talks and

laughs with me; ‘but as soon as he goes off the estate, we are unhappy: Wehave no time

to eat, none to cook; we have no eleven o’clock 5 we are not wrought by task: Our master

gave us spoons; the manager is dissatisfied with this; he says the governor is {00 good,

he minds us as if we were children; he says he cannot flog us, because that can be seen,

but he will punish us with work. If any of the women be pregnant, no attention is paid to

them; they are wrought as hard as the others; for that reason there are no children;

manager. says he does not come to mind children. The rows given us have each sixty

trees; the bell is rung, but we cannot leave the field, because if the work given us be not

finished, we aré punished; the punishment is, we are to finish our work on Sunday. We

all have wrought on Sunday; not one Sunday, but every one that any field work is left

undone.

Complaint of Jim, belonging to F. Klaasu:—l do not want to go to the estate of my

master. Last Christmas he sent me with a horse to Lust tot Rust; when I came bac

I found my mattees dancing; 1 did the same; master gave me one -hundred lashes.

I do not do my work in the field, I am locked up in the stocks, and flogged; if he sends

me out and | do not return immediately, I am flogged and locked up. I do not want to

belong to him; he must sell me. If I go back, he will punish-me; and if he does, I will

hang myself. 1 don’t want to go in the bush; I am not lazy; but he must sell me. — In

the. field he gives me a bed to weed, and clean coffee ; it is a large bed, two rows of cpfiee-

trees; if not finished, all hands get flogged. I get no jacket nor tools.’

Master says, he gives one hundred trees a day, which he does ; he finished his task, and

Lam satisfied. Last Christmas 1 sent him with a horse: he was absent the holidays; the

Monday following I give the negroes; but as he was absent during the holidays, T said he

should weed Mr. Abbensett’s grave; he did not work longer than nine or eleven o'clock ;

it was not.a holiday, Last Saturday eight days { sent him and another negro to Brumont,

to go to town with the ebb and return with the flood; I had no other boat to send for pla

tains.. On Monday morning Berbice, the negro who went with complainant to sown,

returned, but not Jim; and I have not seen him. from that day till this.

Berbice says:—That he went with Jim to town; that they returned, and on Monday

morning went for plantains; that they brought the plantains, when Jim said he wante

ease himself; he left me for that purpose, but I saw him no more.
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FISCALS OFFICE.

EXAMINATION of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Quashy, Sharp, Dick, Thomas
and Spencer, against Dr. Munro, their owner.

Quashy states, That he works in the boiling-house ; they begin te work at 11 or 12 o’clock

at night, and continue until 8 or g o’clock in the evening; that he has suffered this for

many years, but at present he cannot suffer it any longer. This caused him and the rest

of his companions to come and declare before his Honor the Fiscal the way they are treated
and clothed by their owner. The whole of the above negroes declare, that before Dr.
Munro we:.t home, four years ago, he gave them a round jacket for their clothing; and
since that time until to-day they never received any thing else. They state, that with the
hard work in which they. are employed on the plantation they only get for their allowance
a small bunch of plantains for a week, (a bunch prodtced by the negroes containing
thirty-seven or thirty-eight small plantains); they also state, since they belonged to Dr.
Munro they never have received any salt fish, or salt to eat with their plantains. When
Dr. Munro went home he left Mr. M‘Lean as attorney for the estate, and Mr. M‘Lean
bought some salt fish, and gave them about 2lbs. each man for fourteen days. As soon
as Dr. Munro returned from England he found fault with Mr. M‘Lean for giving the
negroes salt fish, which he never had done, and dismissed him from his employment; and
since the return of Dr. Munro they have never received any salt fish. They all waited
upon Mr. Murray, overseer of the estate, who advised them to come to town and make
their complaint to his Honor the Fiscal for redress. They say, one day the whole gang
went to Dr. Munro, and begged him to give them something to eat; he answered them,
“T cannot help you, itis your own fault if you have no plantains.” The whole of the negroes
of the estate are ready to prove this.

' Berbice, goth May 1822.
After hearing the above complaint, the Acting Fiscal, accompanied by the burgher

officer, T. M. H. Duggin, proceeded to plantation Foulis, the estate alluded to, about
twenty-five miles from. New Amsterdam, belonging to Mr. William Munro, the owner of
the complainants; and having questioned the owner and many of the principal negroes on
the property as to the facts complained of, and having ascertained that they were in a great
measure groundless, but that some irregularities were certainly chargeable against the
overseers for not personally attending to see tlie allowance dealt out to the gang at a pro-
per time and in a proper manner, they were accordingly admonished, and Mr. Munro
recommended to dismiss them from his employ if they were not more attentive to their
duty in-future. Two of the complainants, who, it was proved, were guilty of insolence
and disobedience of orders, were punished in presence of the whole gang, who were in-
formed that any real grievance they had to complain of would always be attended to, but
that they would be severely punished whenever their conduct was proved to be refractory
and disorderly. A copy of the ordinance respecting the clothing and feeding of negroes
was then handed to Mr. Munro, who was informed that penalties wouldbe rigidly enforced
if the enactments were not strictly complied with.

| Berbice, 3d June 1822.
Examination of the negro Bristol, the property of plantation New Forest, belonging to

Mr. Smithson of Canjé River.

Bristol states, That he is a sickly negro, and not able to do hardwork; upon which
account the manager of the estate put him as a watchman over the fresh water, in which
situation he remained for a year, and the manager never found fault with him. One day
the manager was passing where Bristol was watching the water; he told Bristol he must
go home, and that he should get a good flogging. Bristol answered him, “ For what do
you want to flog me? Ihave done nothing wrong;” and he did not go home at all: this
appened upon a Friday. I went home on Sunday morning to get my allowance; ‘the

manager told me, “ So, boy, you did not come in on Friday to get flogged, but you come
to-day for your rations ;” he told the driver I should not get any allowance. I went again
¢ watch the water, and on Monday morning I went to the manager for my allowance;
;re called the driver, and flogged me; he said, “I don’t know what kind of work you do

at you come here to claim your allowance ;” and kept me without allowance for three
peeks, After I found the manager did not wish to give me allowance, I went to Mr. John
eimeron to complain. Mr. Cameron gave me a pass, and told me to go home, and as
om as he came there he would send for me, and inquire into my complaint. I went

and 0 andgave the paper Mr. Cameron gave me to the manager; he read it and laughed,
whi a a Boy, the pass is very good indeed; go and tell the driver to look for a good
and tan come here and flog you.” So I did, but the driver did not come at the moment,
man '€ Manager asked me if I had been for the driver; I told him, yes; then the

ager told. me to stop at his door. As soon as I saw the manager go away, I madem : ‘ i : . .
retness Po to town, for the purpose of making this complaint to his Honor the Fiscal for

476. The

Berbice:

Decisions on
Complaints of

Slaves.
a)



BerbiCES

 

Decisionson
Complaints of

Slay
MY
ere

€s.

aoe

_the Fiscal to make their complaint and seek redress, |

68 V.-BURTHEROPAPERS ‘RELATENG TO

The manager and head driver of the estate, New Fotest, to which Bristol ‘Belonred
being summoned to attend at the Fiscal’s office, to answer the. above complaint, and the
attorney’s (Mr. J. Cameron’s). statement ofall the circumstances havingbeen also obtained:
it-appeared thatBristol; an elderly and sickly man, had no-other employnient on-the estatg
but that of watchman, and that the manager, in going roundthé estate’ on the: momins
alluded to by the complainant, found he had neglected the light duty assigned him the
day before, and therefore threatened to flog him;.in consequence of which threat he ab.
sconded for two days; but on Sunday morning, when the gang were receiving their allow.
ance, he made his appearance, and demanded ‘his, on which the managerdirected the
driver to send him away; he, however, returned on Monday morning, wheti the manager
ordered the driver to give him six stripes, and-put him in the stocks; for which he came
to the Fiscal to complain-—He was ordered back to the estate, and warned to be more
attentive in future to his duty; and the manager was directed: to give him his allowance,
and not to-punish him again for this conduct.

Berbice, 9th June 1829,
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro woman Henderina, bélonging to. , L, C. Abensetts.

Henderina states, That she is a sickly woman ; she went, to: the: overseer of plantation
Providence (where she is working) to report herself sick and unable to go to the field;
the overséer gave her a dose of salts and a vomit, which operated, and she continued to
vomit for some hours-in the morning, and felt herself very weak in consequence of somuch
purging. At one o’clock in-the afternoon theoverseer came toher and told het she must
go intothe field to work, the physic still purging her, and she unable to do any work, In
consequence she came to town, and went to complainto her master (L. C. Abensetts);
when she cafne to-him, he told her to go away; “ I have-nothing to do with you; [have
hired you 1o’Mr. Henery, and you must work forhim.” That she went away, and‘wentto
‘Mama Lucy’s house, and remained there three days until she got a little better, when shé
inade wp-ler mind to go back 10° the plantation’on Monday morning ; ‘but’this morning
(Sunday) Mr, Abensetts came ito Mama Lucy’s yard and saw her there; he toldher to
go back; she said’she wai sick, butwould go to-morrowmorning; but her master told
her she must 90 to-day, or élse he' would sénd for a dienaar'to carry’her-tothe estate} she
said, before I go sick as [am [ will:go to the Fiscal;“she said shewished tobe’sold, and
have a masteF at’ oncé, eid not-té be sent-to-day one-side and: to-morrow another side,
She. lad been‘onve beforétd lodge thé same complaint to his Honor M.S. Bennett,: then
Fiscal, , ranean

_ On examining into the complaint-it was found to.;be groundless: - Fhewoman Hen- —
derma had:been alwaysaccustomedtoreside in‘town, and she:.did. not ‘like:-the idea-of
being removed from thence to plantation Providence, although that estate is not more than
two miles distant from town; she was therefore reprimanded for her conduct, and sent
back to, the plantation.

a Berbice,11th June 1829..
- Examinationofa Complaintpreferred by: the negroesCasar, Ditncan; Hero; Bacchi;Walt,

“Hector, Jeffery, Welcome and Smith, belongmg to.plantation:New Forest, agairist the
- Manager of:said:estate. .: —

__Casar states, That he is a good strong negro, and isable to do.anykind of .work which
is.pivento hits; -but as the manager of the estate gives hima task which he is.unable t9
finish avyday, although.hé works at his breakfast time, he is therefore obligedto stay in.the
fieldfrom morningtill late in the evening. Those negroes who are ableto.finish their task
wre.ordered'togo home, and those who are not able to finish are flogged . before they.g0
‘home. ~He states, that he’ endeavours his best to finish his taskbefore time; but when his
work is finished, the manager orders him to go and help those who have not doné their task;
and if-he sheuldrefuse’ to do so, he would be flogged: he says, that the manager told'hith
this:is the attorney’s order, that strong men must help the weak ones. He states, that yestef-
‘day the big punt; belongingto the estate, came to town, and whén she returned shie brouglit
“three. puncheons ofcoals, two kegs of nails, and-two kegs of paint. .The managertold-the
driver to call the negroes for the purpose of haulingup the punt: when thedriver called
the ‘first time, Casar says he: did not hear, and of course.did..not answer: the-diivet
came-amongthenegro-houses and saw him, and told him the managercalled:hiin to: help
toliatil up the punt; he wentdirectly,but the water bemg low, we cauld, not get-theputt
up. We took away the two kegs of nails and:two kegs of paint, arid brought them to the
manager’s house. After that was done, the manger told me and four.more we must go#
-the:stocks'; thrée of uswent in the stocks ; but T and Duncandidnet go ini” becatse We
had worked all day long in the field, and I was-so hungry thatI nearly fell down; and
{ saidto myself, before I will goin the stocks I shall go to the: Fiscal:=-Thenegroes Duncan,
Bagchus, Hero, Watt, Hector, Jeffery, Smith and Welcome, state -the sane .as' Coesath
‘ahdthey call‘upori thewhole gang of the plantation toprove the waythey:are treatedby
‘their manager; and they state the whole gang Were. ready to come to townto, his Hone

 

   

 

‘The day, after hearing this complaint, the Acting Fiscal;“accompanies “by! tha’ ier
officer, William Fraser, proceeded to plantation New Forest-; and-alter amitiute examimnatl®
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¢ the manager, overseer and a number of the gang,asto the facts complained of, found
omplaint entirely groundless ; and that the complainants, having in the first instance

been gui ty of disobedience of orders, made the complaint merely to secure themselves from
unishment. The ringleaders were therefore flogged in presence of the whole gang; who

were all reprimanded or their disorderly behaviour.

the ¢

. Berbice, 11th June 1822.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negress: Princess against Robert Semple,

her owner..

Princess states :—That this morning soon, she saw a woman of the name of Cuba sitting
down asleep; she said to-her, “ What was you doing last night that you did not sleep?”
At the same time Mr. Semple came outof his bed-room, and asked me what Isaid; I told
him, “I don’t speak with you, I speak with Cuba.” Then my master.said, “ You always
have something to say; better you shut your mouth.” I answered himagain, “ Master,
{don’t speak with you, I speak with Cuba ? ‘and then I came down stairs, and went into
the kitchen. Master followed me into the kitchen, and told meI had better'go to my work
than meddle my tongue; I answered hima, “I am doing my-.work, and you come to trouble
me; I was not speaking to you.” Then he went to the store and took a horse-whip, and
began to flog me. J asked him for what he flogged me? he said, “For badness.” I told
him, “ So long as you-flog me fornothing, I shall go to the Fiscal,” and I cameaway.

Sir, New Amsterd:m, Berbice, 12th June 1822.
With regardto thecomplaint preferred against me by the negro woman Princess, I have

nierely to say, that I charged her of insolence; of which she was guilty, as is apparent by
her own statement. To which I haveonly to.add, that it was not when she asked Cuba if
she was sick that I spoke to. her,. but subsequently, on her making some observations
respecting, my coming out of my bed-room; that when I finished dressing and went down
stairs, Ifound her in the kitchen haranguingher. mother, who pushed her out of the kitchen,
anddesired her to hold her tongue; for doing which she participated inher abuse. I then
repeatedly warned her, that unless she was silent and went to her work, I would bring:
ahorse-whip to her; this had no other effect than to make her louder, and to induce her to
tell me,to bririg the ‘horse-whip, which she did, I assure you, several times before I com-
plied with her request; this being the -first time, during more than four years that 1 have
owned her, that 1 have had recourse.to such measures.
a I have the honour to be, Sir, your most obedient servant, .

(signed). Robt. Semple:
To his Honor the Fiscal.

The woman Princess. was reprimanded for making this unnecessary complaint; and
informed, that'if her master complained of her conduct again, she would be punished.

Berbice, 18th June 1822,
Examination ofaComplaint preferred bythe negro Trim, the property of plantation Friends,

whereofMr. Forsyth is manager.
Trim states :~That some time ago the manager ordered him to go and make fire under

the engine, about twelve o'clock atnights as there was no-fire-wood close tothefire-place,
he went to fetch some wood; but as-rain was falling, the wood was all wet, and. the fire
could notcatch. _ At the same time the engine wasworking ; but the fire became too slack,
and not being sufficient for the engine, it stopped. As soon as the-manager saw the enginestop, he came to me and asked what was the reason the engine stopped? I answered him,
the wood was wet, and could not burn good. At that answer the manager called the
driver, andPet me down and flogged me; and the manager yesterday would have flogged
me again, if I had not made my escape to come to complain and ask redress,
In this case it wasproved that the steam-engine on plantation Friends was actually

stopped for a considerable time in consequence of the inattention of the negro Trim; who
wasordered to attend to the fire under the boiler, and supply it with fuel; and that his
story of the wood being wet was no excuse. The manager ordered the driver to givehim therefore a dozen of lashes, and to tell him he would be punished more severely if hedidnot attend to his work better in future.

|aoe.Was reprimanded for making“this unfounded complaint, and told thatbe deserved
heunishment he had received; and that if he was ever guilty of similar neglectof duty,© would be severely punished by theFiscal.
Examination ; Berbice, 22dJune 1822.
xamunation of a Complaint preferred by the negro Johannes, the’ property of plantation

ankbarheid, whereof Mr. Ross is manager.
fre manne States :—Thatheis a short-breathing man, and that he cannot stay close to the
he cann ene? that some time ago the manager put him to make fire for the engine; that
do not ° sulfer fire, andcannotmakegoodfire. The manager said to him, “ I believe you
times ee to make fire,” or, “ You do it.on purpose ;” for which he floggedme three° hohe day, and ordered meintothe stocks the whole of the holidays. As soon as
the manae. were over he released me, and sent me to work in the field. . ‘Five days after,

476 Sor put me again to make fire for the engine; I'told him I was not able to make
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‘feeling herself too weak to do any work, she'same away to complain,

40. V.=FURTHER PAPERS RELATING TO

any fire; but the manager said again, “ You-must do it, or else:I.shall-have you flogged
I told him I could not stand over the fire; then the manager called the .driver, and.floves

me again; that passed almost every day.. Yesterday (Friday) I .was flogged.twice ; and

when the driver was called to flog me the third time, I made my escape, and came to town
to complain for redress. He states, he will do any other work upon the estate, except
making the fire for the engine. SC

On examination into this complaint, it appeared from the evidence of the attorney and
the manager that the complainant was a very lazy, idlé negro, and that he had been tried
at various kinds of work, and at last put to make fire, as: most suitable for him; thation
account of neglect of duty, he had been slightly punished in. twa or three instances, byt
never to the extent complained of; and thathe had the choice of. working in the field, jf

he preferred it. o eid,

’ On inspection, Johannes had no marks uponhim to prove that he. had beenrecently

punished, as stated by him; he was therefore ordered back to the estate, and the manager
was directed to put him to work in the field with the women-gang, asit appearedhe had
a slight complaint in his chest, which at times affected his breathing.

B Compl ferred by the negress Jenn Berbice, gdJune 1820,
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negress Jenny, the property -of' plantatit

P Litchfield, whereof Mr.-Vass is manager. property.of* plantation

- Jenny states :—That she is a sickly woman, ‘and unable todo anywork at Biesent along

with the rest of the gang; she has had a pain in her breast for neartwo’or tliree months,
which makes her weaker daily; she told the managerseveraltimes about it, and bégsed
for medical assistance, but in vain; for the manager fold her she made shamto avoid
‘work. ' After.some timethe doctor was sent for to see her, andonlered ‘some medicine for
cher, which she never received; the only thing which'shepotasa-wartn bath and a dose of

ered her'to go-to het: work; 3

The medical practitioner forplantation Litchfield,and‘themanager, both declared the
woman Jennyhad every appearance of being in good health; and the manager and
overseerbothstated, that she never-woulddo work of:any-kind. onthe estate,: ‘The morning
‘she cametothe Fiscal’s officeto lodge her complaint, shehadwalked. eighteen miles; Litch-
field being that distance from-town: and although, by her own. statement,she.was at that
time too weak to do any work, she did not appear to be at all fatigued:by thejourney. She
“was severely reprimanded by the Acting Fiscal, and sent backto the estate, and themedical
“practitioner was réquested to ake inquiry“about her wheneverhevisited‘the plantation.

_. Berbice, 28th June 1822...
-Exdmination of a ‘Complaint preferred by the negroWelcome,:belonging to _plantatiot

Vryburg, whereof Mr. Saulismanager,

~ Welcome states :—-That sometime last week the manager ‘calledhim to’ hiddoor, and
asked him what was the matter with him, that he spoke so much for the last two orthree
days; and that some of the negroes told him (the manager) I was-always speaking about
him. 1 answered the manager that I never said anything ‘bad ‘about him. The ‘manager
gaid the negroes had told him | wasa bad man. “Wellmaster,ifthe driver don’t like me;
I cannot help it.” The manager said, “Well, hold your tongue, Sir.” 1 told himT nevet
saw an estate so bad as this. Then the manager called two drivers, I toldthe manager
these two drivers always gave me double the work[ am able to do} then the managet
ordered me to be put in the stocks (both legs), and said, “ Go, ‘go; to-morrowIshalt
fiscal your bottom; you shall not spoil your master’s estate.” Then Iwas put. in the
stocks on Monday, and the next day I was taken out and flogged by two drivers; Tie.
ccived’104 lashes, and then put in the stocks again with one foot in. I told the house.
boy to beg the manager to let me out for five minutes to go and wash mybottom, ‘but I

was refused. ThereI was kept four days and four nights, with an ‘allowance of three
wasted plantains and a botile of water perday. My wife came to me to bring me some,
food, but she was refused permission to give itto me. During the four days I wasin the
stocks, I was-not allowed to go to the privy-house. When the manager’ came to take me
out of the stocks, he told me he was very sorry to have flogged mein that kind of way.
«T have observed since I came here as manager, that you do your. work.very well, arid Iam
sorry to have punished you.” And then I was released out of the stocks, ‘and sent to the
hospital to cure myself. oO

After a thorough investigation of this complaint, which, if the racts stated by the coms
plainant had been.true, would haye been a very serious one for the manager, it appeared
that Welcome wasa riotous insubordinate character, and was always the head man whent

any thing wrong was going on on the estate; that in the present instance the manager Ws
Informed Welcome was endeavouring to persuade the other negroes thatthey.had te0-
much work given to them; and that on receiving this information he called Welcome,
_endeavoured to reason with him on the impropriety of his conduct, but that Welcom®
instead of attending to him, became very insolent: on which he orderedhim to- be ned
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J in the stocks till the next morning, when, in presence of the overseer, he received Berbice:
fined in oe Tis was approved of by ‘the ActingFiseal, the complaint dismissed, and —
Welcome severely reprimanded for his misconduct. Decisionson

Complaints of
Berbice, 2d July 1822, Slaves,

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negress Marietje, the property of Juno W—___
Frauendorff.

. Marietjé.states :—That.on Saturday the 29thJune all the women belonging to the estate
were ordered to go and weed grass about the negro-houses in the afternoon ; ‘theyall went
to work in.the-negro-grounds according to custom in the evening. As they. came ‘home
she found herhouse broke by a hog; she went to her master for some nails, which she got.

As she was mending her house her husband came home to see her (a negro belonging to
Mr. Jansen); and remained there until the morning. Now some of the negroes. went and
told her mistress that a white. man slept in her house on.Saturday night; for which her
mistress, without asking if it was so or not, ordered her to be put in the stocks on Sunday
evening; and onMonday morning she was taken out, andflogged. She came to complain
to know what was the reason she was put in the stocks and flogged,forher mistress never
told her; she only learnt she was flogged because she. did sleep with a white man;
and shecan-callher own husband as a witness that he. did sleep with her on Saturday
night, aiid: no-one elge.. Shé states, that Juno Frauendorff is her mistress, and Thomas
Jansen is her mistress’s husband. That after she was flogged, she went to her mistress
and told her, “ Thank.you, mistress.” Thomas Jansen came to her and said, “ You must
say, thank you,master,also;” which she refused to say. Thomas Jansen told me, “I shall
“put a.chain on you, and make you work with it;” upon which threat I made my escape,
arid came to town to the Fiscal for redress.

On examination, itwas proved that: the wornan Marietje had been punished by order of
her mistress ‘without any sufficient cause; her mistress was therefore fined J: 300; and
Thomas Jansen was informed, that if he attempted to put a chain on Marietje, or to punish
her in any other way, he ‘would be prosecuted,-as it appeared in evidence that-he was the
cause of her mistress punishing her in the first instance.

. Berbice, 5th July i822, -
- Examination of a Complaint preferredby the negroes Mourant; Joseph, Secondo, Frank,

Mackay, Fanny, Susan, Louisa, Daly, Cuba, Cohy, Quajo, Elias, Quamy,andFanny,
- 4girl,the property of John Quarles, plantation Plegt Ankar, |

Mourant states :—That he has belonged to. Joha Quarles about 30. months, and, since he
has belonged to him:he only remembers to. have--been free. of work on Sundays eight or
nine times. He has always been working on Sundays from morning until late at night.
He states that the girl Cuba has been sick with yaws for near four months, and never got
any thing to eure them, except one day the doctor came to her, -and ordered her to drink
sulphur, which she drank for twoor three ‘weeks; but while she was drinking ‘sulphur, she
was obliged to go inthe field with such heavy rains, that she never could get-better.
Besides the.hard work with such a sickness, she is almost every day punished; particu-
latly about two weeks ago, she was tied up to a tree and there well flogged. Mourant
states, that while the gang are at work in the field, Mr. Quarles goes to the ne ro-houses,
and if he sees any fowls or ducks belonging to the negroes, he will take and kill them forhis dinner; and if the negroes speak, about it, Mr. Quarles says the ground belongs to him,
and tiot to the negroes._—Joseph states, that sitice they came from the Corentyne. to the
river, he does not know what is called Sunday, for he is never free of work; and when
dancing days come, and other negroes dance, he is obliged to work sometimes until nine
or ten o'clock at night, He cannot keep any stock, because his master takes it away from
im.—Secondo states, that since he came to work up the river, hé never had one Sunday

freeto ‘himself, and particularly the great holidays; if any negro speaks about going to
please himself, he is sure to get flogged. There is no breakfast time allowed, and some-times they don’t come home until nine or ten o'clock at night from their work. They
Scarcehave timetorest, when they are turned out again. He cannot keep stock, for his
master, when he wants a fowl for his dinner, sends the boy Coffy to the negro-houses, whotakes any onehe can find.—Boy Coffy states, that he is the house-boy; ahd sometimes his
master tellshim to go and look for a fowl in the negro-houses, which he does; and his
iuaster desireshim if any negro comes to claim it, I must tell him that the fowl had noousiness in “his yard. No Sundayor other holidays are kept on the estate amongst the
egroes,—The rest of the negroes state the same thing.
anehearing this complaint the Acting Fiscul proceeded to plantation Plegt Ankar, where,
it ‘ra minute examination of Mr.Quarles and the complainants in presence of each other,

' he‘proved that the negroes were very hard-worked, and thatMr. Quarles was in the
kills th "*mployingthem till late in the day almost every Sunday, and that he frequently
there erdueksand fowls without paying for them at the time he takes them. He was
sucht, my sesured, that if ahy. more complaints were made against him by his negroes for

me. ‘tatment,‘hewould be criminally prosecuted; and was directed, in presence of his
Fey >tumish any one of them that asked for it with a proper pass to proceed to the
dicks » one "He was also directed forthwith to pay them the full value for any of their
vena. fons that he had ordered to be killed. © )
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Berbice, 12th July 1899,

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Prince, Jasmin, Abercrombjs

"La Fleur, Baron, Nwna, Ben, Leander, Tom, Cupido, For, Figaro, Englund, Tom, aud

M‘Farlane, the property ofplantation Herstelling, against the Manager of said estate,

Prince states:—That the manager of Herstelling turas the gang out-in the morningg

iong time before the gun fires at the fort, and at day-light all the’ gang at their work. At

breakfast time, when the bell rings, before the negroes are able to put their victuals on the

fire, the bell rings again to turn out; so that most ofthe negroes go in the field again

without breakfast. He states, that the manager gives them more work than they are able

to do; and if the work is not done in time the whole gang are flogged. That their allow.

ance only consists of one bunch of plantains anda little fish every week, and no mori,

Fle states, that when all the gang are at work, and two or three of them have not finished

their task, for the sake of these two -or three people the whole gang are flogged: this

happens almost every day in the week,—Jasmin states, that the manager turns out the

gang a long time before gun-fire in the morning, and that before day-light the gang are at

their work. When the bell rings for breakfast, before they are able to begin to cook their

victuals, the bell rings again to turn out; and so they have no time to eat any thing befor

they go into:the field again. That only one bunch of plantains andalittle fish is allowed

them fora week; and on account of two negroes who had not finished their work, the

whole gang was flogged yesterday: this happens almost every day. When -they’ are not

flogged by the manager they are flogged by the overseer. This happened since the pre.

sent manager came to the estate; it was not s0. before.—Ben states, that the manager

turns them out very soon in the morning; before gun-fire the whole gang are in thefield at

their work; and that they-only get a bunch of plantains and a little salt fish for their

allowance every week. That at eleven o’clock when the bell rings for breakfast they have

only time to get home; ‘for as soon as they are at the house the bell rings again to tna

out.. The negroes have no time to eat their bunch of plantains, He endeavours his hes:

to please the manager with his-work, but the manager is never satisfied, and must flog

them whether they are-right or wrong.—The remaining twelve negroes state the same.

Hussar, head driver on Herstelling, states; That on Thursday last he had a gang of six.

teen men. with him,. weeding young canes in a field about 500 rods from the buildings.

That the whole gang were at.their work, and had got three.beds.weeded -before the sun

rose. An overseer, Michael Harrold, came to thefield at seven o’clock, reckoned the gang,

and directed the driver to see the work was properly done. About an hour after the

manager came to the field, and ordered the driver to flog the whole gang, with the excep-

tion of one-man, Alexander, asthe work was not going onproperly.

- On inquiring into the truth of this statement, in presence of the attorneys.of the estate,

it appeared that although the manager's conduct was, in some measure, reprehensible, yet

the complainants had greatly exaggerated their grievances. They were therefore ordered

to return home, on the attorneys promising to go to the estate the next day. to see that

every real cause of complaint was remedied; and to warn the manager, that-if the negroes

had cause to complain again, he would be immediately discharged.

Berbice, 14th July 1822.

Examination ofaComplaint preferred by the negress Rose, belonging to Mr. JamesFraser,
West Coast. ,

Rose states :-—That she is a sickly negress, and that she is not able to do any strong

work. She says, that when she goes to the manager and tells him she is sick and not able

to work, the manager laughs at her, and tells her to go to her work, or else she shall be

flogged. She finding herself unable to work, and too sick to receive punishment, ran away

from the estate, and came to the Fiscal to complain and ask redress.

Rose was sent back to the estate, and the manager was directed to let her remain in the

hospital till examined by the doctor who attends the estate.

. Berbice, 17th July 1822.
Examination of a complaint preferred by the negro Green, belonging to plantation Gol

stone Hall, the property of the honourable William Fraser.

Green states :—That when his master bought him, about seven years ago, he wasvery

bad with sere legs, and unfit for any sort of work on the estate. One day his mastef

came to the estate 10 inspect the negroes. When he came to him, he said, “ Go away

with you, what time will you be able to buy a piece of plaister to dry up yoursores’

At the same time made me pull off my trowsers, and gave them to a woman and desire

her to burn them. After some time my foot got better, and my masterorderedmeinto

the field, where I continued a long time. . Since the manager came to the estate he ort

me to take a shovel and go to work with it; but my. foot being sore, and Inot able

work with the shovel, becansé if I did so my-foot would break out again, told him Iwo

do any other work on the estate. The manager answered, “ Then damn you and yout

foot; I don’t care if you break out from head to hheel;” and ordered me to be put into the

stocks with both feetin. It was in a dark room, and I was kept-there eleven days. Whea

1 was released, he ordered me.again to take a shovel, but.I refused; ‘when I was pat

the stocks with both feet in for two weeks., Last Saturday I was taken out ofthe stort
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and sent to-work.in the field. Sunday morning all the gang were ordered to haul timber,
at tlie same time I went to ease myself. The manager came to see the, work, and asI was
not there ie put.me in the stocks again’ until Monday at eleven o’clock, when I was
released and sent to the field’ In the evening, when we brought home grass, the manager
came tosee‘if I’ brouglit grass according to his wishes; he found no fault with me.
Amongst:thée wholegang of negroes, about. 300,_I am the only one the manager has a
apite against,for which reason 1come to seek redress.

The complainant having no_mérk whatever ofsores cn his feet, was severely repri-
manded for his ‘disorderly ‘and improper behaviour; ‘and told, that. if the manager ever
again had, o¢casson'to complain ‘of his neglectinghiswork, he would be severely punished
by tlie Fiscal.

    

 

—_ oo ‘ Berbice, 21st July 1822.
“Examination ‘6f ‘Complaint preferredbythe negress Sankey, belonging to plantation
, :Vryburg, the property of Messrs: Wulff, Brown & Co.

_ Sankeystates,That in consequence of her:+husband having been sold without her and
her children, she makes this representation for the purpose of being sold with her husband,
having. a. little ehild byhim, and-not.ableto.support it.

- On investigation’‘of this complaint, it was found tobe entirely unfounded. Sankey’s
husband:was ‘sent; with’ four’or ‘five other negroes, ina punt from plantation Vryburg,
belongingto Wulff, Brown'& Co. who had a large mercantile establishment in town for
stores;‘andthose gentlemen requiring the assistance of an additional number of hands to
land ‘goods,-andfindingthat ofie: man ‘could be spared from-the punt, detained the man in
question in town for a few:days. Sankey was reprimanded for making sucha frivolous
complint,'and sent back: to the estate with her husband. -

 

. ; . 0 . Berbice, 29th July 1822. -_
‘Examinationof a-Coniplaint preferred by the negro Azore, belongingto plantation °

, moe Recumzigt: oS pe

A2ore'states, That the manager put him topick coffecvin the logie, which work he had
never‘done’ before.: At’11-0’clock the manager went to’the logic, and found that he had
not filled his basket;for which:he was ‘flogged :. dnd‘ from ‘that ‘time he was ordered into
the stocks every night, and ‘in’ thé day-time was sent tohis work. ‘Eyery Saturday even*

.. ing he ig ‘put: into ‘the ‘stocks until. Mondaymorning; and ‘that it is’ about ‘four months
sincé he-has béen.‘punished’in ‘this manner, ~ Last Saturday evening, when the overseer
called him again to go “intothe stocks, he raw away, and came to town to complain; and
callsupon. the negro-William to.prove that. he (William) put’ him ‘every night into:the
stocks: ps :

  

  

Bgcomplaint’ beitig of a very serious natiire, ‘the manager, ‘overseer-and William weré:
ordered to attend “atthe Fiscal’s office to dnswer “it; whén, ‘after a thorough: examination,
it appeared‘that’ the -tiegro Azore:wasan’idle, ill-disposed man, and that: having never.

"finished his task in thefield ike the other men,"hewas’ put~in’the logie with the: women
to clean coffee on Monday morning. That, instead of cleaning the same quantity as the

, he did not’clean“half as much; in consequence of which he was flogged and
d'tobeput in the-stocks*every tight till he ‘cleaned ‘the quantity of coffee requited

of him. That he had certainly, in consequence of this order, been put in the stocks every
night-from Monday till, Saturday;, but. no longer ;-and that on Saturday night he would
have! been :eonfined againhad he not made his-escape and come: to ‘complain: «- co
_ Aor’was sentback“to-the estate, after being severely reprimanded.for his idleness and
neglectofduty; ‘and ‘the Manager was wartiéd neveragain‘to inflict on him so severe
a punishment in the stocks, every night for a week, for-so trivial an offence as not finishing
thetask.assipned to him, .

  

Reaidiacaie oo. Berbice, 5th August 1822. |
“audation ofa Complaint preferred by the negro Thomas, the property of plantation

-Goldstone-Hall, against the Manager of said estate.- Co

__ Thomas states, That in the beginning, when the manager came to the estate, he flogged
himtwicefor.nothing. He:went:to complain to Mr. Fraser, but no satisfaction was given
te:bim ; -bat-Mr.F.told:him:.to_ goshome and do his work: He did so; but last Saturday:
itbenefrom.the bush, where he had -been cutting fire-wood;.and being very tired, and

” benga-dark night,:he: went to the negro-houses and fell asleep. -The next morning he
Wentfo take his allowance, -but was refused any: at the same time the manager called the’
Hver,;and:orderedhim(Thomas) into the stocks, and: he. supposed the manager would
ee. jain Monday. morning ;:for which reason he ran.away from the driver, and came to
im,to.»:to know:for-what reasén the manager stopped his allowance and then ordered:

would Stocksyfor-he dogs not know-he committed any crime to be punished. He
conphe ve-gone.to.his.master, but fearing his master would not have listened to his
np atnty.he came-to his Honor the Fiscal for redress.
vihieTheo mplainant was told, if the manager had florged him for nothing £0 long ago as

176 ‘fook overthemanagement of thé estate, he onoht then to: lave complained of
sO him:
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him; that in the present instance he acknowledged he was ordered to be put into the
stocks for neglecting his work, and that, therefore, he ought not to have complained of the
punishment.

Berbice, 6th August 1829,
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Frederick, Jem and Davy, belonging

to the plantation Profit, against the Manager of said estate.

Frederick states, That after having worked the whole week for his master, he thinks that
thé Sunday belongs fo the negroes; for which reason he is in the habit of going over to
the next estate every Sunday morning to see his friends, and returning in the evening: for
doing ofwhich the manager sends the driver to take him up, and puts him in the stocks
till Monday morning, and told him he must not go anywhere off the estate. Last Sund
he went to the next estate to sce his friends; the manager sent the driver after him, and

put him in the stocks until Monday morning, and then gave him a good flogging; and
since, he has been confined in the stocks at night: he therefore comes to complain, to
know if the manager is allowed to use him so. |

Jem and Davy complain of the same treatment as Frederick; on which account they alt
agreed to come to town, to make the complaint to his Honor the Fiscal for redress, for
they do not wish togointo the bush like bad negroes.

_ In this instance the complainants were ordered back to the estate, after being informed
that the manager had only done his duty in punishing them for their disobedience in going
off the estate without passes; he having proved to the satisfaction of the Fiscal that he
had informed the whole gang that they would never be denied passes when they applied
for them.

Berbice, oth August 1822,
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Joe, belonging to plantation Buses

Lust, whereof Mr. Johnstone is manager.

Joe states, That the manager ordered him to go over to plantation Resolutie to dig
trenches; he told the manager he was not able to dig trenches because his stomach hurt
him. The manager‘said he must go, or else he would flog him. Joe told him he could
not dig trenches; then the manager put him down and flogged. him; afterwards ordered
him to go and cut grass, Joe did so; but yesterday morning (Friday) the manager
flogged him again, and ordered him to take his ‘shovel and cutlass and go to Resolutie;
which he refused to do, and got away, and came to town to complain.

The Manager stated, in answer to this complaint, that Joe was a strong able negro, and
capable of doing as much work as any man on the estate; but that he was very idle and
disorderly. . That in the present instance he was ordered to go, with the rest of the gang,
to work on plantation Resolutie, an estate belonging to the same proprietoras Buses Lust,
on the opposite bank of the river, but that Joe refused to obey him. Supposing he was

really unwell, the manager allowed him to remain at home for a day or two, and gave him

-gome-light work about the buildings. On Friday, seeing Joe apparently quite well,he
again ordered him to go to Resolutie ; which Joe refusing to do, he flogged him.

Joe was told he deserved thé punishment he had received, and was ordered to proceed

forthwith to plantation Resolutie, where, if he neglected his duty, he would be severely

punished by the Fiscal. ,

Berbice, 12th August 1822.
Examination of the negro John, belonging to William Ross, Corentine Coast.

John states, That his master gave him twelve beds to plant with canes, and to be finished
before 11 o’clock in the morning, which he could not perform, and was obliged to work
during lis breakfast-time. When the driver is ordered to flog any of the gang, he is in
the habit of taking powdered glass and marabunters (wasps), and mixing them together,

and then rubbing his whip with the mixture. He states, that sometimes the overseer g0¢

to the field with the gang, and eats their plantains, and also takes some from them an
feeds his dog. John says, that he and four other negroes left the estate for the purposeof
coming to complain; but the four men not being able to swim over the creek, they were
obliged to go back, and he alone came to complain and ask for redress. The driverwho
put the powdered glass and marabunters (wasps) on the whip is named Bob. Thosewho

were present on Sunday when John remonstrated with said Bob (the driver) on this matter,

are Bob, Thomas, Duncan, Welcome, Ned, Forres, Phillip and John.
The plantation Culcairn being at a considerable distance from town, some time elapsed

before this matter could be properly investigated. On the 18th September Bob and Thomas

beingconfronted with John, and being asked whether they heard any thing of a conversa
tion between the driver Bob and John, respecting his rubbing the lash of his whip vith
pounded glass and marabunters (wasps), or whether they saw Bob do any thing of {ne

kind, they both peremptorily denied the same, although ‘they lived in Bob’s housewith

him all the time they were on plantation Culcairn.

Bob, the driver, a sensible, well-behaved negro, also declared that he not only neverdid

or spoke of rubbing the lash of his whip with glass, as alleged by John, but that he never
dhought of such a thing, ‘
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The manager and overseer of the estateboth stated, that if Bob had really been guilty
f such a cruel act, John ought to have complained of it to them; and that in that case,
t it had been proved, Bob would have been sent to his Honor the Fiscal for punishment.
} John was therefore severely reprimanded, and sent back to the estate.

Berbice, 20th August 1822.

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro James, belonging to Dr. Smith.

James states, That he has belonged to Dr. Smith for four years, during which time his

master never gave him allowance of any kind for food or clothing; consequently he is

obliged to find himself in every thing. At the same time he does the work of three good

men; he has to mind five horses, and cuts grass five times a day for them ; he minds two

cows, milks them morning and evening, and. has to take care of them in the pasture: he

has to clean the house every day, and wash it once a week; and when the grass is high in

the yard, he must weed it and keep the yard clean. That during his master’s sickness,

his house-keeper was in the habit of every day killing a fowl belonging to him; and when-

ever she wanted any eggs, she would go to the fowl’s nest and take what she wanted; and
that he has had taken from him eight fowls and twenty-four eggs. For these reasons he

comes to his Honor the Fiscal for redress,

Dr. Smith, bemg summoned to attend at the Fiscal’s office to answer this complaint,
declared that James’s whole statement was false. That with respect to his fowls and eggs
heing taken, once or twice while he was ill, it was true James had been applied to for some
eggs and chickens, but that he had been paid the full price he had demanded for them;
and as to his having so much work allotted him, the fact of his having leisure to attend
to and raise such a quantity of poultry was a sufficient proof to the contrary. That,
however, as it appeared James did not wish to belong to or remain with him, he would
allow him to remain in town till the next public vendue, when he would sell him.

, Berbice, oodAugust 1822,
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Jacob and Dirk, both belonging to

plantation Sandvort.

Jacob states, That the manager sent him toplantation Smithson’s place to fetch some
tar, which he brought back aboutg o'clock in the morning. The manager then ordered
him to go and weed grass on the road, where he went and did so: from g to 10 o’clock
he weeded three rods and a half. The manager told him, “If you don’t weed the road
before night, you shall be flogged to-morrow morning.” I told the manager I was sent
too late to my work, and if I did not finish the road it was not my fault. The road
was not finished at night; the next morning I was flogged by the manager’s order, and
received eighteen lashes. I was sent to my work, but in the evening was ordered into
the stocks, in order to be flogged the next morning; but I made my escape, and came
to complain.—The negro Dirk stated the same as above; they both came for the same
cause,
These negroes were reprimanded, and sent back to the estate; it appearing from

the evidence of both the manager and overseers, that having neglected their work they
had been slightly punished for it, and ordered into the stocks at night; but that the
manager had no intention whatever of punishing them again the next morning,

oo. Berbice, 239d August 1822.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Feliz, belonging to plantation Scotland,

against the Manager of said estate. -

Felix states, That he has had a black womanupon the estate for his wife now two years;

and the reason. of his coming to complain is, that the manager of theestate takes her
from him, although he has a wife of his own. He is always taking the negroeswives,
Peienlarlyhiswife (Felix’s); for she has had a child for him; and since the child has
time orn, the manager is always punishing him and his wife without a cause.. Some
him ace ten of the gang came to complain to their master, (Dr. Broer),to report to
that hot the manager had connexion with their wives: their master promised to them
this € would remove the manager from the estate, and place another one there. Upon

0 atothnn © the negroes returned to the estate; but since that they have never heard
nother manager. Felix and his wife are daily punished, which has compelled him

to come to your Honor f
for redress. He calis upon the whole gang of the estate to provehis assertions to be correct,

, . ™
De preating this complaint, the ActingFiscal proceeded to the estate, accompanied by
other omth € Owner; and on questioning the manager and negroes, in presence of each
work. ana € subject-matter of the complaint, it appeared that Felix had neglected his
which he a told he would be punished if he did not finish his task the next day,
to the Fiscal not do; and therefore supposing the manager would punish him, he went
and the mas to complain. This being proved, Felix was punished for his nfisconduct,
the estate wiser severely reprimanded for taking improper liberties with the women on
Tecomme “ed ich it was evident he had done; and Dr. Broer was thercfcre stronglynded to discharge him from his employ.
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Berbice, 29th August 1829,

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negresses Aspasia and Catherine, belonging

, to plantation Sandvort, against the Manager of said estate.

Aspasta states, That the manager, on Friday 23d instant, gave her a flogging, because

when Mr. John Cameron went to the estate, she told him thecoffee was bad, and she

could not clean as much as the manager wished her to do: and again, three days after

Mr. Cameron came again, and the whole of the women went to him to lodge a complaint

but he gave them no redress ;; and as soon asMr. Cameron was gone, the manager flo eed

her again: For these reasons she came to complain to your Honor, and ask redrégg,

—Catherine states also as above.
{t appeared, om investigationof this complaint that Aspasia had been twice punished

with a'few stripes for not having finished the quantity of-coffee given to her, which was

not by any means more than she could easily have cleaned. Mr. Cameron, the owner of

the estate, on being applied to by Aspasia, made the necessary inquiry into the matter:

and it was by his direction that she was flogged. The complainants were therefore
reprimanded, and sent back to the estate.

Berbice, 3d September 1822,

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Abraham, belonging to plantation
uses Lust.

Abraham states, That Saturday last he was sick, and on that account went to the

doctor. The doctor found. him ‘sick, and ordered him.a dose:of rhubarb. Afterhe had

taken it, the manager came to him and said, “ You are not sick, go to your. work.”

This I refused to do. I was then ordered into the stocks, and on Monday. morning-I was

flogged ; and on this morning | was flogged.again. For these reasons I come to your Honor

for redress. ;
The doctor’s evidence being considered necessary, application was made for it, and the

following certificate was received from him; viz.

Sir, Berbice, Plantation De-Kinderon, gth October 1822.

In compliance with the desire you express, that I should make known to you all the cit-

cuistances.which came to my knowledge respecting the punishment and previous state of

health of the negro Abraham, belonging to his Excellency Major-General Murray,-at

present confined in the colony gaol, I have to state that the manager, WilliamJohnston,

sent the negro above mentioned to be examined by me previous to his punishmentonthe

3d of September: J examined and inspected him, but finding no symptoms of disease'which

required his remaining in hospital, 1 told him: he might take a day’s rest then, and retum

tu his ‘work. the next day; at the sametime directing the hospitalnurse to give him'four

grains of rhubarb, which was merely orderedas an unpalatable medicine, todiscourage the

admission ofidlers into the.sick-house. :

_ [have the honour to be, Sir, your-most obedient humble servant,

o-his Honor the Fiscal. (signed) A, Johnston.

On .Abraham’s still refusing to go to. his work on Monday morning, the manager ordered

the driver to give him halfa dozen lashes : this made him exceedingly insolent and abusive;

be was therefore put back into the stocks till next morning, when he received twenty-

five lashes ; which was the cause ofhis coming to the Fiscal to complain. ‘He was told,
i refractory conduct:

he was sent back to the estate, and ordered to go to his work. ,

. Berbice, 4th September 1822.

Examination of a Complaint preferred bythe negro Tobias, belonging to plantation Friends.

Tobias states, That about two months ago he was going from plantation Friends to

plantation Dentichem. On his way thereto he saw in a trench a white bird, which he

supposed wasa flamingo; for which reason he went ‘close to it with a stick. and knocked

it down. As soon as it was dead; he found it was a goose, and he was very sorry he had

killed it; but‘he could not help being mistaken. Some negrocs came up to him, tied him

and carried him to the manager. The manager put him into the stocks; and he waskept

there near two months, with an allowance of four plantains and a bottle of waterper day;

which was given to him every evening at six o’clock: he was one day in the stocks with

fever, and asked for some water, which was refused him; he was therefore under the

necessity of drinking his own urine; and if he had not made his escape he would have been’

in the stocks until now, and God knows how long he would havebeen kept in.

. Berbice, 18th September 1822-.

On an investigation of the witnesses John and Adonis, John states, That about five oF

six weeks ago he was watchman in the yard of Dentichem. About one o’clock in

morning Tobjas came to him and inquired if Adonis was at home: he.answered yes;

old him if he would go to him he mustnotgo through the yard, but round bythe neg'

path; that Tobias bid him good night, and passed towards ihe negro-houses ; that he 897

nothing more ofhim till atiout three o’clock the next morning, when hearing a noise in te

stock-house, ie called out; and Adonis coming out to see what was the matter,met,Tobias

and caught him, and delivered him over to John; who carried him to Mr. Boas, 1?

overseer
A lo is
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Adoiiis says, that about three o’clock, having occasion to come out of his house for a
necessary purpose, he heard the watchman calling out; and on going to see what was the

ater he met a man covered with mud near the fowl-house, whom he immediately recog-

™ d to be Tobias. On his begging him, Adonis, not'to lay hold of him, he however did

ee and delivered him. over to the watchman: he was quite naked. Next morning his hat

and clothes were found on a bench.at the fowl-house, along with. a dead goose, which it
aet posed.he must have killed. The only punishment Tobias received. for this offence

was Pweek’s.confinement in. the stocks; but some time after he was released, it was dis-
covered:that he was practising obeah on the estate; and he was therefore again confined,
when he broke out of the stocks and came to. complain.

The attorney, manager, and overseer all positively deny that Tobias ever had fever during

his confinement, or that he'was ever refused water when he asked for it. Being a very:bad

character, and disliked:by all the other negroes-on the estate, he was sold at public vendue,
and not allowed to return to the plantation.

Berbice, 14th October 1822.
Examination of'a Complaint preferred by the negro woman Saély, belonging to plantation

“Sandvoort.

Sally states, That on Sunday morning the 13th instant she was ordered by-the manager of
the above estate to go and wash coffee with some children, which she refused to do.. On her
refusal the manager immediately called four negro men, and had her flogged in the presence
of the overseers of plantation Lochaber and plantation Goodbaranerland: their names she
does not know, nor the names of the four negroes; but the driver’s name was. Nicolas.

This is to certify, that the woman Sally, attached to plantation Sandvoort, did refuse to
wash coffee on Sunday, when there was 3,000 lbs. of coffee inthe house liable to be injured
by lying without washing; and that she also gave imsolence to the manager and driver,

(signed) Robert Davies.
Charles Hewitt, Manager.

‘Onits being proved that the coffee wouldhave been injured if it was not washed that
morniag, Sally was informed she ought to have complied with the order, and reprimanded.
for not. doing so; and the manager.was.told,.thad if it ever could be proved in future that he.
punished one of the negroes under his charge on a Sunday, he would, be prosecuted before
the honourable court of Criminal Justice.

/ . Berbice, 22d October 1822.
Examination of a Complaint.preferred by the negroes Ferdinand, Christopelle, Affamy and

. Carroll belonging to plantation Bloomhoeff.

Ferdinand states, he is employed in.cutting mannicoles, and that his. master gave him
the task to cut 250ina day, to-be-cleaned.andbrought to.the water-side ; that he has to.go
far in the bush to cut these mannicoles, and that from morning till night he cannot do more
than cut them, and it is dark when he has done, therefore could not bring them out to the
water-side; for which reason his master put him in the stocks last Friday evening, and kept
him there in order to flog him on Monday morning; but ‘he and the other three negroes
made their escape on Sunday evening out of the stocks, and came to your Honor to. seek
redress.—The negroes Christopelle, Affamy and Carroll state as above.
The Acting Fiscal having ascertained that to cut and. carry to the bank of the river

#30 wannicoles was an ordinary day’s work for a man, and the usual task given on all the.
estates in the river, ‘and the manager having declared himself ready to make oath that he
had no intention whatever to flog the complainants on Monday-morning, as stated by them,
they were slightly punished, and sent back to the estate, after being reprimanded for
neglecting their duty and breaking out of the stocks to come and complain of the light
punishment inflicted on them by:themanager for their misconduct.

. Berbice, 22d October 1822.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro woman Harriet, the property of

plantation Port Mourant. ,
Harriet states, That on Friday last the manager of the estate found one of his, glasses

broken: he called a boy named ‘Cuffy, and ordered him to bring all the plates, glasses,
knives, forks and spoons to be examined, to see if every ‘thing was correct, and sent the.
oy Peter to call me from the kitchen, Upon my coming to the manager, he told me.

‘one of the knives was missing: I answered, “ Master, I -have nothing to. do with the.
Knives ; Tdo not clean them; ask Jessie and Peter.” He answered, “ You must find
theknife :” T answered, “ Master, I have nothing to. dowith the knives.” Then he. ordered
Me into the stocks, and on Saturday morning I was severely flogged with tamarind sticks:

for which reason I come'to complain, and to seek redress. ,
toq arriet, it appeared from the manager’s statement, was directed to see that the house boy
dut Proper care of'the things in the house; and having in several instances neglected this
5 Y; She was slightly punishedfor it, to convince her she was responsible for them. She
vas theréfore sent back to the estate, and warned tobe more attentive in future.

Examtnatien Berbice, 3d January 1823.
‘mination of a Complaint preferred ‘by the negro. Kiaas, the property of J. V. Mittle-
K holzer, against him.

ounas States, That some time in November last his master ordered the driver, with

476 “r hegroes, to go in the bush tc square wood, and at the same time gave them
' WO
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two bunches of plantains and a little salt fish for each man; with which dllowance
thenegroes remained in the bush about a month, without receiving any other allowance,
Some time after, their master sent into the bush the remainder of the gang to the same
place, along with an overseer, to work there. Now, as the holidayswere approaching
their master came to the place where theywere working,and took away the overseer, with
all the negroes belonging to him ;.and left all the negroes belonging to. plantation Lana,
When Christmas came, the negroes asked the driver if their master ordeved themtogo
home or.not: the driver answered, “ Master did not tell me any thing;” se the negroes
remained in the bush until the holidays were over, without any thing to eat; when. they all

agreed to go home, and went to their master, and asked him what was the reason he kept
them in the bush without any thing to eat, and without giving them their holidays, as he
had given his own negroes. He did not say any thing, but ordered the driver to take the
punt loaded with wood, and come to town. The driver asked him to give him somethi
to eat for the negroes, for they had nothing. Their master answered, “I have nothingto

give them;” and went inhis eorjaal away. For these reasons I come to complain, and

to seek redress. I call upon the driver and twenty other negroes to prove what I say.

On hearing this complaint Mr. Mittleholzer was summoned to attend at the Fiscal’s office,
end to bring with him the driver‘and some of the people who had been squaring wood with

Klaas: From their evidence it appeared, that some time previous to the Christmas holidays,

Mr. Mittleholzer went, to the place where the negroes were working, and finding they had
not. done.as much work as they ought to have done, he gave them all tasks, and told the
driver not to.allow. any ofthem to go home at Christmas, except those who had finished the

tasks assigned to them ; and that he did not send their allowance for them at the regular

time at Christmas, because he expected they would have finished their work, and come

home. Mr. Mittleholzer was told he had acted incorrectly in keeping the negroes in the
woods during the holidays; that if they had neglected their work he should have punished

them in some other way; and if any of them again complained of not receiving their regular
rations he would be fined.

. Berbice, 3d February 1823.

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negress Susan, belonging to plantation
Standvastigheid, against the Owner of said estate.

Susan states, That her mother is an old woman, sickly, and unable to do any thing upon

the estate. Some time ago Mr. .Maurenbrecher bought at vendue the whole family,
‘jicluding the old woman; and that Mr. Maurenbrecher gave away, as a present, the old

woman to @ manager named Mittelholzer, and sent her back to town. That she does not
wish to part with her mother, as she is an old woman, and unable to help herself; for which

reason she comes to your Honor to see if you can make Mr. Maurenbrecher take the old
woman back, or make Mr. Mittelholzer buy her.

Susan’s mother was not given away, as stated by her; but being an elderly woman, and
not fit for plantation work, was hired to Mr. Mittelholzer as a house-servant, her services

not being required in that capacity on the estate. They could see each other frequently,
oe ,

as the residences of Mr. Maurenbrecher and Mr. Mittelholzer were not far distant. This

‘was communicated to Susan, and she was sent back to the estate.

_ Berbice, gth February: 1823.

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negress Rose, belonging to B. A. Sanders,

against her Mistress.

Rose states, That on Friday last a girl named Nelly did break a butter-cup, and put it by:
afterwards hermistress called lier to wash the cups; and as she took the cup to carty it

away; the cup fell-into pieces; then her mistress blamed her for breaking it, and gave her

a good beating, sent her away with the broken cup, and told her not to. return in her yard

without a new cup; and as I am a sickly woman, and have no means to buy a-new cup,
and. am afraid to go home again, I come to your Honor for protection.

Rose reprimanded for complaining without a. cause, and sent back to her mistress.

Berbice, 34 Mareh 1823

Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Maria, Jane, Fanny, Mariannt,

Polly, Bella, Caroline, Betsy and Nancy, belonging to plantation Port Mouraut
against the Manager of said estate.

Jane states, That she belongs.to Port Mourant, and is a field negro,.and is: constantly m
the field from morning before gun-fire, until late in the evening; that the work which the

manager gives her is too much; that she is unable to complete it, although she works

during her breakfast-time. Sometimes she is obliged to work on Sunday to finishthie task
given her during the week; and often has no time to eat, from morning till night; ifthe

row is not finished she is put in the stocks, andkept in. until morning, when she is release?

and sent to her work; sometimes the whole of the women are flogged for the sake of two

or three not finishing their task. Last Friday the driver was flogged on account of his

having allowed the women to come to the house to get breakfast, and they were sent a

back to their work; the manager saying to them, that they had time ‘to eat at. night, aa

not in the day. On Saturday last the manager went to the field, and found that they a
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not finished theirrow, and immediately ordered four women tobeflogged; for which she
"0 ght it very had against those women, which were merely punisbéd for nothing.—The

wher women state the same as Jane, and come to your Honor for redress.
° On investigation of this complaint, it appeared, that although the tasks giventothe

oes of tue estate were not actually more than they could do in a day, yet that. the

a ager was very severe upon them, and too frequently inflicted punishment without
iFeicat cause; he was therefore informed that his conduct would be vigilantly looked

after jn future; and if he continued the same system, the attorney of the estate would be

recommended to discharge him from the management, .

h 5 pecibices 5th March 1823.
tvamination of @ Complaint preferred by the negro Jan Broek belonging to plantation

Examination © * Highbury, agaiast the Manager of said estate, P

Jan Broek, states, That on Tuesday morning qth instant he went to the manager to tepor

himself sick with tooth-ache; the manager began to slap him, and sent him fo the ficld,

where he was able to do very little work; the pain caused him to do very little, and he

went to the manager again, but it was in vain; the manager slapped him again, sent him

away, and told him if he came back he should get a good flogging, and then be putinthe

stocks. When I heard this, I left the estate and came to your Honor to complain, He

calls Frederick, Promiere and Estella to prove what he states.

' The complainant, Jan Broek, apparently a strong healthy young man, was told he would
be punished if he came again to the Fiscal with such a frivolous complaint; and the
manager was informed he ought to have sent for the medical practitioner of the estate to

extract the tooth, instead of treating the man roughly when he went to complain of the
pain, ;

Berbice, 26th March 1823,.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Kees, the property of plantation

Highbury.

Kees states, That he is a field negro, and always did his work the same as the rest when in
good health; but having been about a year sick he is not able to do any hard work, and
the manager of the estate compels him to do work which he is utterly unable to do;
he therefore comes to your Honor for redress.
Kees was sent back to the estate, and the manager was recommended to give him lighter

work in future, till he got stronger.

Berbice, 27th March 1823.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Ness, the property of plantation

Port Mourant.

Ness states, That he is the driver over the women, and the manager asked him-last
Sunday why he did not go to work, and he answered that he had not been ordered to do
20, rhe would have gone to work, as he did not wish to do any thing without the
manager’s order,’ The manager then offered to flog him; but he made his escape, and
eame to your Honor for redress.

The complainant in this instance waspunished by the Acting Fiscal for having left the
estate and come to town to complain without any cause, and when he knewhe had been
guilty of disobedience of orders and neglect of duty; and the manager was warned of the
impropriety and illegality of working the negroes on Sunday.

Berbice, 22d April 1823.
Examination of a Complaint preferred: by the negress Catherine the property of
William Reynolds, and attached to a task-gang whereof Mr. M‘Dermot is manager,
working at plantation Sandvoort.

Catherine states, That on Monday morning the driver gave them one row each to weed,
to be weeded before eleven o’clock, and then to take another row, which all the gang
finished before (Catherine) her; she was grumbling about not having any thing to eat, and
her master came to her, and.asked what she was grumbling about; she answered, “ Master,
Isay nothing bad; I only say I get nothing to eat, and I cannot get strength to work.”

en her master immediately called the driver, put her down, and gave her a flogging.
he driver flogged her with a whip, and her master with a horse-whip upon her shoulders.
fter she was punished, she was ordered into the stocks in order to be flogged the day

after; but while she was going along with a negro to the place of confinement, she made
“erescape and came to your Honor tor redress.
aon investigation, this complaint was proved to be utterly groundless; the woman was

erefore severely reprimanded, and sent back to plantation Sandvoort.

Examinet; __ Berbice, 24th April 1823.
‘mination of a Complaint preferred by the negro Michael, belonging to plantation

Providence, the property of William Henery.
tchaet states, That about four months ago, a black woman, by name Jenny, belonging

46 Same estate, did-complain to the manager of having lost from hertrunk some money,
, clot.
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cloth. and coral; for which reason the manager,:in.order to discover. the thief, calleday

the carpenters (as the trunk appeared to have been opened with a carpenter’s chisel):-ang

searched the different tools, to see if hercould find out who..did break.openthe-trink,
The manager found inthe possessian of the carpenters a. chisel which the trunk appeared

to-have been, broken open with, and.the manager asked Michael if he knew-any thing of
the robbery ; towhich he answered, No. Then the manager ordered, him. down, and two
drivers were ordered to flog him, and give him one hundred lashes... He.was then put in
the stocks-until he was better, and able to. do his. work. and after that he was constantly
kept in the stocks from five o’clock in the evening until five o’clockinthe ,morning, and

from Satgrday. evening until Monday moming, so on till Eastér Sunday, when the woman
Jenny found‘ stringof corals on the neck of a girl named Peggy: then Jénny brought
this girl to Miss Sally, who took itaway from her immediately. This girl is the manager's
housekeeper, and nothing was said to her. Then the complainant went to the manager to
be indemnified for a punishment he had. received for nothing. The manager told him,
«“ If.you.do not hold your tongue, I will put you.in the stocks.” The complainant now went
to his ownerfor.redress, and was answered by Mr. Henery, “ I-cannat help it: it isnot my
fault; thepunishmentyou had was the manager’s fault.” .So that as he found: he-could get
no. redress:from either master or manager, he came to your Honor for redress.; and he ig
ready to.prove.all he has stated. -
The proprietor and manager of plantation. Providence having been-summoned'to attend

at the Fiscal’s office.to.answer this complaint, they both declared Michael’s statement to bé
grosslyexaggerated. It appeared from the manager’s evidencé, that when the -woman
Jenny informed him of the robbery that had been committed at her house, he inspected the
chest that had been broken open, and discovered. that it was foreed with a carpenter's
chisel; on which he ordered all the carpenters on the estate to bring out their chisels for
examination ; when it was found that Michael’s was evidently the one which had forced the
chest. This, the manager conceived, was sufficient proof of Michael’s guilt; particularly
as he had committed. similar offences before,‘andalmost all the negroes ofthe ‘estatd
believed‘ he was the person who had robbed Jenny. He therefore ordered the driver to
give. him.thirty-nine lashes, the number allowed by law; and-confinedhimevery night-for
a.week in.the-stocks.—The manager was. reprimanded for punishing the negro-on-such
trifling evidence. and.informed, that. if.he really considered him guilty of the robbery he
ought to have sent him to the Fiscal for trial, . There was no proof whatever that the corals
cqund on:Peggy’s.neck were part of.those which had.been stolen from Jenny.

| Berbice, o8th. April 1823.
Examination of.a Complaint: preferred by the negroes Douglas and Banaba, both belonging

toi plantation Lochaber.

Douglasstates, That he is'aman of family : he has a wife and four children : that he made
thd greatest part of ‘the’negro-houses upon the estate; and when the+houses wereall ready,
‘the manager made a distribution ofthe houses among the estate’s gang, and every one got
.a place except: him and his family. He-went to the manager to ask for his house: the
manager told him there-was no house for him, I repeatedly asked fora house, but in vain,
‘Some tinie ago I went to Mr. Cameron to complain, but without effect. . Bouglas lives
withhisfamilyatthewater-side, ard itis some distance from the buildings: he came too
late on Saturday morning to his work, forwhich the manager punished him with fifly
-lashes.-, -He,Douglas, told the manager if he had a house-like the other negroes, he would
always go to work with them ;,but.the manager. said to-him, “ Go and be damned; you shall:
shave no house, and you shall be here to go to your work when the rest are going :” fothis
.T did.notknow what to say, but came to your Honorfor redress.—Banaba states the same’
as Douglas. - no
.- On examination, -it appeared--from. the evidence both of ‘Mr. Cameron, the owner, and
Mr. Jush the manager of the estate, that the buildings on Lochaber were not yet finished;
but that.the, carpenters were getting on as fast as possible with them; and that-although
a number ofthe negro-houses required on the estate have been. finished, yet there ae
gthers. not. yet ready.; but :that. every exertion is making to get them done as.soon 3%
possible. That.Douglas is one of the negroes who have. not yet been provided witha good
house; but the temporary building in.which he lives is not a quarter of a mile fromthe:
other buildings, and therefore.the distance ought not,:to be. made an excuse’ forhis not
attending at his work as. early in the morning as the other people. And with-respect to
his having.received fifty lashes by order of the manager, it was proved to be incorrect, a
he had only once been punished with a few stripes for coming to his work too hie.
—Douglas was ordered back tothe estate, and admonished to. be more attentive to his duty
in future, and the manager was requested to let him have the next negro-house that was
finished.

- ; Berbice, 5th May 1823-
Examination of @ Complaint preferred by the negro Lachlan, belonging to plantation

_ Lachlan states, That-on Sunday last'a dispute took place in the negro-houses of the said.
estate, between a boat-captain called Peter, and a negro named Richard, both belonging to.

the above estate He ‘saw them fighting, and went to prevent them, when the aet ve *
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began to sttike him: he did not strike the captain back, becatse he was'& head than.

The captain ¢arried him to Mr. Baird, and lodged a complaint apainst him, with Mr. Baitd
gold the captain to give him a good beating, and let him see if 1 would strike the captain

pack. The captain began to cuff me about my face, and took hold ‘of my neck ‘and cuffed

me until he was tired, the whole time in presence of Mr. Baird. 1 was ‘ordered into thie
stucks, and was kept there until Monday morning, when I was relétised to go to thy

srork, butImade my escape, and came to your Honor for redress.

This complaint was dismissed after the complainant (a boy) had been severely reprimanded

for his misconduct in striking the poat-captain in the first instance, and. then coming to

complain of his being put in the stocks for having done so.

a, , Berbice, 27th May 1823.
Examination of a Complaint made by the negroes Gran{ and Gert, attached to plantation

Woordsburg, the property of A. H. Bonn.

Grant stetes, That the manager gave:him a trench to dig, two shovels deep. In the

place where he was digging there was an old root whichprevented the shovel from going
go deep: he, however, tried his best to go through but in vain. At last his shovel broke,
and he told the driver; and the driver went to the manager to get a new shovel, which he
gave to Grant on Friday evening. He had no time to grind it, but went to Belle-
yue to borrow one from one of his friends. On Saturday morning I went to work:
when the manager saw the shovel, he said, ‘‘ Grant, where did you get that shovel?”
I told him: the manager said, “ Why did not you grind your shovel, and come
to work with it without going to borrow one from other negroes?” I told the manager
the grind-stone handle was broken, and for that reason I borrowed a shovel, or
otherwise I could. not do his work; and that I would grind my shovel on Sunday if ‘the
grind-stone was mended, The manager gave mea letter to Mr. Frantzen at Bellevue, but
Ithought it was to desire Mr. Frantzen to give me flogging, and instead of going to Bellevue
Icame to your Honor for redress. Grant states the whole men-gang of Woordsburg left
the estate on Sunday to come and complain, but he does not know where they are gone:
he only met the negro Gert, who says the rest went back again.—Gert states the same as
Grant,

On the manager’s observing that the complainant (Grant) was not working with the
shovel he had given him the evening before, he inquired the reason. The complainant-in
the first instance stated, that he had not time to grind his shovel on Friday evening; and
in the next, that the cause of his not grinding it was that the handle of the grind-stone was
broken. The manager therefore, supposing that he had got: the shovel he wasusing dis-
honestly, gave him a letter to the manager of the neighbouring estate, Bellevue, to inquire
ifhe had really borrowed the shovel on that estate; but instead of carrying the letter as
directed, he came to town to complain; and it was proved that he had? after much.
persuasion, induced Gert to accompany him, although he confessed he had ‘not. just
cause of complaint. Both of them were therefore punished, and sent backto the estate..

. Berbice, oytit May 1823.
Examination of a Complaint preferred by the negroes Jaba, Sanco, Catto, Medoc,: Nedand

Isaac, the property of William Reynolds, but employed. by Mr. M‘Dermoitt,

_Medoc states, That they are now working on plantation Lochaber in cutting dowh'a
piece of bush; and after the bush was cut down, the manager gave them a trench tobe
opened, to make a road to come to the estate. The manager found they did not finish
the task given to them: he had them all put in the.stocks,and this morningflogged us all.
He says, they do not know what they call breakfast-time; and what is given themto eat
eyhave no time to eat, except at night; for which reasons they all come to your Honor
for redress,

_ Onhearing this complaint the ActingFiscal wrote to the senior burgher officer ofthedistrict
in which the complainants had been working, requesting him to go to plantation Lochaber
and examine the work done, and the task assigned to each negro; which heaccordingly
did, and reported that the tasks given to the negroes could have been easily finished by
them by three or four o’clock in the afternoon, if they had worked at them as they ought
fo have done; and that their statement, that the manager had flogged them all, was false:
he had only punished two or three of those who had done the least work. They were
sont ee bramanded by the Fiscal, after reading the burgher officer’s report to them; ‘and

Examines; Berbice, 14th June 1823.
Xamination of a Complaint ‘preferred by the negro Toubi, belonging to plantation

Lancaster, the property of John Bond, whereof R. Thompson is manager.

to Toul states, That on Wednesday last he was seized with a pain in his right side. He went
icine Dewe who gave him a dose of tartar emetic and salts, After he had taken his me-
mewhi : Brown made his appearance on the estate, and the manager desired himto visit
in the tch he did. The doctor found me sick, and directed some medicine to be given me
mana mormng. [ went to the manager for the physic the doctor directed ; but the

am S*r, Instead of giving me the medecine, ordered me to go and gin cotton. Ireplied,
adie well enough to gin cotton; upon which the manager got angry with me, sent for

476.” and gave me a good flogging : for which I came to your Honor for redress.
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On examination of this complaint, it appeared from the evidence of both the doctor ang
manager, that although a dose of medicine had been given to Toubi the day he complained
of pain in his side, yet they had no reason to believe he was really sick, and therefore
the manager ordered him to go to his usual work the next morning; which, on Toubis
refusing to do, he directed the driver to flog him to it. The Acting Fiscal reprimanded the
manager for giving the order to the driver, as it was possible Toubi was really sick: and
further directed, that he should be permitted to work in the field for a few days, till he was
able to return to his gin.

 

The above is a true Copy of the ordinary Proceedings of the Fiscal’s Office, Berbice,
from May 1822 to June 1823.

(signed) W. M. Scott,
Late Act® Fiscal,
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